

Slice regular functions in several variables

Riccardo Ghiloni¹ · Alessandro Perotti¹

Received: 24 January 2022 / Accepted: 20 April 2022 / Published online: 23 June 2022 © The Author(s) 2022

Abstract

In this paper, we lay the foundations of the theory of slice regular functions in several (non-commuting) variables ranging in any real alternative *-algebra, including quaternions, octonions and Clifford algebras. This higher dimensional function theory is an extension of the classical theory of holomorphic functions of several complex variables. It is based on the construction of a family of commuting complex structures on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} . One of the relevant aspects of the theory is the validity of a Cauchy-type integral formula and the existence of ordered power series expansions. The theory includes all polynomials and power series with ordered variables and right coefficients in the algebra. We study the real dimension of the zero set of polynomials with Clifford coefficients. In particular, we show that a nonconstant polynomial always has a non empty zero set.

Keywords Slice regular functions · Functions of hypercomplex variables · Cauchy integral formula · Quaternions · Clifford algebras · Octonions · Real alternative algebras

Mathematics Subject Classification 30G35 · 32A30 · 17D05

Contents

1	Introduction	296
	1.1 Preliminaries	297
	1.2 The one variable slice function theory	298
	1.3 Slice regular functions on \mathbb{H}^2	299
2	Slice functions	303
	2.1 Basic definitions	303
	2.2 Representation formulas	307
	2.3 Spherical value and spherical derivatives	309
	2.4 Smoothness	314
	2.5 Multiplicative structures on slice functions and polynomials	318
	2.6 \mathbb{C}_J -slice preserving, slice preserving and circular functions	322

 Alessandro Perotti alessandro.perotti@unitn.it
 Riccardo Ghiloni riccardo.ghiloni@unitn.it

¹ Department of Mathematics, University of Trento, Via Sommarive, 14, Trento I-38123, Italy

3	Slice regular functions	325
	3.1 Complex structures on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$	325
	3.2 Holomorphic stem functions, slice regular functions and polynomials	329
	3.3 On the zeros of polynomials	332
	3.4 One variable interpretation of slice regularity	335
	3.5 Leibniz's rule	337
	3.6 Multiplication of slice regular functions	338
	3.7 Splitting decomposition of slice regular functions	340
	3.8 Convergent power series, slice tensor and star products	341
	3.9 Slice regular functions and ordered analyticity	344
	3.10Cauchy integral formula for slice regular functions	345
R	eferences	350

1 Introduction

The theory of slice regular functions of one variable in a real alternative *-algebra is now well developed. It was introduced firstly for functions of one quaternionic variable by Gentili and Struppa in [5, 6] and then extended to octonions in [7] and to Clifford algebras in [2]. In [8, 9], a new approach to slice regularity, based on the concept of stem function, allowed to extend the theory to any real alternative *-algebra A of finite dimension.

The original definition [5, 6] of slice regularity for a quaternion-valued function f, defined on an open domain Ω of the algebra \mathbb{H} of quaternions, requires that, for every imaginary unit $J \in \mathbb{H}$, the restriction of f to the complex line generated by J is holomorphic with respect to the complex structure defined by left multiplication by J. The approach taken in [8, 9] allows to embed the class of slice regular functions on an axially symmetric domain into a larger class, that of slice functions, on which no holomorphicity condition is assumed. We refer to the monograph [4] for a survey of slice analysis in one quaternionic variable and to the papers [13–15] for a recent account of the theory on real alternative *-algebras.

In the present paper we propose a generalization of slice analysis to several variables in a real alternative *-algebra A. Our function theory includes, in particular, the class of polynomials in several (ordered) variables with right coefficients in A. Our approach is based on the concept of stem functions of several variables and on the introduction of a family of commuting complex structures on the real vector space \mathbb{R}^{2^n} . For $A = \mathbb{H}$, several variables have been investigated also by Colombo, Sabadini and Struppa [1]. Their approach via stem functions is similar to ours, but the definition of regularity is different, as we will see in Sect. 3. For $A = \mathbb{O}$, the algebra of octonions, a slice functions theory of several variables has been proposed by Ren and Yang [21]. The major difference with our theory is that the authors define slice functions on a class of non-open subsets of the space \mathbb{O}^n , where the octonionic variables associate and commute. In [21] the authors state as challenging the possibility to establish the theory on open subsets of \mathbb{O}^n . For $A = \mathbb{C}$, as one may expect, the slice function theory in *n* variables reduces to the classic theory of several complex variables on domains *D* of \mathbb{C}^n , with the unique restriction that *D* must be assumed invariant with respect to complex conjugation in every variable z_1, \ldots, z_n .

Some of the results proved here were presented in [10] for the case $A = \mathbb{R}_m$, the real Clifford algebra of signature (0, m), and in [11] for the general case of real alternative *-algebras. See also [23] for a review of quaternionic and Clifford Analysis in several variables.

We describe the structure of the paper. In the Introduction we give some preliminaries and recall the main definitions of the one variable slice function theory. Then we present without proofs the principal results in two quaternionic variables, where the exposition is simpler

but sufficiently representative of the theory, at least for the associative case. In Sect. 2, we introduce the *stem functions* of several variables in A and define the induced *slice functions*. We prove a representation formula and the identity principle. We generalize to n variables the concepts of *spherical value* and *spherical derivatives* and give the relation between sliceness in *n* variables and sliceness in one variable. We then prove the smoothness properties of slice functions. We study also the multiplicative structures on slice functions induced by pointwise products of stem functions, and we investigate some special real subalgebras of slice functions. Section 3 is dedicated to slice regularity. After giving the definition of a family of commuting complex structures on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, the concept of *slice regular function* of several variables is introduced. All polynomials (with ordered monomials) turn out to be slice regular functions. We study the real dimension of the zero set of polynomials in the quaternionic and octonionic cases and give some results about the zero set of polynomials with Clifford coefficients. In particular, we prove that these zero sets are nonempty for nonconstant polynomials. We show that slice regularity in several variables has an interpretation, by means of the spherical value and spherical derivatives, in terms of slice regularity in one variable. We investigate Leibniz's rule and we prove the stability of slice regularity under the so-called slice tensor product of slice functions. We show the relation between slice regularity and expansions in (ordered) power series on products of open balls in A centered in the origin. Finally, we define a *slice Cauchy kernel* associated to any given slice regular function, and obtain a Cauchy integral formula. In the associative case, we are able to define a universal slice Cauchy kernel, and express it in terms of pointwise operations in A.

1.1 Preliminaries

Let *A* be a *real algebra with unity* $1 \neq 0$. Assume that *A* is *alternative*, i.e. $x^2y = x(xy)$ and $(yx)x = yx^2$ for all $x, y \in A$. A theorem of E. Artin asserts that the subalgebra generated by any two elements of *A* is associative. The real multiples of 1 in *A* are identified with the field \mathbb{R} of real numbers. Assume that *A* is a *-algebra, i.e., it is equipped with a real linear anti-involution $A \to A, x \mapsto x^c$, such that $(xy)^c = y^c x^c$ for all $x, y \in A$ and $x^c = x$ for x real. Let $t(x) := x + x^c \in A$ be the *trace* of x and $n(x) := xx^c \in A$ the *(squared) norm* of x. Let

$$\mathbb{S}_A := \{J \in A : t(x) = 0, n(x) = 1\}$$

be the 'sphere' of the imaginary units of *A* compatible with the *-algebra structure of *A*. Assuming $\mathbb{S}_A \neq \emptyset$, one can consider the *quadratic cone* of *A*, defined as the subset of *A*

$$Q_A := \bigcup_{J \in \mathbb{S}_A} \mathbb{C}_J,$$

where $\mathbb{C}_J = \langle 1, J \rangle$ is the complex 'slice' of *A* generated by 1, *J* as a vector subspace or, equivalently, by *J* as a subalgebra. It holds $\mathbb{C}_J \cap \mathbb{C}_K = \mathbb{R}$ for each *J*, $K \in \mathbb{S}_A$ with $J \neq \pm K$. The quadratic cone is a real cone invariant w.r.t. translations along the real axis. Observe that *t* and *n* are real-valued on Q_A and that $Q_A = A$ if and only if *A* is isomorphic as a real *-algebra to one of the division algebras \mathbb{C} , \mathbb{H} , \mathbb{O} with the standard conjugations (see [9, Proposition 1]). Moreover, it holds

$$Q_A = \mathbb{R} \cup \{x \in A \setminus \mathbb{R} : t(x) \in \mathbb{R}, n(x) \in \mathbb{R}, 4n(x) > t(x)^2\}.$$

Deringer

Each element x of Q_A can be written as $x = \operatorname{Re}(x) + \operatorname{Im}(x)$, with $\operatorname{Re}(x) = \frac{x+x^c}{2}$, $\operatorname{Im}(x) = \frac{x-x^c}{2} = \beta J$, where $\beta = \sqrt{n(\operatorname{Im}(x))} \ge 0$ and $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$. The choice of $\beta \ge 0$ and $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$ is unique if $x \notin \mathbb{R}$.

We refer to [9, §2] and [13, §1] for more details and examples about real alternative *-algebras and their quadratic cones.

1.2 The one variable slice function theory

The *slice functions* on *A* are the functions which are compatible with the slice character of the quadratic cone. More precisely, let *D* be a subset of \mathbb{C} that is invariant w.r.t. complex conjugation. Let $A \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ be the complexified algebra, whose elements *w* are of the form w = a + ib with $a, b \in A$ and $i^2 = -1$. In $A \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ we consider the complex conjugation mapping w = a + ib to $\overline{w} = a - ib$ for all $a, b \in A$. If a function $F : D \to A \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ satisfies $F(\overline{z}) = \overline{F(z)}$ for every $z \in D$, then *F* is called a *stem function* on *D*. For every $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$, we define the real *-algebra isomorphism $\phi_J : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}_J$ by setting

$$\phi_J(\alpha + i\beta) := \alpha + J\beta \text{ for all } \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}.$$
 (1)

Let Ω_D be the *circular* subset of the quadratic cone defined by

$$\Omega_D = \bigcup_{J \in \mathbb{S}_A} \phi_J(D) = \{ \alpha + J\beta \in A : \alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}, \alpha + i\beta \in D, J \in \mathbb{S}_A \}.$$

The stem function $F = F_1 + iF_2 : D \to A \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$ induces the *(left) slice function* $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to A$ in the following way: if $x = \alpha + J\beta = \phi_J(z) \in \Omega_D \cap \mathbb{C}_J$, then

$$f(x) = F_1(z) + JF_2(z),$$

where $z = \alpha + i\beta$.

Suppose that *D* is open. Left multiplication by *i* defines a complex structure on $A \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C}$. The slice function $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to A$ is called *(left) slice regular* if *F* is holomorphic. For example, polynomial functions $f(x) = \sum_{j=0}^{d} x^j a_j$ with right coefficients belonging to *A* are slice regular on the quadratic cone.

To any slice function $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to A$, one can associate the function $f_s^\circ : \Omega_D \to A$, called *spherical value* of f, and the function $f'_s : \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R} \to A$, called *spherical derivative* of f, defined as

$$f_s^{\circ}(x) := \frac{1}{2}(f(x) + f(x^c))$$
 and $f_s'(x) := \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{Im}(x)^{-1}(f(x) - f(x^c)).$

If $x = \alpha + \beta J \in \Omega_D$ and $z = \alpha + i\beta \in D$, then $f_s^{\circ}(x) = F_1(z)$ and $f_s'(x) = \beta^{-1}F_2(z)$. Therefore f_s° and f_s' are slice functions, constant on every set $\mathbb{S}_x := \alpha + \beta \mathbb{S}_A$. They are slice regular only if f is locally constant. Moreover, the formula

$$f(x) = f_s^{\circ}(x) + \operatorname{Im}(x)f_s'(x)$$

holds for all $x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}$. As we will see later, the concepts of spherical value and spherical derivative in one variable will have a central role to get a characterization of slice regularity in several variables in terms of separate one variable regularity.

We refer the reader to [9, §§3,4] for more properties of slice functions and slice regularity in one variable.

1.3 Slice regular functions on \mathbb{H}^2

Before presenting the full theory in the general case of n variables in a real alternative *algebra A, in this subsection we summarize the main results in the simpler case of two quaternionic variables. We refer to the following sections for full proofs.

Slice functions on \mathbb{H}^2

Let *D* be a non-empty subset of \mathbb{C}^2 , invariant w.r.t. complex conjugation in each variable z_1, z_2 . Let Ω_D be the *circular* open subset of \mathbb{H}^2 associated to $D \subset \mathbb{C}^2$, defined as

$$\Omega_D := \{ (\alpha_1 + J_1 \beta_1, \alpha_2 + J_2 \beta_2) \in \mathbb{H}^2 : J_1, J_2 \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{H}}, (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \alpha_2 + i\beta_2) \in D \}.$$

Let $\{e_{\emptyset}, e_1, e_2, e_{12}\}$ denote a fixed (real vector) basis of \mathbb{R}^4 . If $\mathcal{P}(2)$ denotes the set of all subsets of $\{1, 2\}$, we can write any element *x* of the real vector space $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ as $x = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(2)} e_K a_K$, where each a_K belongs to \mathbb{H} , and $e_{\{1\}} = e_1, e_{\{2\}} = e_2$ and $e_{\{1,2\}} = e_{12}$.

Definition 1.1 A function $F : D \to \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$, with $F = e_{\emptyset}F_{\emptyset} + e_1F_1 + e_2F_2 + e_{12}F_{12}$ and $F_K : D \to \mathbb{H}$ for each $K \in \mathcal{P}(2)$, is called a *stem function* if the components F_{\emptyset} , F_1 , F_2 , F_{12} are, respectively, even-even, odd-even, even-odd, odd-odd w.r.t. the pair (β_1, β_2) , where $z_1 = \alpha_1 + i\beta_1$ and $z_2 = \alpha_2 + i\beta_2$ with $\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \beta_1, \beta_2 \in \mathbb{R}$. The *(left) slice function* $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ induced by F is the function obtained by setting, for each $x = (x_1, x_2) = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \alpha_2 + J_2\beta_2)$,

$$f(x) := F_{\emptyset}(z_1, z_2) + J_1 F_1(z_1, z_2) + J_2 F_2(z_1, z_2) + J_1 J_2 F_{12}(z_1, z_2)$$

where $(z_1, z_2) = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \alpha_2 + i\beta_2) \in D$.

Representation formula on \mathbb{H}^2

The values of a slice function can be recovered by its values on a four-dimensional slice of Ω_D . Let a^c denote the conjugate of a quaternion $a \in \mathbb{H}$.

Proposition 1.2 Let $f : \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ be a slice function and let $y = (y_1, y_2) = (\alpha_1 + I_1\beta_1, \alpha_2 + I_2\beta_2) \in \Omega_D$. Then for every $x = (x_1, x_2) = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \alpha_2 + J_2\beta_2) \in \Omega_D$ it holds:

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{4} \left(f(y_1, y_2) + f(y_1^c, y_2) + f(y_1, y_2^c) + f(y_1^c, y_2^c) \right. \\ \left. + J_1 I_1 \left(-f(y_1, y_2) + f(y_1^c, y_2) - f(y_1, y_2^c) + f(y_1^c, y_2^c) \right) \right. \\ \left. + J_2 I_2 \left(-f(y_1, y_2) - f(y_1^c, y_2) + f(y_1, y_2^c) + f(y_1^c, y_2^c) \right) \right. \\ \left. + J_1 J_2 I_2 I_1 \left(f(y_1, y_2) - f(y_1^c, y_2) - f(y_1, y_2^c) + f(y_1^c, y_2^c) \right) \right).$$

Corollary 1.3 (Identity principle) Let $f, g : \Omega_D \to A$ be slice functions and let $I_1, I_2 \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{H}}$ such that f = g on $\Omega_D \cap (\mathbb{C}_{I_1} \times \mathbb{C}_{I_2})$. Then f = g on the whole Ω_D .

Smoothness

Suppose that *D* is open in \mathbb{C}^2 .

Proposition 1.4 For every slice function $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$, it holds:

(i) If F is continuous on D, then f is continuous on Ω_D.
(ii) Let k ∈ N \ {0}. If F is of class C^{4k+3} on D, then f is of class C^k on Ω_D.
(iii) Let k ∈ {∞, ω}. If F is of class C^k on D, then f is of class C^k on Ω_D.

Multiplicative structure on slice functions

Every product on $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ induces a product on stem functions, and hence a structure of real algebra on the set of slice functions. We consider the product on $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ constructed as follows. First, we equip \mathbb{R}^4 with the unique (commutative and associative) multiplicative structure which makes the real linear isomorphism $\mathbb{R}^4 \to \mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{C}$, sending e_{\emptyset} to the unity $1 = 1 \otimes 1$, e_1 to $i \otimes 1$, e_2 to $1 \otimes i$ and e_{12} to $i \otimes i$, a real algebra isomorphism. In other words, $e_{\emptyset} = 1$ is the unity of \mathbb{R}^4 , $e_1^2 = e_2^2 = -1$ and $e_1e_2 = e_2e_1 = e_{12}$. Then, we extend this product to $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ by setting $(a \otimes v) \cdot (b \otimes w) = (ab) \otimes (vw)$ for all $a, b \in \mathbb{H}$ and $v, w \in \mathbb{R}^4$. In this way, we can identify the real algebra $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ with $\mathbb{H} \otimes (\mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{C})$.

Definition 1.5 Let $f, g: \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ be slice functions with $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$ and $g = \mathcal{I}(G)$. We define the *(tensor) slice product* $f \cdot g: \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ of f and g by $f \cdot g := \mathcal{I}(FG)$, where FG is the pointwise product defined by (FG)(z) = F(z)G(z) in $\mathbb{H} \otimes (\mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{C})$ for all $z \in D$. \Box

For example, the slice product of the coordinate functions $x_1 : \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}$ and $x_2 : \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}$, with $x_h = \alpha_h + J_h \beta_h = \mathcal{I}(\alpha_h + e_h \beta_h)$ for h = 1, 2, is the slice function $x_1 \cdot x_2 : \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}$ given by

$$x_1 \cdot x_2 = \mathcal{I}((\alpha_1 + e_1\beta_1)(\alpha_2 + e_2\beta_2)) = \mathcal{I}(\alpha_1\alpha_2 + e_1\alpha_2\beta_1 + e_2\alpha_1\beta_2 + e_{12}\beta_1\beta_2)$$

= $\alpha_1\alpha_2 + J_1\alpha_2\beta_1 + J_2\alpha_1\beta_2 + J_1J_2\beta_1\beta_2.$

In this case, the slice product $x_1 \cdot x_2$ coincides with the pointwise product x_1x_2 . Moreover, $x_1 \cdot x_2 = x_2 \cdot x_1$. In general, if $a, b \in \mathbb{H}$, the slice product of $x_1a = \mathcal{I}(\alpha_1a + e_1(\beta_1a))$ and $x_2b = \mathcal{I}(\alpha_2b + e_2(\beta_2b))$ is the slice function $(x_1a) \cdot (x_2b) = x_1x_2ab$, while $(x_2b) \cdot (x_1a) = x_1x_2ba$. Note that the pointwise product x_2x_1 is not even a slice function, see Remark 2.14.

The isomorphism from the real algebra of stem functions $F : D \to \mathbb{H} \otimes (\mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{C})$ with the pointwise product to the real algebra of slice functions $f : \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ with the slice product can be expressed by the commutativity of the following diagrams for all $J_1, J_2 \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{H}}$:



Here $\phi_{J_1} \times \phi_{J_2}$: $D \to \Omega_D$ denotes the product map $(\phi_{J_1} \times \phi_{J_2})(z_1, z_2) := (\phi_{J_1}(z_1), \phi_{J_2}(z_2))$, where ϕ_J is the map defined in (1), and Φ_{J_1,J_2} : $\mathbb{H} \otimes (\mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{C}) \to \mathbb{H}$ is the real linear map defined by $\Phi_{J_1,J_2}(a \otimes (z_1 \otimes z_2)) := \phi_{J_1}(z_1)\phi_{J_2}(z_2)a$ for all $a \in \mathbb{H}$ and $z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{C}$.

Slice regular functions

Let \mathcal{J}_1 and \mathcal{J}_2 be the commuting complex structures on $\mathbb{R}^4 \simeq \mathbb{C} \otimes \mathbb{C}$ induced, respectively, by the standard structures of the two copies of \mathbb{C} . Explicitly, $\mathcal{J}_h(e_h) = -1$ for h = 1, 2and $\mathcal{J}_1(e_2) = \mathcal{J}_2(e_1) = e_{12}$. We extend these structures to $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ by setting $\mathcal{J}_h(a \otimes v) = a \otimes \mathcal{J}_h(v)$ for all $a \in \mathbb{H}$ and $v \in \mathbb{R}^4$.

Throughout the remaining part of this section, we assume that D is open in \mathbb{C}^2 .

Definition 1.6 Let $F : D \to \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ be a stem function of class \mathscr{C}^1 . For each h = 1, 2, we denote ∂_h and $\overline{\partial}_h$ the *Cauchy-Riemann operators* w.r.t. the complex structures *i* on *D* and \mathcal{J}_h on $\mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$, i.e.

$$\partial_h F = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \alpha_h} - \mathcal{J}_h \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \beta_h} \right) \right) \text{ and } \overline{\partial}_h F = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \alpha_h} + \mathcal{J}_h \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \beta_h} \right) \right),$$

where $\alpha_h + i\beta_h : D \to \mathbb{C}$ is the *h*th-coordinate function of *D*. Let $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ and let h = 1, 2. We define the *slice partial derivatives* of *f* as the following slice functions on Ω_D :

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h} := \mathcal{I}(\partial_h F) \text{ and } \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h^c} := \mathcal{I}(\overline{\partial}_h F).$$

We denote $\mathcal{S}^1(\Omega_D, \mathbb{H})$ the set of all slice functions induced by stem functions of class \mathscr{C}^1 .

Proposition 1.7 (Leibniz's rule) For each slice functions $f, g \in S^1(\Omega_D, \mathbb{H})$ and h = 1, 2, it holds:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_h}(f \cdot g) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h} \cdot g + f \cdot \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_h},\\ \frac{\partial}{\partial x_h^c}(f \cdot g) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h^c} \cdot g + f \cdot \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_h^c}.$$

Definition 1.8 Let $F : D \to \mathbb{H} \otimes \mathbb{R}^4$ be a stem function of class \mathscr{C}^1 and let $f = \mathcal{I}(F) :$ $\Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ be the induced slice function. *F* is called *holomorphic* if $\overline{\partial}_1 F = \overline{\partial}_2 F = 0$ on *D*. If *F* is holomorphic, then we say that $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$ is a *slice regular function*.

Thanks to Proposition 1.4, every slice regular function is real analytic on Ω_D .

Example 1.9 All polynomial functions $f : \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}$ of the form $f(x) = \sum_{(\ell_1, \ell_2) \in L} x_1^{\ell_1} x_2^{\ell_2} a_{\ell_1, \ell_2}$, for some finite subset L of \mathbb{N}^2 and $a_{\ell_1, \ell_2} \in \mathbb{H}$, are slice regular. More generally, the sum of a convergent power series $\sum_{(\ell_1, \ell_2) \in \mathbb{N}^2} x_1^{\ell_1} x_2^{\ell_2} a_{\ell_1, \ell_2}$ is slice regular on a product of two open balls of \mathbb{H} centered at the origin.

For each $J \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{H}}$ and for each slice function $f : \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$, we define $\Omega_D(J) := \Omega_D \cap (\mathbb{C}_J \times \mathbb{C}_J)$ and we denote $f_J : \Omega_D(J) \to \mathbb{H}$ the restriction of f to $\Omega_D(J)$.

Proposition 1.10 Let $f \in S^1(\Omega_D, \mathbb{H})$. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) f is slice regular. ∂f
- (ii) $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_{L}^{c}} = 0$ on Ω_{D} for h = 1, 2.

(iii) There exists $J \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{H}}$ such that $f_J : \Omega_D(J) \to \mathbb{H}$ is holomorphic w.r.t. the complex structures on $\Omega_D(J)$ and on \mathbb{H} defined by the left multiplication by J; that is,

$$\frac{\partial f_J}{\partial \alpha_h}(z) + J \frac{\partial f_J}{\partial \beta_h}(z) = 0 \text{ for all } z \in \Omega_D(J) \text{ and for all } h = 1, 2,$$
(2)

where $z = (\alpha_1 + J\beta_1, \alpha_2 + J\beta_2) \in \mathbb{C}_J \times \mathbb{C}_J$. (iv) For each $J \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{H}}$, f_J is holomorphic in the sense of (2). (v) f is slice regular w.r.t. x_1 , and the spherical value and spherical derivative of f w.r.t. x_1 are slice regular w.r.t. x_2 .

As a simple illustration of condition (v), consider the polynomial $f(x_1, x_2) = x_1x_2$. For every fixed $x_2 \in \mathbb{H}$, $g(x_1) := f(x_1, x_2) = x_1x_2$ is slice regular w.r.t. the variable x_1 . Moreover, the spherical value $g_s^{\circ}(x_1) = x_2 \operatorname{Re}(x_1)$ and the spherical derivative $g_s'(x_1) = x_2$ of g w.r.t. x_1 are slice regular w.r.t. the variable x_2 for every fixed $x_1 \in \mathbb{H}$.

Proposition 1.11 The zero set of any nonconstant polynomial function $f : \mathbb{H}^2 \to \mathbb{H}$ is a nonempty real algebraic subset of $\mathbb{R}^8 = \mathbb{H}^2$, whose real dimension can assume precisely the three values 4, 5 and 6.

Leibniz's rule (Proposition 1.7) and Proposition 1.10 imply that the slice product preserves slice regularity. In particular, every slice product $f(x) = f_1(x_1) \cdot f_2(x_2)$, with $f_h(x_h)$ slice regular w.r.t. the variable x_h for h = 1, 2, is slice regular.

Since the complex structures \mathcal{J}_1 and \mathcal{J}_2 commute, every pair of Cauchy-Riemann operators commute. In particular, for every slice regular function f, also the slice partial derivatives $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_1}$ and $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_2}$ are slice regular.

Cauchy integral formula for slice regular functions

Let $J \in \mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{H}}$ be fixed. Recall that $\phi_J : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}_J$ denotes the real *-algebra isomorphism $\phi_J(\alpha + i\beta) := \alpha + J\beta$. Let E'_1 and E'_2 be bounded non-empty open subsets of \mathbb{C} invariant under complex conjugation and with boundaries of class \mathscr{C}^1 . Define $E_h := \phi_J(E'_h)$ for $h = 1, 2, \text{ and } E := E_1 \times E_2 \subset \mathbb{C}_J \times \mathbb{C}_J$ with distinguished boundary $\partial^* E := (\partial E_1) \times (\partial E_2)$. Let $\Omega(E) = \Omega_{E'_1 \times E'_2}$ be the circular open subset of \mathbb{H}^2 such that $\Omega(E) \cap (\mathbb{C}_J \times \mathbb{C}_J) = E$.

Definition 1.12 We define the *slice Cauchy kernel for E* as the function $C : \Omega(E) \times \partial^* E \to \mathbb{H}$ given by

$$C(x, y) := C_{\mathbb{H}}(x_1, y_1) \cdot_x C_{\mathbb{H}}(x_2, y_2)$$

where each $C_{\mathbb{H}}(x_h, y_h) = (y_h - x_h)^{-\bullet} = \Delta_{y_h}(x_h)^{-1}(y_h^c - x_h) = (x_h^2 - x_h t(y_h) + n(y_h))^{-1}(y_h^c - x_h)$ is the usual slice Cauchy kernel in one quaternionic variable, and the slice product \cdot_x is performed w.r.t. $x = (x_1, x_2) \in \Omega(E)$ for each $y = (y_1, y_2) \in \partial^* E$. \Box

It is worth noting that $C(\cdot, y)$ is slice regular on $\Omega(E)$ for each fixed $y \in \partial^* E$.

For h = 1, 2, let $\xi_h : T_h \to \partial E_h$ be piecewise \mathscr{C}^1 parametrizations of ∂E_h and let $T := T_1 \times T_2$. Given two continuous functions $p, q : \partial^* E \to \mathbb{H}$, we define

$$\int_{\partial^* E} p(y) \, dy \, q(y) := \int_T p(\xi_1(t_1), \xi_2(t_2)) \, \dot{\xi}_1(t_1) \, \dot{\xi}_2(t_2) \, q(\xi_1(t_1), \xi_2(t_2)) \, dt_1 dt_2,$$

where $\dot{\xi}_h : T_h \to \mathbb{H}$ denotes the a.e. defined derivatives of ξ_h .

Theorem 1.13 Let $f : \Omega_D \to \mathbb{H}$ be a slice regular function. Suppose that the closure of $\Omega(E)$ in \mathbb{H}^2 is contained in Ω_D . Then

$$f(x) = (2\pi)^{-2} \int_{\partial^* E} C(x, y) J^{-2} dy f(y) \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega(E),$$

and the slice Cauchy kernel C can be expressed in terms of pointwise operations as follows:

$$C(x, y) = \Delta_{y_1}(x_1)^{-1} x_1 \Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} x_2 - \Delta_{y_1}(x_1)^{-1} \Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} x_2 y_1^c + \Delta_{y_1}(x_1)^{-1} x_1 \Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} y_2^c + \Delta_{y_1}(x_1)^{-1} \Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} y_1^c y_2^c$$

🖉 Springer

$$= \Delta_{y_1}(x_1)^{-1} \left(x_1 \Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} x_2 - \Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} x_2 y_1^c - x_1 \Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} y_2^c \right)$$

+ $\Delta_{y_2}(x_2)^{-1} y_1^c y_2^c$

for all $(x, y) \in \Omega(E) \times \partial^* E$.

2 Slice functions

2.1 Basic definitions

If *S* is a set, then we denote |S| the cardinality of *S* and $\mathcal{P}(S)$ the set of all subsets of *S*. Let \mathbb{N} be the set of all non-negative integers and let $\mathbb{N}^* := \mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}$. For simplicity, given any $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we use the symbol $\mathcal{P}(n)$ instead of $\mathcal{P}(\{1, \ldots, n\})$. Given $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ and $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, we define

$$\overline{z}^h := (z_1, \ldots, z_{h-1}, \overline{z_h}, z_{h+1}, \ldots, z_n),$$

where $\overline{z_h}$ denotes the usual conjugation of the complex number z_h . Given a subset D of \mathbb{C}^n , we say that D is invariant under complex conjugations if $\overline{z}^h \in D$ for all $z \in D$ and for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

Assumption 2.1 Throughout the paper, A is a real alternative algebra of finite dimension with unity $1 \neq 0$, which we equip with its natural Euclidean topology and structure of real analytic manifold, as a finite dimensional real vector space.

We denote *n* a positive integer and $\{e_K\}_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)}$ a fixed basis of the real vector space \mathbb{R}^{2^n} . We identify \mathbb{R} with a real vector subspace of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} via the real linear embedding sending $1 \in \mathbb{R}$ into $e_{\emptyset} \in \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, and we write $e_{\emptyset} = 1$. For simplicity, we set $e_k := e_{\{k\}}$ for all $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. We assume that $\mathbb{S}_A \neq \emptyset$.

We also assume that D is a non-empty subset of \mathbb{C}^n invariant under complex conjugations.

Consider the (real) tensor product $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$. Each element *x* of $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ can be uniquely written as $x = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K a_K$ with $a_K \in A$. In particular, we can identify each element *a* of *A* with the element $e_{\emptyset}a = 1a$ of $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, and we write a = 1a. As a consequence, *A* turns out to be a real vector subspace of $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$. Note that, given any function $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, there exist, and are unique, functions $F_K : D \to A$ such that $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$. We shall say that F_K is the *K*-component of *F*.

Definition 2.2 We say that a function $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ with $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ is a *stem function* if $F_K(\overline{z}^h) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} F_K(z)$ or, equivalently,

$$F_K(\overline{z}^h) = \begin{cases} F_K(z) & \text{if } h \notin K \\ -F_K(z) & \text{if } h \in K \end{cases}$$
(3)

for all $z \in D$, $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. We denote $\text{Stem}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n})$ the set of all stem functions from D to $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$.

Let $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$ and let $H = \{h_1, \ldots, h_p\} \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $h_1 < \ldots < h_p$. Define $\overline{z}^H \in \mathbb{C}^n$ by setting

$$\overline{z}^H := (z_1, \ldots, z_{h_1-1}, \overline{z_{h_1}}, z_{h_1+1}, \ldots, z_{h_p-1}, \overline{z_{h_p}}, z_{h_p+1}, \ldots, z_n).$$

Deringer

If $H = \emptyset$, then we set $\overline{z}^H := z$. Note that $\overline{z}^{\{h\}} = \overline{z}^h$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $\overline{z}^H \in D$ for all $z \in D$ and $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Moreover, if $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ is a function with $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$, then *F* is a stem function if and only if

$$F_K(\bar{z}^H) = (-1)^{|K \cap H|} F_K(z) \text{ for all } z \in D \text{ and } K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n).$$
(4)

Definition 2.3 Let *W* be a subset of \mathbb{C}^n . We call *circularization of W* (*in* A^n) the set Ω_W of all points $(\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n) \in (Q_A)^n$ with $\alpha_1, \beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n, \beta_n \in \mathbb{R}$ and $J_1, \ldots, J_n \in \mathbb{S}_A$ such that $(\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in W$. A subset Θ of $(Q_A)^n$ is said to be *circular* (*in* A^n) if $\Theta = \Omega_W$ for some subset *W* of \mathbb{C}^n .

Given any $x \in (Q_A)^n$, we denote \mathbb{S}_x the smallest circular subset of $(Q_A)^n$ containing x.

Note that, if $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in (Q_A)^n$, then $\mathbb{S}_x = \mathbb{S}_{x_1} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{S}_{x_n}$, where $\mathbb{S}_{x_h} = \alpha_h + \mathbb{S}_A \beta_h$ if $x_h = \alpha_h + J_h \beta_h$ for some α_h , $\beta_h \in \mathbb{R}$ and $J_h \in \mathbb{S}_A$. Given another point $y = (y_1, ..., y_n)$ in $(Q_A)^n$, we have that $\mathbb{S}_x = \mathbb{S}_y$ if and only if $t(x_h) = t(y_h)$ and $n(x_h) = n(y_h)$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

Let us introduce a notation, which is very useful especially in the non-associative case.

Definition 2.4 Given any $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and any sequence $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_m)$ of elements of A, we define the *ordered product* $[u] = [u_1, \ldots, u_m]$ of u by setting $[u] = [u_1, \ldots, u_m] := u_1$ if m = 1 and

$$[u] = [u_1, \ldots, u_m] := u_1(u_2(u_3 \cdots (u_{m-1}u_m) \ldots))$$

if $m \ge 2$. Given any $v \in A$, we write [u, v] to indicate $[u_1, \ldots, u_m, v]$.

Moreover, we set $[\emptyset] := 1$ and $[\emptyset, v] := v$.

Let $H \in \mathcal{P}(m)$. If $H = \emptyset$, then we define $u_H := \emptyset$; hence $[u_H] = 1$ and $[u_H, v] = v$. If $H \neq \emptyset$, then we write $H = \{h_1, \dots, h_p\}$ with $h_1 < \dots < h_p$, and we define $u_H := (u_{h_1}, \dots, u_{h_p})$; as a consequence, we have:

$$[u_H] = u_{h_1}(u_{h_2}(u_{h_3}\cdots(u_{h_{p-1}}u_{h_p})\ldots))$$

and

$$[u_H, v] = u_{h_1}(u_{h_2}(u_{h_3} \cdots (u_{h_{p-1}}(u_{h_p}v))) \dots))$$

We use also the symbols $(u_h)_{h=1}^m$ to denote u, and $(u_h)_{h\in H}$ to denote u_H .

Suppose now that, for each $h \in \{1, ..., m\}$, u_h is invertible in A, and denote u_h^{-1} its inverse $(u_h)^{-1}$ in A. In this case, if $H = \emptyset$, then we define $u_H^{-1} := \emptyset$; hence $[u_H^{-1}] = 1$ and $[u_H^{-1}, v] = v$. If $H \neq \emptyset$ and $H = \{h_1, ..., h_p\}$ with $h_1 < ... < h_p$, then we define $u_H^{-1} := (u_{h_p}^{-1}, u_{h_{p-1}}^{-1}, ..., u_{h_1}^{-1})$; as a consequence, we have:

$$[u_{H}^{-1}] = u_{h_{p}}^{-1}(u_{h_{p-1}}^{-1}(u_{h_{p-2}}^{-1}\cdots(u_{h_{2}}^{-1}u_{h_{1}}^{-1})\ldots))$$

and

$$[u_H^{-1}, v] = u_{h_p}^{-1}(u_{h_{p-1}}^{-1}(u_{h_{p-2}}^{-1}\cdots(u_{h_2}^{-1}(u_{h_1}^{-1}v))\dots)).$$

We use also the symbols $((u_h)_{h=1}^m)^{-1}$ to denote $(u_{m+1-h}^{-1})_{h=1}^m$, and $((u_h)_{h\in H})^{-1}$ to denote u_H^{-1} .

Deringer

Given any $v, w \in A$, any $H \in \mathcal{P}(m)$, and any $u = (u_1, \ldots, u_m) \in A^m$ with $m \ge 1$ and u_1, \ldots, u_m invertible in A, it is immediate to verify that

$$[u_H, v] = w \text{ if and only if } v = [u_H^{-1}, w].$$
(5)

The elements $[u_H]$ and $[u_H^{-1}]$ are invertible in *A*, see for instance Lemma 1.5(2) of [13]. However, in general, if *A* is not associative, then $[u_H^{-1}] \neq [u_H]^{-1}$. On the contrary, if *A* is associative, then $[u_H^{-1}] = [u_H]^{-1}$ and $[u_H] = u_{h_1}u_{h_2}\cdots u_{h_p}$.

We are in position to introduce the notion of slice function in several variables.

Definition 2.5 Given a function $f : \Omega_D \to A$, we say that f is a *(left) slice function* if there exists a stem function $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ with $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ such that

$$f(x) := \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_K, F_K(z)]$$

for all $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$, where $\alpha_1, \beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n, \beta_n \in \mathbb{R}, z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$ and $J = (J_1, \dots, J_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$; hence $J_K = (J_{k_1}, \dots, J_{k_p})$ if $K = \{k_1, \dots, k_p\} \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $k_1 < \dots < k_p$, and $J_{\emptyset} = \emptyset$.

If this is the case, we say that f is *induced by* F, and we write $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$. We denote $\mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$ the set of all slice functions from Ω_D to A, and \mathcal{I} : Stem $(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}) \to \mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$ the map sending each stem function F into the corresponding slice function $\mathcal{I}(F)$. \Box

The preceding definition is well-posed. Let $x = (x_1, ..., x_n)$ be a point of Ω_D . For each $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, there exist α_h , $\beta_h \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\beta_h \ge 0$ and $J_h \in \mathbb{S}_A$ such that $x_h = \alpha_h + J_h \beta_h$. If $x_h \in \mathbb{R}$, i.e., $\beta_h = 0$, then α_h is uniquely determined by x; on the contrary, J_h can be chosen arbitrarily in \mathbb{S}_A . If $x_h \notin \mathbb{R}$, i.e. $\beta_h > 0$, then α_h , β_h and J_h are uniquely determined by x_h , and x_h has the following two representations:

$$\alpha_h + J_h \beta_h = x_h = \alpha_h + (-J_h)(-\beta_h).$$

Set $z := (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$. Let *L* be the set of all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ such that $x_h \notin \mathbb{R}$. Thanks to (3), we know that $F_K(z) = 0$ if $K \not\subset L$. For each $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $\emptyset \neq H \subset L$, it is possible to write *x* as follows:

$$x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n)$$

and $x = x'_H$, where

$$x'_H = (\alpha_1 + (\epsilon_1 J_1)(\epsilon_1 \beta_1), \dots, \alpha_n + (\epsilon_n J_n)(\epsilon_n \beta_n))$$

with $\epsilon_h = -1$ if $h \in H$, $\epsilon_h = 1$ if $h \in L \setminus H$, and (ϵ_h, J_h) can be chosen arbitrarily in $\{-1, 1\} \times \mathbb{S}_A$ if $h \notin L$. By (4), we have

$$\begin{split} f(x) &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_K, F_K(z)] = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset L} [J_K, F_K(z)] \\ &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset L} [J_K, (-1)^{|K \cap H|} F_K(\overline{z}^H)] \\ &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [((-1)^{|H \cap \{k\}|} J_k)_{k \in K}, F_K(\overline{z}^H)] = f(x'_H). \end{split}$$

It follows that Definition 2.5 is well-posed, as claimed. In Proposition 2.12 below, we will show that a slice function is induced by a unique stem function.

The real algebra A we are working with is assumed to be alternative. In particular, it is power-associative. Consequently, if $a \in A$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}^*$ then the power a^m is a well-defined element of A, independently from the system of parentheses we use to compute it. For convention, we set $a^0 := 1$ for all $a \in A$.

Remark 2.6 The usual pointwise defined operations of addition and multiplication by real scalars define structures of real vector spaces on the sets $\text{Stem}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n})$ and $\mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$, which make the map \mathcal{I} : $\text{Stem}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}) \to \mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$ a real linear map. Given any $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$, $G = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K G_K \in \text{Stem}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n})$, $f, g \in \mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$ and $r \in \mathbb{R}$, we set $(F + G)(z) := \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K(F_K(z) + G_K(z))$, $(Fr)(z) := \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K(F_K(z)r)$, (f + g)(x) := f(x) + g(x) and (fr)(x) := f(x)r, where $F_K(z) + G_K(z)$, $F_K(z)r$, f(x) + g(x) and f(x)r are additions and scalar multiplications in A. Evidently, $\mathcal{I}(F + G) = \mathcal{I}(F) + \mathcal{I}(G)$ and $\mathcal{I}(Fr) = \mathcal{I}(F)r$. Actually, the map \mathcal{I} is an isomorphism of real vector spaces, see Corollary 2.15 below.

Definition 2.7 Given $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in A^n$, $\ell = (\ell_1, ..., \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $a \in A$, we denote $x^{\ell}a$ the element $[(x_h^{\ell_h})_{h=1}^n, a]$ of A. A function $P : (Q_A)^n \to A$ is *monomial* if there exist $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $a \in A$ such that $P(x) = x^{\ell}a$ for all $x \in (Q_A)^n$. The function $P : (Q_A)^n \to A$ is *polynomial* if it is a finite sum of monomial functions.

The restriction of a monomial (respectively polynomial) function to Ω_D is said to be *monomial* (respectively *polynomial*) on Ω_D .

We conclude the present section with an important result, which asserts that the class of slice functions includes the one of polynomial functions. First, we need a definition.

Definition 2.8 For each $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we denote p_k and q_k the real polynomials in $\mathbb{R}[X, Y]$ such that $(\alpha + i\beta)^k = p_k(\alpha, \beta) + iq_k(\alpha, \beta)$ for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$.

Proposition 2.9 *Each polynomial function on* Ω_D *is a slice function. More precisely, given* any $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $a \in A$, the function $F^{(\ell)} : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, defined by

$$F^{(\ell)}(z) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K \left(\left(\prod_{h \in \{1, \dots, n\} \setminus K} p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) \right) \left(\prod_{h \in K} q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) \right) a \right), \tag{6}$$

for all $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$, is a stem function inducing the monomial function $x^{\ell}a$ on Ω_D .

Proof Let $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$. It suffices to show that the function $F^{(\ell)} : D \to A$, defined in (6), is a stem function and $\mathcal{I}(F^{(\ell)})(x) = x^{\ell}a_{\ell}$. Let $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$, let $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and, given any $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, let $F_K^{(\ell)} : D \to A$ be the function

$$F_K^{(\ell)}(z) := \left(\prod_{h \in \{1,\dots,n\} \setminus K} p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h,\beta_h)\right) \left(\prod_{h \in K} q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h,\beta_h)\right) a.$$

Note that, for each $z_h = \alpha_h + i\beta_h \in \mathbb{C}$, it holds:

$$p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h,\beta_h) - iq_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h,\beta_h) = \overline{z_h^{\ell_h}} = \overline{z_h}^{\ell_h} = p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h,-\beta_h) + iq_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h,-\beta_h)$$

and hence $p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, -\beta_h) = p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h)$ and $q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, -\beta_h) = -q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h)$. Consequently, we have $F_K^{(\ell)}(\overline{z}^h) = -F_K^{(\ell)}(z)$ if $h \in K$ and $F_K^{(\ell)}(\overline{z}^h) = F_K^{(\ell)}(z)$ if $h \in \{1, ..., n\} \setminus K$. This proves that $F^{(\ell)} = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K^{(\ell)}$ is a stem function. Moreover, if $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$ for some $J_1, ..., J_n \in \mathbb{S}_A$, then

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}(F^{(\ell)})(x) &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [(J_h)_{h \in K}, F_K^{(\ell)}(z)] \\ &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \left(\prod_{h \in \{1, \dots, n\} \setminus K} p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) \right) [(J_h q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h))_{h \in K}, a] \\ &= [(p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) + J_h q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h))_{h=1}^n, a] = [(x_h^{\ell_h})_{h=1}^n, a] = x^{\ell} a. \end{aligned}$$

The proof is complete.

🖄 Springer

Definition 2.10 We say that a stem function $F : \mathbb{C}^n \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ is *monomial*, or *polynomial*, if $\mathcal{I}(F) : (Q_A)^n \to A$ is. The restriction of a monomial (respectively polynomial) stem function to D is said to be *monomial* (respectively *polynomial*) on D.

Thanks to Proposition 2.12 below, a stem function $F: D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ is monomial on D if and only if it has form (6).

2.2 Representation formulas

We need an elementary, but useful, combinatorial lemma.

Lemma 2.11 For each $H, L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, it holds:

$$\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|H \cap K| + |K \cap L|} = 2^n \delta_{H,L} \, .$$

where $\delta_{H,L} = 1$ if H = L and $\delta_{H,L} = 0$ otherwise.

Proof Since $|H \cap K| + |K \cap L| = |K \cap (H \setminus L)| + |K \cap (L \setminus H)| + 2|K \cap H \cap L|$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, it suffices to prove that the sum $s(H, L) := \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap (H \setminus L)| + |K \cap (L \setminus H)|}$ is equal to 2^n if H = L and is null otherwise. This is evident in the case in which L = H. Let $L \neq H$. If $H \subset L$, then we have:

$$\begin{split} s(H,L) &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap (L \setminus H)|} = \sum_{S_1 \in \mathcal{P}(L \setminus H), \ S_2 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathbb{C}(L \setminus H))} (-1)^{|S_1|} \\ &= 2^{n - |L \setminus H|} \sum_{S_1 \in \mathcal{P}(L \setminus H)} (-1)^{|S_1|} = 2^{n - |L \setminus H|} \sum_{h=0}^{|L \setminus H|} {\binom{|L \setminus H|}{h}} (-1)^h \\ &= 2^{n - |L \setminus H|} (1 + (-1))^{|L \setminus H|} = 0, \end{split}$$

where $\mathcal{C}(L \setminus H)$ is the complement of $L \setminus H$ in $\{1, \ldots, n\}$. Similarly, one proves that s(H, L) = 0 if $L \subset H$. Finally, suppose $H \not\subset L$ and $L \not\subset H$. We have:

$$\begin{split} s(H,L) &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap (L \setminus H)| + |K \cap (H \setminus L)|} \\ &= \sum_{S_1 \in \mathcal{P}(L \setminus H), \, S_2 \in \mathcal{P}(H \setminus L), \, S_3 \in \mathcal{P}(\mathfrak{C}(L \triangle H))} (-1)^{|S_1|} (-1)^{|S_2|} \\ &= 2^{n - |L \triangle H|} \Big(\sum_{S_1 \in \mathcal{P}(L \setminus H)} (-1)^{|S_1|} \Big) \Big(\sum_{S_2 \in \mathcal{P}(H \setminus L)} (-1)^{|S_2|} \Big) \\ &= 2^{n - |L \triangle H|} (1 + (-1))^{|L \setminus H|} (1 + (-1))^{|H \setminus L|} = 0, \end{split}$$

where $L \triangle H$ is the usual symmetric difference between L and H.

Let $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in A^n$ and let $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. If $H = \emptyset$, then we set $x^{c,H} := x$. Suppose that $H \neq \emptyset$ and write $H = \{h_1, ..., h_p\}$ with $h_1 < ... < h_p$. We denote $x^{c,H}$ the element of A^n defined as follows:

$$x^{c,H} := (x_1, \ldots, x_{h_1-1}, x_{h_1}^c, x_{h_1+1}, \ldots, x_{h_p-1}, x_{h_p}^c, x_{h_p+1}, \ldots, x_n).$$

We have the following representation formulas.

Proposition 2.12 (Representation formula) Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice function and let $y \in \Omega_D$. Write y as follows:

$$y = (\alpha_1 + I_1\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + I_n\beta_n),$$

where $\alpha_h, \beta_h \in \mathbb{R}$ and $I_h \in \mathbb{S}_A$ for all $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Then it holds:

$$f(x) = 2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [J_K, [I_K^{-1}, f(y^{c, H})]],$$
(7)

Deringer

where $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n)$ for some $J = (J_1, ..., J_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$, and $I := (I_1, ..., I_n)$.

Furthermore, if $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ is a stem function inducing f, then we have:

$$F_{K}(z) = 2^{-n} [I_{K}^{-1}, \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(y^{c,H})] =$$

= $2^{-n} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [I_{K}^{-1}, f(y^{c,H})]$ (8)

for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, where $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$. In particular, each slice function f is induced by a unique stem function F.

Proof Let $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n)$. Define $z := (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$. Let $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Thanks to (4) and to Lemma 2.11, we obtain:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(y^{c,H}) \\ &= \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} \Big(\sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [I_L, F_L(\overline{z}^H)] \Big) \\ &= \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} \Big(\sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|H \cap L|} [I_L, F_L(z)] \Big) \\ &= \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [I_L, F_L(z)] \Big(\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H| + |H \cap L|} \Big) \\ &= 2^n [I_K, F_K(z)]. \end{split}$$

Bearing in mind (5), we deduce (8). Consequently,

$$\begin{aligned} f(x) &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_K, 2^{-n} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [I_K^{-1}, f(y^{c, H})]] \\ &= 2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [J_K, [I_K^{-1}, f(y^{c, H})]], \end{aligned}$$

as desired.

As an immediate corollary, we obtain:

Corollary 2.13 (Identity principle) Let $f, g: \Omega_D \to A$ be slice functions and let $I_1, \ldots, I_n \in \mathbb{S}_A$ such that f = g on $\Omega_D \cap (\mathbb{C}_{I_1} \times \ldots \times \mathbb{C}_{I_n})$. Then f = g on the whole Ω_D .

Remark 2.14 Let $n \ge 2$ and let $f : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}$ be the function $f(x_1, \ldots, x_n) := x_2x_1$, i.e. the pointwise product between the coordinate functions x_2 and x_1 . The function f is not slice. Otherwise, being $x_2x_1 = x_1x_2$ on $(\mathbb{C}_i)^n$, Proposition 2.9 and Corollary 2.13 would imply that $x_2x_1 = x_1x_2$ on the whole \mathbb{H}^n , i.e. the algebra of quaternions is commutative, which is false.

Bearing in mind Remark 2.6, we have:

Corollary 2.15 The map \mathcal{I} : Stem $(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}) \to \mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$, sending stem functions F into the corresponding slice functions $\mathcal{I}(F)$, is a bijection, and hence a real linear isomorphism.

Another consequence is the following intrinsic characterization of sliceness.

Corollary 2.16 (Sliceness criterion) Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a function. Then f is a slice function if and only if there exist $I = (I_1, \ldots, I_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$ with the following property:

$$f(x) = 2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [J_K, [I_K^{-1}, f(y^{c, H})]]$$
(9)

for all $y = (\alpha_1 + I_1\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + I_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$ and for all $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$, where $\alpha_1, \beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n, \beta_n \in \mathbb{R}$ and $J = (J_1, \dots, J_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$.

Proof If f is slice, then (9) follows from (7).

Suppose that (9) holds for some $I = (I_1, ..., I_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$. We will show that $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$ for some stem function $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$. For each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, define the function $F_K : D \to A$ by setting

$$F_K(z) := 2^{-n} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [I_K^{-1}, f(y^{c, H})],$$

where $y = (\alpha_1 + I_1\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + I_n\beta_n)$ if $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$.

Fix $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$. Set $y := (\alpha_1 + I_1\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + I_n\beta_n)$. Note that $|K \cap H| = |K \cap (H \triangle \{h\})| - (-1)^{|H \cap \{h\}|} |K \cap \{h\}|$ for all $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Moreover, the map $\Psi_h : \mathcal{P}(n) \to \mathcal{P}(n)$, sending H into $H \triangle \{h\}$, is a bijection. Bearing in mind the last two elementary facts and (5), we have that

$$2^{n}[I_{K}, F_{K}(\overline{z}^{h})] = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(y^{c, H \triangle \{h\}})$$

= $\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap (H \triangle \{h\})| + |K \cap \{h\}|} f(y^{c, H \triangle \{h\}})$
= $(-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap \Psi_{h}(H)|} f(y^{c, \Psi_{h}(H)})$
= $(-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(y^{c, H})$
= $2^{n} (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} [I_{K}, F_{K}(z)];$

consequently, $[I_K, F_K(\overline{z}^h)] = (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} [I_K, F_K(z)]$. Using (5) again, we deduce:

$$F_{K}(\overline{z}^{h}) = [I_{K}^{-1}, [I_{K}, F_{K}(\overline{z}^{h})]] = (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} [I_{K}^{-1}, [I_{K}, F_{K}(z)]] = (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} F_{K}(z).$$

In other words, the function $F: D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, defined by $F := \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$, is a stem function. Formula (9) now ensures that $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$.

A consequence of the last result is as follows.

Corollary 2.17 Let $\{f_l : \Omega_D \to A\}_{l \in \mathbb{N}}$ be a sequence of slice functions, which pointwise converges to a function $f : \Omega_D \to A$. Then f is a slice function.

Proof Let x, y, I, J be as in the statement of Corollary 2.16. Since each f_l is a slice function, equation (9) holds for each f_l . Note that $\{f_l(x)\}_{l \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to f(x) and $\{[J_K, [I_K^{-1}, f_l(y^{c,H})]]\}_{l \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to $[J_K, [I_K^{-1}, f(y^{c,H})]]$ for all $K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. It follows that Eq. (9) holds also for f. Using Corollary 2.16 again, we deduce that f is a slice function.

2.3 Spherical value and spherical derivatives

Let $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ be a stem function and let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be the slice function $\mathcal{I}(F)$.

Definition 2.18 We call *spherical value of* f the slice function $f_s^\circ : \Omega_D \to A$ induced by the *A*-valued stem function $F_{\emptyset} : D \to A$, that is $f_s^\circ := \mathcal{I}(F_{\emptyset})$.

From (8) it follows that

$$f_s^{\circ}(x) = 2^{-n} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} f(x^{c,H})$$
(10)

for all $x \in \Omega_D$. For each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$, we define:

• $D_K := \bigcap_{k \in K} \{(z_1, \dots, z_n) \in D : z_k \notin \mathbb{R}\}$, assumed to be non-empty.

🖄 Springer

• $F_K^*: D_K \to A$ by $F_K^*(z) := \beta_K^{-1} F_K(z)$, where $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D_K$ and $\beta_K := \prod_{k \in K} \beta_k$. • $\mathbb{R}_K := \bigcup_{k \in K} \{(x_1, \dots, x_n) \in A^n : x_k \in \mathbb{R}\}.$

• $\mathbb{I}_{K}^{K} := \bigcup_{k \in K} ((x_1, \dots, x_n) \in H : x_k \in \mathbb{I}_{J}^{k})$

Note that \mathbb{R}_K is closed in A, D_K is invariant under all the complex conjugations of \mathbb{C}^n , and the circularization of D_K in A^n is equal to $\Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K$, i.e.

$$\Omega_{D_K} = \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K.$$

Furthermore, it is immediate to verify that the function F_K^* is a A-valued stem function on D_K .

Definition 2.19 For each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$, we call *spherical K-derivative of* f the slice function $f'_{s,K} := \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K \to A$ induced by F_K^* , that is $f'_{s,K} := \mathcal{I}(F_K^*)$.

Bearing in mind (8) and the equality $\text{Im}(x) = \frac{x-x^c}{2}$, given any $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$, we have

$$f'_{s,K}(x) = 2^{-n} [((\beta_k J_k)_{k \in K})^{-1}, \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(x^{c,H})] = 2^{-n} [((\operatorname{Im}(x_k))_{k \in K})^{-1}, \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(x^{c,H})]$$

for all $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K$. As a consequence, if for each $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in A^n$ and $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ we set

$$\operatorname{Im}_{K}(x) := (\operatorname{Im}(x_{k}))_{k \in K}, \tag{11}$$

then we have

$$f'_{s,K}(x) = 2^{-n} [(\mathrm{Im}_K(x))^{-1}, \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(x^{c,H})]$$
(12)

for all $x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K$. Note that the latter equality can be rewritten as follows:

$$f'_{s,K}(x) = 2^{|K|-n} [((x_k - (x_k)^c)_{k \in K})^{-1}, \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} f(x^{c,H})].$$
(13)

In order to simplify the notation, we set $D_{\bullet} := D_{\{1,\dots,n\}}$ and $\mathbb{R}_{\bullet} := \mathbb{R}_{\{1,\dots,n\}}$. Consequently,

$$D_{\bullet} = \bigcap_{k=1}^{n} \{ (z_1, \dots, z_n) \in D : z_k \notin \mathbb{R} \} \neq \emptyset,$$
(14)

$$\mathbb{R}_{\bullet} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{n} \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in A^n : x_k \in \mathbb{R} \},$$
(15)

$$\Omega_{D_{\bullet}} = \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\bullet} = \bigcap_{k=1}^n \{ (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \Omega_D : \operatorname{Im}(x_k) \neq 0 \} \neq \emptyset.$$
(16)

Moreover, we set

$$\mathbb{R}_{\emptyset} := \emptyset. \tag{17}$$

Remark 2.20 According to Definitions 2.18 and 2.19, and (17), we can also say that the spherical value of f is the spherical \emptyset -derivative of f, that is $f'_{s,\emptyset} := f^{\circ}_s$.

Proposition 2.21 Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice function. The following assertions hold.

(i) For each $x \in \Omega_D$, the spherical value f_s° is constant on \mathbb{S}_x . For each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ and for each $x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K$, the spherical K-derivative $f'_{s,K}$ is constant on \mathbb{S}_x . More precisely, if $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$, then

$$f_s^{\circ}(x) = F_{\emptyset}(z) \text{ for all } x \in \Omega_D$$
(18)

and

$$f'_{s,K}(x) = \beta_K^{-1} F_K(z) \text{ for all } x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K,$$
(19)

where $z := (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$ if $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$. (ii) If $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_L$ for some $L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $x_h \in \mathbb{R}$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\} \setminus L$, then

$$f(x) = f_s^{\circ}(x) + \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}, K \subset L} [\operatorname{Im}_K(x), f'_{s,K}(x)].$$
⁽²⁰⁾

In particular, for all $x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\bullet}$, we have:

$$f(x) = f_s^{\circ}(x) + \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} [\operatorname{Im}_K(x), f'_{s,K}(x)].$$
(21)

(iii) If $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_L$ for some $L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $x_h \in \mathbb{R}$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\} \setminus L$, then f is constant on \mathbb{S}_x if and only if $f'_{s,K}(x) = 0$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $K \subset L$. In this case, f takes the value $f^{\circ}_s(x)$ on \mathbb{S}_x .

In particular, for each $x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\bullet}$, f is constant on \mathbb{S}_x if and only if $f'_{s,K}(x) = 0$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$.

Proof Point (i) follows immediately from the fact that the stem functions inducing f_s° and the $f'_{s K}$'s are A-valued.

Let $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_L$ for some $L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $\beta_h = 0$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\} \setminus L$, and let $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$. Denote $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_k$ the stem function inducing f. By (3), if $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $K \not\subset L$, then $F_K(z) = 0$. Consequently, $f(x) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset L} [J_K, F_K(z)]$, where $J = (J_1, ..., J_n)$. On the other hand, by the very definitions of spherical value and derivatives, we deduce:

$$\begin{split} f(x) &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset L} [J_K, F_K(z)] \\ &= f_s^{\circ}(x) + \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}, K \subset L} [\operatorname{Im}_K(x), \beta_K^{-1} F_K(z)] \\ &= f_s^{\circ}(x) + \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}, K \subset L} [\operatorname{Im}_K(x), f'_{s,K}(x)]. \end{split}$$

This proves (20), which reduces to (21) when $L = \{1, ..., n\}$.

Let us prove (iii). If $f'_{s,K}(x) = 0$ for each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $K \subset L$, then (i) and (20) imply at once that such $f'_{s,K}$'s vanish on the whole \mathbb{S}_x and f is constantly equal to $f^{\circ}_s(x)$ on \mathbb{S}_x . Finally, suppose that f is constantly equal on \mathbb{S}_x to some $a \in A$. Choose $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $K \subset L$. Since $x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K$ and $x^{c,H} \in \mathbb{S}_x$ for all $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, (12) and Lemma 2.11 ensure that

$$\begin{aligned} f'_{s,K}(x) &= 2^{-n} [(\mathrm{Im}_K(x))^{-1}, \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} a] \\ &= 2^{-n} \Big(\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} \Big) [(\mathrm{Im}_K(x))^{-1}, a] \\ &= \delta_{K,\emptyset} [(\mathrm{Im}_K(x))^{-1}, a] = 0. \end{aligned}$$

The proof is complete.

We now show that there exists a relation between the spherical value and derivatives of f and their one-variable analogues introduced in [9, Definition 6]. Let $z = (z_1, ..., z_n) \in D$ and let $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Denote $D_h(z)$ the subset of \mathbb{C} defined by

$$D_h(z) := \{ w \in \mathbb{C} : (z_1, \dots, z_{h-1}, w, z_{h+1}, \dots, z_n) \in D \}.$$
 (22)

D Springer

Since *D* is invariant under all the complex conjugations of \mathbb{C}^n , it follows immediately that $D_h(z)$ is invariant under the complex conjugation of \mathbb{C} . Note that $D_h(z) \neq \emptyset$, because it contains z_h . Moreover, $D_h(z)$ is open in \mathbb{C} if *D* is open in \mathbb{C}^n .

Let $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \Omega_D$. Denote $\Omega_{D,h}(x)$ the subset of Q_A defined by

$$\Omega_{D,h}(x) := \{ a \in A : (x_1, \dots, x_{h-1}, a, x_{h+1}, \dots, x_n) \in \Omega_D \}.$$
(23)

Suppose that $x \in \Omega_{\{z\}}$. Let us show that $\Omega_{D_h(z)} = \Omega_{D,h}(x)$. First, note that, if we write $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n)$ with $\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_n, \beta_1, ..., \beta_n \in \mathbb{R}$, then $x_\ell = \alpha_\ell + J_\ell \beta_\ell$ for each $\ell \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and for some $J_\ell \in \mathbb{S}_A$. Let $a \in \Omega_{D_h(z)}$. Write $a = \alpha + J\beta$ with $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$. By definition of $\Omega_{D_h(z)}$ and $D_h(z)$, we have that $\alpha + i\beta \in D_h(z)$ and

$$(\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_{h-1} + i\beta_{h-1}, \alpha + i\beta, \alpha_{h+1} + i\beta_{h+1}, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D,$$

respectively. The definitions of Ω_D and $\Omega_{D,h}(x)$ imply that $(x_1, \ldots, x_{h-1}, a, x_{h+1}, \ldots, x_n) \in \Omega_D$ and $a \in \Omega_{D,h}(x)$, respectively. Vice versa, if $a \in A$ with $(x_1, \ldots, x_{h-1}, a, x_{h+1}, \ldots, x_n) \in \Omega_D$, then there exists $z' = (z'_1, \ldots, z'_n) \in D$ with $z'_{\ell} = \alpha'_{\ell} + i\beta'_{\ell}$ and $J'_{\ell} \in \mathbb{S}_A$ for each $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ such that $\alpha'_h + J'_h\beta'_h = a$, and $\alpha_\ell + J_\ell\beta_\ell = x_\ell = \alpha'_\ell + J'_\ell\beta'_\ell$ for each $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{h\}$. Let $\ell \neq h$. Note that, if $\beta_\ell = 0$, then $\beta'_\ell = 0$ as well, and $\alpha_\ell = x_\ell = \alpha'_h$. If $\beta_\ell \neq 0$, then either $(\beta'_\ell, J'_\ell) = (\beta_\ell, J_\ell)$ or $(\beta'_\ell, J'_\ell) = (-\beta_\ell, -J_\ell)$. Define $H := \{\ell \in \{1, \ldots, n\} \setminus \{h\} : \beta_\ell \neq 0, (\beta'_\ell, J'_\ell) = (-\beta_\ell, -J_\ell)\}$. Since D is invariant under all complex conjugations of \mathbb{C}^n , it follows that

$$(z_1,\ldots,z_{h-1},\alpha'_h+i\beta'_h,z_{h+1},\ldots,z_n)=\overline{z'}^H\in D.$$

Hence $a = \alpha'_h + J'_h \beta'_h \in \Omega_{D_h(z)}$. We have just proven that

$$\Omega_{D_h(z)} = \Omega_{D,h}(x) \tag{24}$$

for all $z = (z_1, ..., z_n) \in D$, $x = (x_1, ..., x_n) \in \Omega_{\{z\}} \subset \Omega_D$ and $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

Definition 2.22 Let $g : \Omega_D \to A$ be a function and let $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. We say that g is a *slice function w.r.t.* \mathbf{x}_h if, for each $y = (y_1, ..., y_n) \in \Omega_D$, the restriction function $g_h^{(y)} : \Omega_{D,h}(y) \to A$, defined by

$$g_h^{(y)}(x_h) := g(y_1, \dots, y_{h-1}, x_h, y_{h+1}, \dots, y_n)$$

is a slice function.

Let $g: \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice function w.r.t. x_h , let $y \in \Omega_D$, let $(g_h^{(y)})_s^\circ: \Omega_{D,h}(y) \to A$ and $(g_h^{(y)})_s': \Omega_{D,h}(y) \setminus \mathbb{R} \to A$ be the usual spherical value and spherical derivative of the one variable slice function $g_h^{(y)}$, respectively. If z is a point of D such that $y \in \Omega_{\{z\}}$ and $g_h^{(y)}$ is induced by the stem function $G_1 + iG_2 : D_h(z) \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^2$, then $(g_h^{(y)})_s^\circ(x_h) = G_1(w)$ for all $x_h = \alpha_h + J_h \beta_h \in \Omega_{D_h(z)}$, where $w := \alpha_h + i\beta_h \in D_h(z)$, and $(g_h^{(y)})_s'(x_h) = \beta_h^{-1}G_2(w)$ if $\beta_h \neq 0$. As a consequence, we have that $(g_h^{(y)})_s^\circ(x_h) = \frac{1}{2}(g_h^{(y)}(x_h) + g_h^{(y)}((x_h)^c))$ and $(g_h^{(y)})_s'(x_h) = \frac{1}{2}(\mathrm{Im}(x_h))^{-1}(g_h^{(y)}(x_h) - g_h^{(y)}((x_h)^c))$.

Assume that g is a slice function w.r.t. x_h . Then, for each $e \in \{0, 1\}$, we define the function $\mathcal{D}^0_{x_h}g : \Omega_D \to A$ and $\mathcal{D}^1_{x_h}g : \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\{h\}} \to A$ by setting

$$\mathcal{D}^0_{\mathbf{x}_h}g(x) := (g_h^{(x)})^{\circ}_{s}(x_h) \text{ for all } x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \Omega_D$$
(25)

and

$$\mathcal{D}^1_{\mathbf{x}_h}g(x) := (g_h^{(x)})'_s(x_h) \text{ for all } x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\{h\}}.$$
 (26)

Springer

Given any $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, define $K_h := K \cap \{1, \ldots, h\}$.

Proposition 2.23 Assume that $n \ge 2$. Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice function, let $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and let $\epsilon : \{1, \ldots, n\} \to \{0, 1\}$ be the characteristic function of K. Then f is a slice function w.r.t. x_1 and, for each $h \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$, the function $\mathcal{D}_{x_{h-1}}^{\epsilon(h-1)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{x_1}^{\epsilon(1)} f$: $\Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{K_{h-1}} \to A$, obtained iterating (25) and (26) as follows $\mathcal{D}_{x_{h-1}}^{\epsilon(h-1)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{x_1}^{\epsilon(1)} f :=$ $\mathcal{D}_{x_{h-1}}^{\epsilon(h-1)} (\mathcal{D}_{x_2}^{\epsilon(h-2)} \cdots (\mathcal{D}_{x_2}^{\epsilon(2)} (\mathcal{D}_{x_1}^{\epsilon(1)} f)) \cdots)$, is a well-defined slice function w.r.t. x_h . Moreover, it holds:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{n}}^{\epsilon(n)}\cdots\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)}f := \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{n}}^{\epsilon(n)}(\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{n-1}}^{\epsilon(n-1)}\cdots\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)}f) = \begin{cases} f_{s}^{\circ} & \text{if } K = \emptyset\\ f_{s,K}^{\prime} & \text{if } K \neq \emptyset \end{cases}$$

Proof Let $F = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_H F_H : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be the stem function inducing f, let $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) = (\alpha_1 + I_1\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + I_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$, let $I := (I_1, \ldots, I_n)$ and let $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n) := (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$. Let us prove by induction on $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ that the two following properties hold true:

(a) $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h-1}}^{\epsilon(h-1)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)} f$ is a slice function w.r.t. \mathbf{x}_{h} , where for convention $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h-1}}^{\epsilon(h-1)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)} f := f$ if h = 1. (b) $\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h-1}}^{\epsilon(h)} = \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)} f(\mathbf{x}) = (\theta_{\mathbf{x}_{1}})^{-1} \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} [I_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}, F_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}, \mathbf{x}_{1}]$ where $\theta_{\mathbf{x}_{1}} := 1$.

(b)
$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_h}^{\epsilon(n)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_1}^{\epsilon(1)} f(\mathbf{y}) = (\beta_{K_h})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} [I_H, F_{H \cup K_h}(z)]$$
, where $\beta_{\emptyset} := 1$

First, we consider the case h = 1. It holds:

$$f(x_1, y') = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [J_H, F_H(z_1, w')] + J_1 \Big(\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [J_H, F_{H \cup \{1\}}(z_1, w')] \Big) (27)$$

where $x_1 = \alpha_1 + J_1 \beta_1 \in \Omega_{D,1}(y)$, $y' := (y_2, ..., y_n)$, $z_1 := \alpha_1 + i\beta_1 \in D_1(w)$, $w' := (w_2, ..., w_n)$ and $J = (J_1, I_2, ..., I_n)$. Define the functions $F_1, F_2 : D_1(w) \to A$ by setting

$$F_1(z_1) := \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [J_H, F_H(z_1, w')],$$

$$F_2(z_1) := \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [J_H, F_{H \cup \{1\}}(z_1, w')]$$

It is immediate to verify that $F_1 + iF_2 : D_1(w) \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^2$ is a stem function. Consequently, f is slice w.r.t. x_1 . Moreover, we have:

$$\mathcal{D}^0_{\mathbf{x}_1} f(\mathbf{y}) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [I_H, F_H(z)]$$

and

$$\mathcal{D}_{x_1}^1 f(y) = \beta_1^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [I_H, F_{H \cup \{1\}}(z)].$$

This proves that f satisfies (a) and (b) for h = 1.

Assume (a) and (b) are verified for some $h \in \{1, ..., n-1\}$. By (b), we deduce:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h}}^{\epsilon(h)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)} f(\mathbf{y}'', \mathbf{x}_{h+1}, \hat{\mathbf{y}}) = (\beta_{K_{h-1}} \beta_{h,K})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_{h+1} = \emptyset} [L_{H}, F_{H \cup K_{h}}(\mathbf{z}'', \mathbf{z}_{h+1}, \hat{\mathbf{z}})] + J_{h+1} ((\beta_{K_{h-1}} \beta_{h,K})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_{h+1} = \emptyset} [L_{H}, F_{H \cup K_{h} \cup \{h+1\}}(\mathbf{z}'', \mathbf{z}_{h+1}, \hat{\mathbf{z}})]),$$
(28)

where $x_h = \alpha_h + J_h \beta_h \in \Omega_{D,h}(y)$, $\beta_{h,K} = \beta_h$ if $h \in K$, $\beta_{h,K} = 1$ if $h \notin K$, $y'' = (y_1, \ldots, y_h)$, $\hat{y} = (y_{h+2}, \ldots, y_n)$, $z_h = \alpha_h + i\beta_h \in D_h(z)$, $z'' = (z_1, \ldots, z_h)$, $\hat{z} = (z_{h+2}, \ldots, z_n)$ and $L = (I_1, \ldots, I_h, J_{h+1}, I_{h+2}, \ldots, I_n)$. Here \hat{y} and \hat{z} are omitted if h + 1 = n. Proceeding as above, it is immediate to verify that $\mathcal{D}_{x_h}^{\varepsilon(h)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{x_1}^{\varepsilon(1)} f$ is slice w.r.t. x_{h+1} , i.e. (a) is satisfied for h + 1. Moreover, we have:

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h+1}}^{0} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h}}^{\epsilon(h)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)} f(\mathbf{y}) = (\beta_{K_{h}})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_{h+1} = \emptyset} [I_{H}, F_{H \cup K_{h}}(z)],$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h+1}}^{1} \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{h}}^{\epsilon(h)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{\mathbf{x}_{1}}^{\epsilon(1)} f(\mathbf{y}) = \beta_{h+1}^{-1} (\beta_{K_{h}})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_{h+1} = \emptyset} [I_{H}, F_{H \cup K_{h} \cup \{h+1\}}(z)].$$

In both cases, the last two expressions are equal to

$$(\beta_{K_{h+1}})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_{h+1} = \emptyset} [I_H, F_{H \cup K_{h+1}}(z)]$$

and the induction step works. When h = n, the right-hand side of (b) becomes $F_{\emptyset}(z)$ if $K = \emptyset$, and $\beta_K^{-1} F_K(z)$ if $K \neq \emptyset$. This completes the proof.

Definition 2.24 Assume that $n \ge 2$. Let $h \in \{2, ..., n\}$ and let $\epsilon : \{1, ..., h-1\} \to \{0, 1\}$ be any function. Given a slice function $f : \Omega_D \to A$, we define the *truncated spherical* ϵ -derivative $\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon}f : \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\epsilon^{-1}(1)} \to A$ of f by setting $\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon}f := \mathcal{D}_{x_{h-1}}^{\epsilon(h-1)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{x_1}^{\epsilon(1)}f$, and we say that such a derivative has order h - 1. For convention, we define also the *truncated spherical* \emptyset -derivative $\mathcal{D}_{\emptyset}f : \Omega_D \to A$ of f by setting $\mathcal{D}_{\emptyset}f := f$, and we say that such a derivative has order 0.

Proposition 2.23 asserts that each *h*-order truncated spherical derivative of a slice function is a well-defined slice function w.r.t. x_h . Moreover, a by-product of the proof of the mentioned proposition reads as follows. If $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ is the stem function inducing *f*, then

$$\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon}f(x) = (\beta_{\epsilon^{-1}(1)})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_{h-1} = \emptyset} [J_H, F_{H \cup \epsilon^{-1}(1)}(z)]$$
(29)

for all $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\epsilon^{-1}(1)}$ with $z := (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n)$ and $J := (J_1, ..., J_n)$, where $\beta_{\emptyset} := 1$. Formula (29) shows that every truncated spherical derivative $\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon} f$ is a slice function of *n* variables on $\Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\epsilon^{-1}(1)}$, induced by the stem function

$$G(z) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_{h-1} = \emptyset} e_H(\beta_{\epsilon^{-1}(1)})^{-1} F_{H \cup \epsilon^{-1}(1)}(z).$$

2.4 Smoothness

By Assumption 2.1, the real alternative *-algebra A we are working with has finite dimension and, as a finite dimensional real vector space, A is equipped with the natural \mathscr{C}^{ω} manifold structure defined by the global coordinate systems associated with its real vector bases. Here \mathscr{C}^{ω} ' means 'real analytic'. For each $n \ge 1$, we equip A^n with the corresponding product structure of \mathscr{C}^{ω} manifolds. We call the underlying topology on A^n as Euclidean topology of A^n . Given any non-empty subset S of A^n , we equip S with the relative topology induced by the Euclidean one of A^n . We call such a topology on S as Euclidean topology of S. If in addition S is open in A^n , then we always assume that S is equipped with the \mathscr{C}^{ω} manifold structure induced by the one of A^n .

D Springer

Similarly, we equip D with the Euclidean topology induced by the one of $\mathbb{C} = \mathbb{R}^2$ and, in the case D is open in \mathbb{C} , we always assume that D is equipped with the \mathscr{C}^{ω} manifold structure induced by the one of $\mathbb{C} = \mathbb{R}^2$.

As usual, given two topological spaces X and Y, we denote $\mathscr{C}^0(X, Y)$ the set of all continuous maps from X to Y. If $r \in (\mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}) \cup \{\infty, \omega\}$ and X and Y are equipped with some \mathscr{C}^r manifold structures (for instance, \mathscr{C}^{ω} manifold structures), then the symbol $\mathscr{C}^r(X, Y)$ indicates the set of all \mathscr{C}^r maps from X to Y. In the latter case, given any non-empty subset S of X and a map $f : S \to Y$, we say that f is a \mathscr{C}^r map if there exist an open neighborhood U of S in X and a map $g : U \to Y$ such that g(x) = f(x) for all $x \in S$ and, equipping U with the natural \mathscr{C}^r manifold structure induced by the one of X, g belongs to $\mathscr{C}^r(U, Y)$. We denote $\mathscr{C}^r(S, Y)$ the set of all \mathscr{C}^r maps from S to Y.

Definition 2.25 We define

- Stem⁰($D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$) as the set of all continuous stem functions from D to $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, i.e. the set of all stem functions $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ such that each F_K belongs to $\mathscr{C}^0(D, A)$,
- $\mathcal{S}^{0}(\Omega_{D}, A)$ as the set of slice functions from Ω_{D} to A induced by continuous stem functions, i.e. $\mathcal{S}^{0}(\Omega_{D}, A) := \mathcal{I}(\text{Stem}^{0}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^{n}})),$

and, in the case *D* is open in \mathbb{C} and $r \in (\mathbb{N} \setminus \{0\}) \cup \{\infty, \omega\}$,

- Stem^{*r*}($D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$) as the set of all \mathscr{C}^r stem functions from D to $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, i.e. the set of all stem functions $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ such that each F_K belongs to $\mathscr{C}^r(D, A)$,
- $S^r(\Omega_D, A)$ as the set of slice functions from Ω_D to A induced by \mathscr{C}^r stem functions, i.e. $S^r(\Omega_D, A) := \mathcal{I}(\operatorname{Stem}^r(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n})).$

Equip $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty, \omega\}$ with the unique total ordering \leq , extending the one \leq of \mathbb{N} , by requiring that $s \leq \infty$ for all $s \in \mathbb{N}$, and $\infty \leq \omega$. Denote $\lfloor s \rfloor$ the integer part of $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Theorem 2.26 The following assertions hold.

(i) If \mathbb{S}_A is compact, then $S^0(\Omega_D, A) \subset \mathscr{C}^0(\Omega_D, A)$. (ii) Suppose that D is open in \mathbb{C}^n . Let $r \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty, \omega\}$ such that $r \ge 2^n - 1$, and let $\mathbf{w}_n(r)$ be the element of $\mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty, \omega\}$ defined by $\mathbf{w}_n(r) := r$ if $r \in \{\infty, \omega\}$ and

$$\mathbf{w}_n(r) := \left\lfloor \frac{r-2^n+1}{2^n} \right\rfloor = \left\lfloor \frac{r+1}{2^n} \right\rfloor - 1$$

if $r \in \mathbb{N}$ *and* $r \geq 2^n - 1$ *. Then it holds:*

$$\mathcal{S}^{r}(\Omega_{D}, A) \subset \mathscr{C}^{\mathbf{w}_{n}(r)}(\Omega_{D}, A).$$

In particular, we have $\mathcal{S}^{\infty}(\Omega_D, A) \subset \mathscr{C}^{\infty}(\Omega_D, A)$ and $\mathcal{S}^{\omega}(\Omega_D, A) \subset \mathscr{C}^{\omega}(\Omega_D, A)$.

Proof Choose a real vector basis $\mathcal{B} = (u_1, \ldots, u_d)$ of A with $u_1 = 1$, and denote $\pi_{\mathbb{R}} : A \to \mathbb{R}$ the projection of A onto the first component of the coordinates induced by \mathcal{B} , i.e. the real linear function sending each $a = \sum_{h=1}^{d} a_h u_h \in A$ into $a_1 \in \mathbb{R}$. Define the functions $\theta, \eta, \xi : A \to \mathbb{R}$ and $v, w : A \to \mathbb{C}$ by setting

$$\theta(a) := \pi_{\mathbb{R}}(\operatorname{Re}(a)), \quad \eta(a) := \pi_{\mathbb{R}}(n(\operatorname{Im}(x))), \quad \xi(a) := \sqrt{|\eta(a)|}$$

and

$$v(a) := \theta(a) + i\xi(a), \quad w(a) := \theta(a) + i\eta(a).$$

Deringer

Note that $\theta, \eta \in \mathscr{C}^{\omega}(A, \mathbb{R}), \xi \in \mathscr{C}^{0}(A, \mathbb{R}), v \in \mathscr{C}^{0}(A, \mathbb{C})$ and $w \in \mathscr{C}^{\omega}(A, \mathbb{C})$. Moreover, it holds

$$v(\alpha + J\beta) = \alpha + i|\beta|, \tag{30}$$

$$w(\alpha + J\beta) = \alpha + i\beta^2 \tag{31}$$

for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$. Define also the maps $v_n, w_n : A^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ by setting

$$v_n(x_1,...,x_n) := (v(x_1),...,v(x_n))$$
 and $w_n(x_1,...,x_n) := (w(x_1),...,w(x_n)).$

Let C be the closed subset of A defined by $C := \xi^{-1}(0) = \eta^{-1}(0)$. Since $C \cap Q_A = \mathbb{R}$, we have that $(A \setminus C) \cap Q_A = Q_A \setminus C = Q_A \setminus \mathbb{R}$, and hence $(A \setminus C)^n \cap \Omega_D = \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\bullet}$. Let $j: A \setminus C \rightarrow A$ be the continuous map defined by

$$\mathbf{j}(a) := \frac{1}{\xi(a)} \operatorname{Im}(a).$$

Define $J_{\emptyset} := 1$ and, for each $K = \{k_1, \dots, k_p\} \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $k_1 < \dots < k_p$, define the continuous map $J_K : \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_K \to (\mathbb{S}_A)^{|K|}$ by

$$J_K(x_1,...,x_n) := (j(x_{k_1}),...,j(x_{k_n})).$$

Denote $J_{\bullet}: Q_A \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\bullet} \to (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$ the continuous map $J_{\{1,\dots,n\}}$. Note that $J_{\bullet}(\alpha_1 + J_1 | \beta_1 |, \dots, \alpha_n + \beta_n)$ $J_n[\beta_n] = (J_1, \ldots, J_n)$ if $(\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D_{\bullet}$ and $J_1, \ldots, J_n \in \mathbb{S}_A$. Choose $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K \in \text{Stem}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n})$ and define $f := \mathcal{I}(F)$.

Let us prove (i).

Suppose that F is continuous and \mathbb{S}_A is compact. For each $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $\ell \in$ $\{0, 1, ..., n\}$, define $Q(H) := \bigcap_{h \in \{1, ..., n\} \setminus H} \{(x_1, ..., x_n) \in \Omega_D : x_h \in \mathbb{R}\}$ and $Q(\ell) :=$ $\bigcup_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), |H| \leq \ell} Q(H)$. Note that the Q(H)'s and the $Q(\ell)$'s are closed subsets of Ω_D ; moreover, $Q(0) = Q(\emptyset) = \Omega_D \cap \mathbb{R}^n$ and $Q(n) = Q(\{1, \ldots, n\}) = \Omega_D$. We will prove by induction on $\ell \in \{0, 1, ..., n\}$ that the restriction $f|_{Q(\ell)}$ of f to $Q(\ell)$ is continuous. Evidently, if the latter assertion is true then f is continuous, because $Q(n) = \Omega_D$. The case $\ell = 0$ follows immediately from the equality $f(x) = F_{\emptyset}(v_n(x))$ for all $x \in Q(0) = \Omega_D \cap \mathbb{R}^n$. Suppose the assertion is true for some $\ell \in \{0, 1, ..., n-1\}$. Note that, for each $H, L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $|H| = |L| = \ell + 1$ and $H \neq L$, we have that $|H \cap L| \leq \ell$ and hence

$$Q(H) \cap Q(L) = \bigcap_{h \in \{1,\dots,n\} \setminus (H \cap L)} \{ (x_1,\dots,x_n) \in \Omega_D : x_h \in \mathbb{R} \} \subset Q(\ell).$$

It follows that $\{Q(H)\}_{H\in\mathcal{P}(n),|H|=\ell+1}$ is a finite closed cover of $Q(\ell+1)$ and, for each $H, L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $|H| = |L| = \ell + 1$ and $H \neq L$, the restrictions $f|_{Q(H)}$ and $f|_{Q(L)}$ are continuous on $Q(H) \cap Q(L)$ by induction. Consequently, it suffices to show that, for each fixed $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $|H| = \ell + 1$, $f|_{O(H)}$ is continuous. By induction, $f|_{O(\ell)}$ is continuous so the same is true for $f|_P$, where $P := Q(H) \cap Q(\ell)$. The set P is closed in Q(H) and

$$Q(H) \setminus P = Q(H) \setminus Q(\ell) \subset \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\bullet}.$$

Since $f(x) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_{\bullet}(x), F_K(v_n(x))]$ for all $x \in \Omega_D \setminus \mathbb{R}_{\bullet}$, it follows that $f|_{\mathcal{Q}(H) \setminus P}$ is continuous. Now, in order to complete the proof of (i), it suffices to show that, if $\{y_m\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is a sequence in $Q(H) \setminus P$ converging to some point $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in P$, then the sequence $\{f(y_m)\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ converges to f(x). Consider such a sequence $\{y_m\}_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ in $Q(H) \setminus P$ and $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in P$. Define $H^* := \{h \in H : x_h \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Note that, by definition of P, $H^* \neq \emptyset$. By the even-odd properties of the F_K 's, we deduce at once that

$$f(y_m) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H} [\mathbf{J}_K(y_m), F_K(v_n(y_m))]$$
(32)

for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, and

$$f(x) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H \setminus H^*} [\mathbf{J}_K(x), F_K(v_n(x))].$$
(33)

Let $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $K \subset H$ and $K \cap H^* \neq \emptyset$. Choose $v \in K \cap H^*$ and observe that $x_v \in \mathbb{R}$. Since v_n and F_K are continuous, the sequence $\{F_K(v_n(y_m))\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to $F_K(v_n(x))$. If we write $v_n(x) = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$, then $z_v = x_v \in \mathbb{R}$ and $F_K(v_n(x)) = 0$. On the other hand, $(\mathbb{S}_A)^n$ is compact in A^n and hence it is bounded. It follows that the sequence $\{[J_K(y_m), F_K(v_n(y_m))]\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to zero. Consequently, by (32), $\{f(y_m)\}_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ converges to $\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H \setminus H^*} [J_K(x), F_K(v_n(x))]$, which is equal to f(x) by (33).

It remains to show point (ii).

Suppose that *D* is open in \mathbb{C}^n . Assume that *F* is of class \mathscr{C}^r for $r \in \mathbb{N}$ with $r \ge 2^n - 1$. Let $\rho : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the function $\rho(s) := \lfloor \frac{s-1}{2} \rfloor$ and, for each $k \ge 1$, let $\rho^k : \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}$ be the k^{th} -iterated composition of ρ with itself. Since ρ is non-decreasing and $r \ge 2^n \mathbf{w}_n(r) + 2^n - 1$, we have that ρ^n is non-decreasing and

$$\rho^n(r) \ge \mathbf{w}_n(r); \tag{34}$$

indeed, it holds:

$$\rho^{n}(r) \ge \rho^{n}(2^{n}\mathbf{w}_{n}(r) + 2^{n} - 1)$$

= $\rho^{n-1}(2^{n-1}\mathbf{w}_{n}(r) + 2^{n-1} - 1) = \dots = \rho(2\mathbf{w}_{n} + 1) = \mathbf{w}_{n}(r).$

Consider the component $F_K : D \to A$ of F for some fixed $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. If $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n)$ are the coordinates of \mathbb{C}^n , then F_K is even w.r.t. z_h if $h \notin K$ and it is odd w.r.t. z_h if $h \in K$. By (34), $\rho^n(r)$ is non-negative, because $\rho^n(r) \ge \mathbf{w}_n(r) \ge 0$. Since F_K is of class \mathscr{C}^r and $\rho^n(r) \ge 0$, we can apply to F_K the representation results of Whitney for even-odd function along each variables z_1, \ldots, z_n , see [24] especially Remark at page 160. In this way, if $W_n : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{C}^n$ is the \mathscr{C}^{ω} map given by $W_n(\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) := (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1^2, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n^2)$, then we obtain an open neighborhood U of $W_n(D)$ in \mathbb{C}^n and a $\mathscr{C}^{\rho^n(r)}$ map $F'_K : U \to A$ such that $F_K(z) = \beta_K F'_K(W_n(z))$ for all $z \in D$, where $\beta_{\emptyset} := 1$. Using (34) again, we know that each function F'_k is also of class $\mathscr{C}^{\mathbf{w}_n(r)}$. Note that $w_n(\Omega_D) \subset W_n(D) \subset U$. Consequently, the set $V := (w_n)^{-1}(U)$ is an open neighborhood of Ω_D in A^n . Define the function $\hat{f} : V \to A$ by setting

$$\hat{f}(x) := \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [\operatorname{Im}_{K}(x), F'_{K}(w_{n}(x))].$$

The function \hat{f} is of class $\mathscr{C}^{\mathbf{w}_n(r)}$ and extends f to the whole V. As a consequence, f belongs to $\mathscr{C}^{\mathbf{w}_n(r)}$, as desired. The proof in the case $r \in \{\infty, \omega\}$ is similar, but easier because the F'_K 's have the same \mathscr{C}^r regularity of F_K .

Remark 2.27 (i) In the statement of point (i) of the preceding result, we cannot omit the compactness condition on \mathbb{S}_A , also in the one variable case. In Proposition 7(1) of [9] the compactness hypothesis is missing. Let A be the Clifford algebra $\mathcal{C}\ell_{1,1} = \mathbb{S}\mathbb{H}$ of split-quaternions, equipped with the Clifford conjugation (see Sects. 3.2.1 and 3.2.2 of [17]). Given any element $x = x_0 + x_1e_1 + x_2e_2 + x_12e_{12}$ of $\mathbb{S}\mathbb{H}$ with $x_0, x_1, x_2, x_{12} \in \mathbb{R}$, we have that $t(x) = 2x_0$ and $n(x) = x_0^2 - x_1^2 + x_2^2 - x_{12}^2$. It follows that \mathbb{S}_A is the 2-hyperboloid of $A \simeq \mathbb{R}^4$ given by the equations $x_0 = 0 = x_2^2 - x_1^2 - x_{12}^2 - 1$ and Q_A is the union of \mathbb{R} and the open cone $x_2^2 - x_1^2 - x_{12}^2 > 0$. Note that \mathbb{S}_A is not compact. Consider the continuous stem function $F : \mathbb{C} \to A \otimes \mathbb{C}$ defined by $F(\alpha + i\beta) := i|\beta|^{\frac{1}{2}} \operatorname{sgn}(\beta)$, where $\operatorname{sgn}(\beta)$ is equal to 1 if $\beta > 0, -1$ if $\beta < 0$ and 0 if $\beta = 0$. If $f : Q_A \to A$ is the one variable slice function induced

by *F*, then f(x) = 0 for all $x \in \mathbb{R}$, and $f(x) = (x_2^2 - x_1^2 - x_{12}^2)^{-\frac{1}{4}}(x_1e_1 + x_2e_2 + x_{12}e_{12})$ for all $x \in Q_A \setminus \mathbb{R}$. Let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$ and, for each t > 0, let y_t be the point of $Q_A \setminus \mathbb{R}$ defined by $y_t := \alpha + te_1 + (t + t^4)e_2$. Since $f(y_t) = t^{-\frac{1}{4}}(2 + t^3)^{-\frac{1}{4}}(e_1 + (1 + t^3)e_2)$ for all t > 0, we have that $\lim_{t \to 0^+} y_t = \alpha$ and $\lim_{t \to 0^+} t^{\frac{1}{4}}f(y_t) = 2^{-\frac{1}{4}}(e_1 + e_2) \neq 0$. This proves that f is not continuous at α .

(ii) A by-product of the preceding proof is that, if D is open in \mathbb{C}^n , then $\mathcal{S}^r(\Omega_D, A) \subset \mathscr{C}^{\rho^n(r)}(\Omega_D, A)$ for all $r \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\rho^n(r) \ge 0$.

(iii) Thanks to the preceding proof, it is also quite evident that, if $\Omega_D \cap \mathbb{R}_{\bullet} = \emptyset$, then $S^r(\Omega_D, A) \subset \mathscr{C}^r(\Omega_D, A)$ for all $r \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty, \omega\}$.

2.5 Multiplicative structures on slice functions and polynomials

Let us introduce the concept of symmetric difference algebra, or \triangle -algebra for short.

Definition 2.28 Given a bilinear map $b : \mathbb{R}^{2^n} \times \mathbb{R}^{2^n} \to \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, we say that b is a *symmetric* difference product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , or a Δ -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} for short, if there exists a function $\sigma : \mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n) \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\sigma(K, \emptyset) = \sigma(\emptyset, K) = 1 \text{ for all } K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$$
(35)

and

$$b(e_K, e_H) = e_{K \triangle H} \sigma(K, H) \text{ for all } K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n).$$
(36)

If this is the case, we say that the \triangle -product b is *induced by* σ , and we write $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$. For simplicity, we use also the symbol $v \cdot_{\sigma} w$ in place of b(v, w) and, if there is no possibility of confusion, we omit \cdot_{σ} writing simply vw.

Let *P* be a real vector space, equipped with a product $p : P \times P \to P$ making *P* a real algebra. We say that the real algebra (P, p) is a *symmetric difference algebra*, or a \triangle -algebra for short, if it is isomorphic to some \mathbb{R}^{2^n} equipped with a \triangle -product.

Evidently, each \triangle -product is induced by a unique function σ , and each function σ : $\mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n) \to \mathbb{R}$ satisfying (35) defines a \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} . By Assumption 2.1, (35) and (36), we have that $e_{\emptyset} = 1$ is the unity of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , and $e_K^2 = \sigma(K, K) \in \mathbb{R}$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$; consequently, a necessary condition for a 2^n -dimensional real algebra to be a \triangle -algebra is that it has a unity e and a vector basis $\{v_K\}_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)}$ such that, for each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, v_K^2 belongs to the vector subspace of A generated by e.

As we will see in the next remark, the notion of \triangle -product includes several important classical products on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} . Moreover, all the real algebras with unity of dimension 1 and 2 are \triangle -algebras. On the contrary, for each $n \ge 2$, there exist 2^n -dimensional real algebras with unity which are not \triangle -algebras.

Examples 2.29 (1) Each real Clifford algebra $C\ell(p, q)$ is a \triangle -algebra, including quaternions $\mathbb{H} = C\ell(0, 2)$. When n = 3, another example of associative \triangle -algebra is the one of dual quaternions, see [13] for the definition. The algebra \mathbb{O} of octonions and the algebra \mathbb{SO} of split-octonions are examples of non-associative \triangle -algebras, see [13].

(2) Up to isomorphism, the unique real algebra with unity of dimension 1 is \mathbb{R} , which is a \triangle -algebra. All the real algebras with unity of dimension 2 are \triangle -algebras as well. Suppose that \mathbb{R}^2 is equipped with a product such that 1 is its neutral element and $e_1^2 = \alpha + \beta e_1$ for some $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$. Define $v := \beta - 2e_1$. Since $v^2 = 4\alpha + \beta^2$ belongs to \mathbb{R} and $\{1, v\}$ is a vector basis

of \mathbb{R}^2 , it follows that \mathbb{R}^2 equipped with such a product is isomorphic to \mathbb{R}^2 equipped with the \triangle -product induced by the function $\sigma : \mathcal{P}(1) \times \mathcal{P}(1) \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\sigma(\{1\}, \{1\}) = 4\alpha + \beta^2$.

Let $n \ge 2$. Consider the product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} such that $e_{\emptyset} = 1$ is its neutral element, $e_K e_H = 0$ if $K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $K \ne H$, and $e_K^2 = -\frac{2}{2^n - 1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} e_H$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$. If $v = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K a_K$ is a generic element of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} then

$$v^2 = a_{\emptyset}^2 + \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} e_K \left(2a_{\emptyset}a_K - \frac{2}{2^n - 1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}} a_H^2 \right).$$

By simple computations, we see that $v^2 \in \mathbb{R}$ if and only if either $v \in \mathbb{R}$ or $v = \lambda \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K$ for some $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. It follows that there exist at most two linearly independent vectors of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} whose squares are real. Consequently, \mathbb{R}^{2^n} equipped with the mentioned product is not a Δ -algebra.

Other very interesting examples of \triangle -algebras can be constructed via tensor products.

Examples 2.30 Let $n, m \in \mathbb{N}^*$. Denote $\{e'_K\}_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)}$ the fixed real vector basis of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , and $\{e''_H\}_{H \in \mathcal{P}(m)}$ the fixed real vector basis of \mathbb{R}^{2^m} . Recall that $e'_{\emptyset} = 1 \in \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ and $e''_{\emptyset} = 1 \in \mathbb{R}^{2^m}$. Given any $L \in \mathcal{P}(n+m)$, define $L_m \in \mathcal{P}(m)$ and $L_m^* \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ by setting $L_m := L \cap \{1, \ldots, m\}$ and $L_m^* := \{l \in \mathbb{N}^* : l + m \in L\}$. Write the elements x of $\mathbb{R}^{2^n} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^m}$ as follows:

$$x = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(m)} e''_H(\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e'_K r_{H,K}) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(m), K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e''_H e''_K r_{H,K}$$

for $r_{H,K} \in \mathbb{R}$, where $e''_H e'_K := e'_K \otimes e''_H$. Identify $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n+m}}$ with $\mathbb{R}^{2^n} \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^m}$ and define the real vector basis $\{e_L\}_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n+m)}$ of $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n+m}}$ by $e_L := e''_{L_m} e'_{L_m^*}$. In this way, we can write $x = \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n+m)} e_L r_L$, where $r_L := r_{L_m, L_m^*}$.

Choose a \triangle -product $\mathbf{b} = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} and a \triangle -product $\mathbf{c} = \mathcal{B}(\tau)$ on \mathbb{R}^{2^m} . Define the function $\sigma \otimes \tau : \mathcal{P}(n+m) \times \mathcal{P}(n+m) \to \mathbb{R}$ and the \triangle -product $\mathbf{b} \otimes \mathbf{c}$ on $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n+m}}$ as follows:

$$(\sigma \otimes \tau)(L, M) := \sigma(L_m^*, M_m^*)\tau(L_m, M_m), \tag{37}$$

$$\mathbf{b} \otimes \mathbf{c} := \mathcal{B}(\sigma \otimes \tau). \tag{38}$$

We call $(\mathbb{R}^{2^{n+m}}, b \otimes c)$ tensor product of the \triangle -algebras (\mathbb{R}^{2^n}, b) and (\mathbb{R}^{2^m}, c) . Note that, given $L, M \in \mathcal{P}(n+m)$, it holds:

$$\begin{aligned} (e'_{L_m^*} \otimes e''_{L_m}) & \cdot_{\sigma \otimes \tau} (e'_{M_m^*} \otimes e''_{M_m}) \\ &= e_L \cdot_{\sigma \otimes \tau} e_M = e_{L \triangle M} \sigma(L_m^*, M_m^*) \tau(L_m, M_m) \\ &= (e'_{(L \triangle M)_m^*} \otimes e''_{(L \triangle M)_m}) \sigma(L_m^*, M_m^*) \tau(L_m, M_m) \\ &= (e'_{L_m^* \triangle M_m^*} \otimes e''_{L_m \triangle M_m}) \sigma(L_m^*, M_m^*) \tau(L_m, M_m) \\ &= (e'_{L_m^* \triangle M_m^*} \sigma(L_m^*, M_m^*)) \otimes (e''_{L_m \triangle M_m} \tau(L_m, M_m)) \\ &= (e'_{L_m^*} \cdot_{\sigma} e'_{M_m^*}) \otimes (e''_{L_m} \cdot_{\tau} e''_{M_m}). \end{aligned}$$

Note that the real algebra \mathbb{C} of complex numbers coincides with \mathbb{R}^2 equipped with the \triangle -product $\eta : \mathcal{P}(1) \times \mathcal{P}(1) \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $\eta(\{1\}, \{1\}) := -1$.

Definition 2.31 Given any $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$, we denote $\sigma_{\otimes}^n : \mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n) \to \mathbb{R}$ the *n*-times iterated tensor product of $\eta : \mathcal{P}(1) \times \mathcal{P}(1) \to \mathbb{R}$ with itself, i.e. $\sigma_{\otimes}^1 := \eta$ and $\sigma_{\otimes}^n := \sigma_{\otimes}^{n-1} \otimes \eta$ if $n \ge 2$. We say that $\mathbf{b}_{\otimes}^n := \mathcal{B}(\sigma_{\otimes}^n)$ is the *tensor product* on $\mathbb{C}^{\otimes n} = \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, and $\mathbb{C}^{\otimes n}$ equipped with \mathbf{b}_{\otimes}^n is the *n*th-*tensor power* of \mathbb{C} .

🖉 Springer

Lemma 2.32 For all $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$ and for all $K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, it holds $\sigma_{\otimes}^n(K, H) = (-1)^{|K \cap H|}$. In particular, the n^{th} -tensor power $\mathbb{C}^{\otimes n}$ of \mathbb{C} is commutative and associative.

Proof Let us prove this assertion by induction on $n \in \mathbb{N}^*$. The case n = 1 is evident, because $\sigma_{\otimes}^1 = \eta$ and η has the required property. Let $n \ge 2$. By induction, there exists a real vector basis $\{e_{H'}\}_{H'\in\mathcal{P}(n-1)}$ of $\mathbb{R}^{2^{n-1}}$ such that $\sigma_{\otimes}^{n-1}(K', H') = (-1)^{|K'\cap H'|}$ for all $K', H' \in \mathcal{P}(n-1)$. By (37), we have that $\sigma_{\otimes}^n(K, H) = \sigma_{\otimes}^{n-1}(K_1^*, H_1^*)\eta(K_1, L_1) = (-1)^{|K_1^*\cap H_1^*|+|K_1\cap L_1|}$. Since $K_1^* \cap H_1^* = (K \cap H)_1^*$ and $K_1 \cap H_1 = (K \cap H)_1$, we easily deduce that $|K_1^* \cap H_1^*| + |K_1 \cap L_1| = |K \cap H|$, as desired.

Assumption 2.33 Throughout the remaining part of this section, we equip \mathbb{R}^{2^n} with a \triangle -product $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$, and the tensor product $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ with the following product extending b:

$$\left(\sum_{H\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_{H}a_{H}\right)\cdot_{\sigma}\left(\sum_{L\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_{L}b_{L}\right):=\sum_{H,L\in\mathcal{P}(n)}(e_{H}\cdot_{\sigma}e_{L})(a_{H}b_{L}),\tag{39}$$

where $a_H b_L$ is the product of a_H and b_L in A. For simplicity, for each $\xi, \eta \in A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, we also write $\xi \eta$ in place of $\xi \cdot_{\sigma} \eta$.

Note that if, for each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, $\mathcal{D}(K)$ denotes the set

$$\mathscr{D}(K) := \{ (K_1, K_2, K_3) \in \mathcal{P}(n)^3 : K_1 \cap K_2 = \emptyset, K_1 \cup K_2 = K, K \cap K_3 = \emptyset \},\$$

then $\left(\sum_{H\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_Ha_H\right)\left(\sum_{L\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_Lb_L\right) = \sum_{K\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_Kc_K$, where

$$c_K = \sum_{(K_1, K_2, K_3) \in \mathscr{D}(K)} a_{K_1 \cup K_3} b_{K_2 \cup K_3} \sigma(K_1 \cup K_3, K_2 \cup K_3).$$
(40)

Indeed, we have:

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{H,L\in\mathcal{P}(n)}(e_He_L)(a_Hb_L) = \sum_{H,L\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_{H\Delta L}a_Hb_L\sigma(H,L) \\ &= \sum_{K\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_K\sum_{(K_1,K_2,K_3)\in\mathscr{D}(K)}a_{K_1\cup K_3}b_{K_2\cup K_3}\sigma(K_1\cup K_3,K_2\cup K_3). \end{split}$$

In general the pointwise product of two slice functions is not a slice function. For instance, if n = 1 and $f, g : \mathbb{H} \to \mathbb{H}$ are the slice functions defined by $f \equiv i$ and g(x) = x, then (fg)(x) = ix is not slice. Otherwise, by Proposition 2.9 and Corollary 2.13, it would follow that (fg)(x) = xi for all $x \in \mathbb{H}$, which is impossible being $(fg)(j) = ji \neq ij$. On the contrary, the pointwise product of two stem functions is still a stem function.

Lemma 2.34 Let $F, G : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be stem functions and let $F \cdot_{\sigma} G : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be the pointwise product of F and G w.r.t. $\mathfrak{b} = \mathfrak{B}(\sigma)$, that is $(F \cdot_{\sigma} G)(z) := F(z) \cdot_{\sigma} G(z)$ for all $z \in D$. Then $F \cdot_{\sigma} G$ is still a stem function.

Proof Write FG in place of $F \cdot_{\sigma} G$, for short. By (40), if $F = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_H F_H$, $G = \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_L G_L$ and $FG = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K (FG)_K$, then

$$(FG)_{K} = \sum_{(K_{1}, K_{2}, K_{3}) \in \mathscr{D}(K)} F_{K_{1} \cup K_{3}} G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}} \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}).$$

Choose $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $z \in D$. Note that, for each $(K_1, K_2, K_3) \in \mathcal{D}(K)$, the integers $|(K_1 \cup K_3) \cap \{h\}| + |(K_2 \cup K_3) \cap \{h\}|$ and $|K \cap \{h\}|$ have the same parity. Consequently, we have

$$\begin{split} (FG)_{K}(\overline{z}^{h}) &= \sum_{(K_{1},K_{2},K_{3})\in\mathscr{D}(K)} F_{K_{1}\cup K_{3}}(\overline{z}^{h}) \, G_{K_{2}\cup K_{3}}(\overline{z}^{h}) \, \sigma(K_{1}\cup K_{3},K_{2}\cup K_{3}) \\ &= (-1)^{|K\cap\{h\}|} \sum_{(K_{1},K_{2},K_{3})\in\mathscr{D}(K)} F_{K_{1}\cup K_{3}}(z) \, G_{K_{2}\cup K_{3}}(z) \times \\ &\times \sigma(K_{1}\cup K_{3},K_{2}\cup K_{3}) = (-1)^{|K\cap\{h\}|} (FG)_{K}(z), \end{split}$$

so FG is a stem function, as desired.

Thanks to the latter lemma, we can define a product on the class of slice functions.

Definition 2.35 Let $f, g: \Omega_D \to A$ be slice functions with $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$ and $g = \mathcal{I}(G)$. We define the *slice product* $f \cdot_{\sigma} g: \Omega_D \to A$ of f and g by $f \cdot_{\sigma} g := \mathcal{I}(F \cdot_{\sigma} G)$. Moreover, we say that the slice product $f \cdot g = f \cdot_{\sigma} g$ is *induced by* b, or *by* σ . If there is no possibility of confusion, we simply write FG and $f \cdot g$ in place of $F \cdot_{\sigma} G$ and $f \cdot_{\sigma} g$, respectively. \Box

We specialize the preceding definition as follows.

Definition 2.36 We call *slice tensor product* on $S(\Omega_D, A)$ the product on $S(\Omega_D, A)$ induced by the tensor product $b^n_{\otimes} = \mathcal{B}(\sigma^n_{\otimes})$. Given $f, g \in S(\Omega_D, A)$, we say that $f \cdot_{\sigma^n_{\otimes}} g$ is the *slice tensor product* of f and g.

Assumption 2.37 In what follows, we use the symbol ' \odot ' to denote ' $\cdot_{\sigma_{\infty}^{n}}$ '.

Corollary 2.15 imply at once the following fact.

Corollary 2.38 The pairs (Stem $(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}), \cdot_{\sigma}$) and $(S(\Omega_D, A), \cdot_{\sigma})$ are real algebras, and \mathcal{I} is a real algebra isomorphism between them.

Let us introduce the concepts of slice polynomial functions associated with $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$, and of hypercomplex \triangle -product.

Definition 2.39 Let $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ be a \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} . Given any $k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and $m \in \mathbb{N}$, we define the slice function $x_k^{\circ m} : (Q_A)^n \to A$ as the function constantly equal to 1 if m = 0, as the k^{th} -coordinate function $x_k : (Q_A)^n \to A$ if m = 1 and as the *m*-times iterated slice product of $x_k : (Q_A)^n \to A$ with itself w.r.t. b if $m \ge 2$, i.e. $x_k^{\circ 0} :\equiv 1$ and $x_k^{\circ m} := x_k^{\circ m-1} \cdot_{\sigma} x_k$ if $m \ge 1$. We say that a function $P : (Q_A)^n \to A$ is *slice monomial w.r.t.* b, or *w.r.t.* σ , if there exist $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}$ and $a \in A$ such that

$$P = x_1^{\bullet \ell_1} \cdot_\sigma (x_2^{\bullet \ell_2} \cdots (x_{m-1}^{\bullet \ell_{m-1}} \cdot_\sigma (x_m^{\bullet \ell_m} \cdot_\sigma a)) \ldots),$$

where $a \in A$ is identified with the slice function from $(Q_A)^n$ to A constantly equal to a. If *P* has this form and there is no possibility of confusion, then we denote *P* as $x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot a$. We call *P* : $(Q_A)^n \to A$ a *slice polynomial function w.r.t.* b, or *w.r.t.* σ if it is a finite sum of slice monomial functions w.r.t. b, or w.r.t. σ .

The restriction of a slice monomial (respectively polynomial) function w.r.t. b, or w.r.t. σ , to Ω_D is said to be a *slice monomial* (respectively *polynomial*) on Ω_D w.r.t. b, or w.r.t. σ .

Definition 2.40 We say that the \triangle -product $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} is hypercomplex if it satisfies the following two conditions:

$$e_k^2 = -1 \tag{41}$$

for all $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$, and

$$e_K = e_{k_1}(e_{k_2}\cdots(e_{k_{s-1}}e_{k_s})\dots)$$
(42)

for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $K = \{k_1, \ldots, k_s\}$ and $k_1 < \cdots < k_s$, which are equivalent to $\sigma(\{k\}, \{k\}) = -1$ and $\sigma(\{k_1\}, \{k_2, \ldots, k_s\}) \cdots \sigma(\{k_{s-2}\}, \{k_{s-1}, k_s\})\sigma(\{k_{s-1}\}, \{k_s\}) = 1$, respectively. We say that a real algebra is a *hypercomplex* \triangle -algebra if it is isomorphic to some \mathbb{R}^{2^n} equipped with a hypercomplex \triangle -product.

Examples 2.41 The real algebras $\mathbb{C}^{\otimes n}$, $\mathbb{R}_q = C\ell(0, q)$ and all their finite tensor products are hypercomplex \triangle -algebras. The real algebra $\mathbb{C} = \mathbb{C}^{\otimes 1} = \mathbb{R}_1$ of complex numbers is the unique hypercomplex \triangle -algebra of dimension 2. The Clifford algebra $C\ell(1, 0)$ is an example of \triangle -algebra, which is not hypercomplex; indeed it has no imaginary units. A natural question is to understand whether the \triangle -algebra $C\ell(p, q)$ is hypercomplex when $p \ge 1$. This problem seems to be not so easy to settle. We recall several relations existing among Clifford algebras; for instance, $C\ell(4, q - 4)$ and \mathbb{R}_q are isomorphic if $q \ge 4$, see [19, §16.4].

Lemma 2.42 The unique hypercomplex, commutative and associative \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} is the tensor product b^n_{\otimes} .

Proof By Lemma 2.32, we know that b_{\otimes}^n is hypercomplex, commutative and associative. Suppose $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ is a \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} which is hypercomplex, commutative and associative. By (42), the commutativity and the associativity, we have that $e_K \cdot_{\sigma} e_H = e_{K \triangle H} \cdot_{\sigma} e_{\ell_1}^2 \cdot_{\sigma} \cdots \cdot_{\sigma} e_{\ell_q}^2$, where ℓ_1, \ldots, ℓ_q are the elements of $K \cap H$ if $K \cap H \neq \emptyset$, and $e_{\ell_1}^2 \cdot_{\sigma} \cdots \cdot_{\sigma} e_{\ell_q}^2$ is omitted if $K \cap H = \emptyset$. Using (41) and Lemma 2.32 again, we deduce that $e_K \cdot_{\sigma} e_H = e_{K \triangle H} (-1)^{|K \cap H|}$ and $b = b_{\otimes}^n$.

The next result describes the 'algebraic relevance' of hypercomplex \triangle -algebras in the context of slice functions. It asserts that, if the \triangle -product $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ is hypercomplex, then the notions of polynomial function, pointwise defined in Definition 2.7, and of slice polynomial function defined in Definition 2.39 coincide.

Lemma 2.43 If the \triangle -product b on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} is hypercomplex (for instance, $\mathbf{b} = \mathbf{b}_{\otimes}^n$), then a function $f : \Omega_D \to A$ is polynomial if and only if it is slice polynomial w.r.t. b. More precisely, if $f(x) = \sum_{\ell \in L} x^{\ell} a_{\ell}$ for some finite subset L of \mathbb{N}^n and $a_{\ell} \in A$, then $f = \sum_{\ell \in L} x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot a_{\ell}$ on Ω_D .

Proof Let $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and let $F^{(\ell)} : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be the stem function inducing $x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot a_{\ell}$. Given $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, denote $G^{(h)} : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ the stem function inducing $x_h^{\bullet \ell_h} : \Omega_D \to A$. Let $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$, and let p_{ℓ_h} and q_{ℓ_h} be the real polynomials defined in Definition 2.8. Since b satisfies (41) and (42), we have that $G^{(h)}(z) = p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) + e_h q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h)$ and

$$F^{(\ell)}(z) = [(G^{(h)}(z))_{h=1}^n, a_\ell] = [(p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) + e_h q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h))_{h=1}^n, a_\ell]$$

= $\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \left(\prod_{h \in \{1, \dots, n\} \setminus K} p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) \right) [(e_h q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h))_{h \in K}, a_\ell]$
= $\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K \left(\left(\prod_{h \in \{1, \dots, n\} \setminus K} p_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) \right) \left(\prod_{h \in K} q_{\ell_h}(\alpha_h, \beta_h) \right) a_\ell \right).$

By Proposition 2.9, it follows that $x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot a_{\ell} = \mathcal{I}(F^{(\ell)}) = x^{\ell}a_{\ell}$. Consequently, $f = \sum_{\ell \in L} x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot a_{\ell}$.

2.6 \mathbb{C}_J -slice preserving, slice preserving and circular functions

Definition 2.44 Given any function $f : \Omega_D \to A$ and $J \in S_A$, we denote $\Omega_D(J)$ the intersection $\Omega_D \cap (\mathbb{C}_J)^n$, and $f_J : \Omega_D(J) \to A$ the restriction of f to $\Omega_D(J)$.

Definition 2.45 Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a function. Given $J \in S_A$, we say that f is a \mathbb{C}_J -slice preserving function if f is a slice function and $f(\Omega_D(J)) \subset \mathbb{C}_J$. We denote $S_{\mathbb{C}_J}(\Omega_D, A)$ the subset of $S(\Omega_D, A)$ of all \mathbb{C}_J -slice preserving functions from Ω_D to A.

We say that *f* is *slice preserving* if it is a slice function and the stem function $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ inducing *f* has the following property: each component F_K of *F* is realvalued, that is $F_K(D) \subset \mathbb{R}$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. We denote $S_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A)$ the subset of $S(\Omega_D, A)$ of all slice preserving functions from Ω_D to *A*.

Lemma 2.46 Let $F : \Omega_D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a stem function with $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ and let $f := \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to A$ be the corresponding slice function. The following assertions hold.

(i) Given $J \in S_A$, f belongs to $S_{\mathbb{C}_J}(\Omega_D, A)$ if and only if $F_K(D) \subset \mathbb{C}_J$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. (ii) Suppose that there exist $I, J \in S_A$ such that $I \neq \pm J$. Then f is slice preserving if and only if it is \mathbb{C}_K -slice preserving for $K \in \{I, J\}$, or equivalently $S_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A) = \bigcap_{K \in S_A} S_{\mathbb{C}_K}(\Omega_D, A)$.

Proof Since \mathbb{C}_J is a real subalgebra of A, if $F_K(D) \subset \mathbb{C}_J$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, then Definition 2.5 implies at once that $f(\Omega_D(J)) \subset \mathbb{C}_J$. Suppose now $f(\Omega_D(J)) \subset \mathbb{C}_J$ and apply formula (8) to f with $I_1 = \ldots = I_n = J$. We obtain immediately that $F_K(D) \subset \mathbb{C}_J$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. This proves (i). Let us show (ii). Recall that $\mathbb{R} \subset \mathbb{C}_J$ for all $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$. As a consequence, the preceding point (i) implies that $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A) \subset \bigcap_{K \in \mathbb{S}_A} \mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}_K}(\Omega_D, A)$. Finally, if $f \in \mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}_I}(\Omega_D, A) \cap \mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}_J}(\Omega_D, A)$, then using again above point (i) we deduce that $F_K(D) \subset \mathbb{C}_I \cap \mathbb{C}_J$. Thanks to the Independence Lemma [3, p. 224], we know that $\mathbb{C}_I \cap \mathbb{C}_J = \mathbb{R}$, and we are done.

Since each plane \mathbb{C}_J is a real subalgebra of *A*, it follows at once:

Lemma 2.47 Let $\mathbf{b} = \mathbb{B}(\sigma)$ be any \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} and let $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$. The sets $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A)$ and $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}_I}(\Omega_D, A)$ are real subalgebras of $(\mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A), \cdot_{\sigma})$.

The next result concerns the relation between slice tensor and pointwise products. Given two functions $f, g: \Omega_D \to A$, we indicate $fg: \Omega_D \to A$ the pointwise product of f and g, i.e. (fg)(x) := f(x)g(x) for all $x \in \Omega_D$, where f(x)g(x) is the product of f(x) and g(x) in A.

Proposition 2.48 Let $f, g \in S_{\mathbb{C}_J}(\Omega_D, A)$ for some $J \in S_A$, and let $a \in A$. Identify a with the function from Ω_D (or from $\Omega_D(J)$) to A constantly equal to a. The following holds:

(i) $(f \odot (g \odot a))(x) = f(x)g(x)a$ for all $x \in \Omega_D(J)$. Equivalently, $(f \odot (g \odot a))_J = f_Jg_Ja$.

(ii) $f \odot (g \odot a) = (f \odot g) \odot a$ on the whole Ω_D .

Proof First note that (i) implies (ii). Indeed, applying (i) twice (with a = 1 and $g \equiv 1$), Lemma 2.47 and Artin's theorem, one obtains $(f \odot g)_J = f_J g_J$ and $((f \odot g) \odot a)_J = (f \odot g)_J a = f_J g_J a = (f \odot (g \odot a))_J$. Corollary 2.13 implies (ii). Let us prove (i). Let $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ and $G = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_H G_H$ be the stem functions inducing f and g, respectively. Let $C = \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_L C_L : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be the stem function constantly equal to a, i.e. $C_{\emptyset} = a$ on D and $C_L = 0$ on D for all $L \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$. Evidently, $\mathcal{I}(C) = a$. Consider $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$ and $x = (\alpha_1 + J\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + J\beta_n) \in \Omega_D(J)$. Let $J := (J, \dots, J) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$. By Lemma 2.32, we have that

$$F \odot (G \odot C) = \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_{K \triangle H} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} F_K(G_H a).$$

Lemma 2.46(i) implies that $F_K(z)$, $G_H(z) \in \mathbb{C}_J$, so the elements $F_K(z)$, $G_H(z)$ and J of A commute and associate. By Artin's theorem, it follows that

🖄 Springer

$$(f \odot (g \odot a))(x) = \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_{K \triangle H}, (-1)^{|K \cap H|} F_K(z) G_H(z)a]$$

$$= \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|K \triangle H|} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} F_K(z) G_H(z)a$$

$$= \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|K \triangle H|} J^{2|K \cap H|} F_K(z) G_H(z)a$$

$$= \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|K| + |H|} F_K(z) G_H(z)a$$

$$= (\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|K|} F_K(z)) (\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|} G_H(z))a = f(x)g(x)a.$$

The proof is complete.

Lemma 2.49 Let $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ be a commutative and associative \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} (for instance $b = b^n_{\otimes}$). Then the set $S_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A)$ is contained in the center of $(S(\Omega_D, A), \cdot_{\sigma})$.

Proof Let $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$, $G = \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_L G_L$ and $H = \sum_{M \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_M H_M$ be stem functions on D such that each F_K is real-valued. Bearing in mind the latter condition and the fact that ' \cdot_{σ} ' is commutative and associative, we obtain:

$$FG = \sum_{K,L\in\mathcal{P}(n)} e_K \cdot_{\sigma} e_L F_K G_L = \sum_{L,K\in\mathcal{P}(n)} e_L \cdot_{\sigma} e_K G_L F_K = GF,$$

$$(FG)H = \sum_{K,L,M\in\mathcal{P}(n)} e_K \cdot_{\sigma} e_L \cdot_{\sigma} e_M (F_K G_L) H_M$$

$$= \sum_{K,L,M\in\mathcal{P}(n)} e_K \cdot_{\sigma} e_L \cdot_{\sigma} e_M F_K (G_L H_M) = F(GH).$$

Similar considerations prove also that (GF)H = G(FH) and (GH)F = G(HF).

In [9, Remark 7] we proved that, if n = 1, $f \in S_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A)$ and $g \in S(\Omega_D, A)$, then $f \odot g = fg$ on the whole Ω_D . Remark 2.14 shows that in general the latter equality is false for $n \ge 2$; indeed, the coordinate functions x_2 and x_1 belong to $S_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{H}^n, \mathbb{H})$, but x_2x_1 is not slice on \mathbb{H}^n .

Our next results give some generalizations to several variables of the mentioned result contained in [9, Remark 7]. First, we need a definition.

Definition 2.50 Let $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a stem function, let $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to A$ be the slice function induced by F and let $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. We say that F is *H*-reduced if $F_K = 0$ on D for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $K \not\subset H$. If F is *H*-reduced then we say also that f is *H*-reduced. If $H = \{h\}$ for some $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, then we use the term *h*-reduced meaning $\{h\}$ -reduced. We say that f is *circular* if it is \emptyset -reduced, namely if F is *A*-valued. Denote $\mathcal{S}_c(\Omega_D, A)$ the subset of $\mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$ formed by all circular functions. \Box

Lemma 2.51 Let $b = B(\sigma)$ be any \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} . Then, it holds:

(i) The set S_c(Ω_D, A) is a real subalgebra of (S(Ω_D, A), ·_σ). Furthermore, if f, g ∈ S_c(Ω_D, A), then f ·_σ g = fg on Ω_D.
(ii) If f ∈ S_ℝ(Ω_D, A) ∩ S_c(Ω_D, A) and g ∈ S(Ω_D, A), then f ·_σ g = fg on Ω_D.
(iii) If A is associative, f ∈ S(Ω_D, A) and g ∈ S_c(Ω_D, A), then f ·_σ g = fg on Ω_D.

Proof Let *F* and *G* be the stem functions inducing *f* and *g*, respectively. Point (i) follows immediately from the fact that, for all $z \in D$, $(F \cdot_{\sigma} G)(z)$ is equal to the product of $F_{\emptyset}(z)$ and $G_{\emptyset}(z)$ in *A*. Let us prove (ii). In this case $F = F_{\emptyset}$ is real-valued, $G = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K G_K$ is generic and

$$(f \cdot_{\sigma} g)(x) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_K, F_{\emptyset}(z)G_K(z)] = F_{\emptyset}(z) \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_K, G_K(z)] = f(x)g(x),$$

as desired. If A is associative and $G = G_{\emptyset}$, we can write

 $(f \cdot_{\sigma} g)(x) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_K, F_K(z)G_{\emptyset}(z)] = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} [J_K, F_K(z)]G_{\emptyset}(z) = f(x)g(x),$ and (iii) is proved.

Proposition 2.52 Let $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ be an associative and hypercomplex Δ -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} (for instance $b = b^n_{\otimes}$), let $f \in S_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A)$ and let $g \in S(\Omega_D, A)$. Suppose that there exist $\ell \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ such that f is ℓ -reduced, g is H-reduced and $\ell \leq h$ for all $h \in H$. Then $f \cdot_{\sigma} g = fg$ on Ω_D .

Proof Denote $F, G \in \text{Stem}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n})$ the stem functions inducing f and g, respectively. Write $F = F_{\emptyset} + e_{\ell}F_{\ell}$ and $G = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H} e_K G_K$. Here F_{ℓ} denotes $F_{\{\ell\}}$. Let $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$ and let $x = (\alpha_1 + J_1\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + J_n\beta_n)$ for some $J = (J_1, \ldots, J_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$. By hypothesis, we know that $F_{\emptyset}(z), F_{\ell}(z) \in \mathbb{R}$. Since $\ell \leq h$ for all $h \in H$, given any $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $K \subset H$, we have that:

- $e_{\ell} \cdot_{\sigma} e_K = e_{K \cup \{\ell\}}$ and $[J_{K \cup \{\ell\}}, G_K(z)] = J_{\ell}[J_K, G_K(z)]$ if $\ell \notin K$,
- $e_{\ell} \cdot_{\sigma} e_K = -e_{K \setminus \{\ell\}}$ and, thanks to Artin's theorem, $[J_{K \setminus \{\ell\}}, G_K(z)] = -J_{\ell}[J_K, G_K(z)]$ if $\ell \in K$.

In particular, it holds:

$$\begin{split} (f \cdot_{\sigma} g)(x) &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H} [J_K, F_{\emptyset}(z)G_K(z)] \\ &+ \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H, \ell \notin K} [J_{K \cup \{\ell\}}, F_{\ell}(z)G_K(z)] \\ &+ \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H, \ell \in K} (-[J_K \setminus \{\ell\}, F_{\ell}(z)G_K(z)]) \\ &= F_{\emptyset}(z) \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H} [J_K, G_K(z)] \\ &+ J_{\ell}F_{\ell}(z) \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H, \ell \notin K} [J_K, G_K(z)] \\ &+ J_{\ell}F_{\ell}(z) \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H, \ell \in K} [J_K, G_K(z)] \\ &= (F_{\emptyset}(z) + J_{\ell}F_{\ell}(z)) (\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), K \subset H} [J_K, G_K(z)]) = f(x)g(x), \end{split}$$

as desired.

3 Slice regular functions

Assumption 3.1 Throughout this section, we assume that D is open in \mathbb{C}^n .

3.1 Complex structures on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$

Let $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a \mathscr{C}^1 function, i.e., suppose each $F_K : D \to A$ is of class \mathscr{C}^1 in the usual real sense. Given a family $\mathcal{J} = \{\mathcal{J}_h\}_{h=1}^n$ consisting of *n* complex structures on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, we say that a function *F* is *holomorphic w.r.t.* \mathcal{J} if, for all $z \in D$, it holds:

$$\frac{\partial F}{\partial \alpha_h}(z) + \mathcal{J}_h\left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \beta_h}(z)\right) = 0 \text{ for all } h \in \{1, \dots, n\},\tag{43}$$

where $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n)$ are the coordinates of \mathbb{C}^n , $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \alpha_h} = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K \frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \alpha_h}$ and $\frac{\partial F}{\partial \beta_h} = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K \frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \beta_h}$. For short, in what follows, we will often denote ∂_{α_h} and ∂_{β_h} the partial derivatives $\frac{\partial}{\partial \alpha_h}$ and $\frac{\partial}{\partial \beta_h}$, respectively.

Deringer

We are interested in finding all the families $\mathcal{J} = {\{\mathcal{J}_h\}}_{h=1}^n$ having the following two universal/algebraic properties:

Property 3.2 Each complex structure \mathcal{J}_h of $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ is the extension of a complex structure of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , which we call again \mathcal{J}_h , via tensor product in the sense that $\mathcal{J}_h(a \otimes x) = a \otimes \mathcal{J}_h(x)$ for all $a \in A$ and $x \in \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$. Equivalently, given any $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $a \in A$, if $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_H j_H^{(h,K)} \in \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, then $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K a) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_H (j_H^{(h,K)} a) \in A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$.

Property 3.3 All polynomial stem functions $F : \mathbb{C}^n \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ are holomorphic w.r.t. \mathcal{J} .

Note that, if we apply the latter property to the polynomial stem functions $\{(\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \mapsto \alpha_h + e_h\beta_h\}_{h=1}^n$, which induce the coordinate monomials $x_1, ..., x_n$, then we deduce that $1 + \mathcal{J}_h(e_h) = 0$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, which is equivalent to say that $\mathcal{J}_h(1) = e_h$ or $\mathcal{J}_h(e_h) = -1$.

Our next result shows that there exists a unique family \mathcal{J} with the mentioned two properties.

Proposition 3.4 There exists a unique family $\{\mathcal{J}_h : A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n} \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}\}_{h=1}^n$ of complex structures satisfying Properties 3.2 and 3.3. Each endomorphism \mathcal{J}_h is characterized by Property 3.2 and the following condition: for each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, it holds

$$\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} e_{K \triangle \{h\}}$$

$$\tag{44}$$

or, equivalently,

$$\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = \begin{cases} -e_{K \setminus \{h\}} & \text{if } h \in K \\ e_{K \cup \{h\}} & \text{if } h \notin K \end{cases}.$$
(45)

Proof Let us prove (45) by induction on the cardinality |K| of $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. If |K| = 0, then $K = \emptyset$ and we just know that $\mathcal{J}_h(e_{\emptyset}) = \mathcal{J}_h(1) = e_h$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, so (45) is verified.

Suppose $|K| \ge 1$. Let $K = \{k_1, \dots, k_s\}$ with $k_1 < \dots < k_s$ and let $F : \mathbb{C}^n \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be the monomial stem function inducing the monomial function $x_K := [(x_k)_{k \in K}]$. We have

$$F(z) = \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(K)} e_L(\alpha_{K \setminus L} \beta_L),$$

for all $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$, where $\mathcal{P}(K)$ denotes the set $\{L \in \mathcal{P}(n) : L \subset K\}$, $\alpha_{K \setminus L} := \prod_{h \in K \setminus L} \alpha_h$ and $\beta_L := \prod_{h \in L} \beta_h$, where $\alpha_{\emptyset} = \beta_{\emptyset} := 1$. Choose $h \in K$. It holds

$$\partial_{\alpha_h} F = \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(K), h \notin L} e_L(\alpha_{K \setminus (L \cup \{h\})} \beta_L)$$

moreover, thanks to Property 3.2 and the induction hypothesis, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_{h}(\partial_{\beta_{h}}F) &= \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(K), h \in L} \mathcal{J}_{h}(e_{L})(\alpha_{K \setminus L}\beta_{L \setminus \{h\}}) \\ &= \mathcal{J}_{h}(e_{K})\beta_{K \setminus \{h\}} + \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(K) \setminus \{K\}, h \in L} (-e_{L \setminus \{h\}})(\alpha_{K \setminus L}\beta_{L \setminus \{h\}}) \\ &= \mathcal{J}_{h}(e_{K})\beta_{K \setminus \{h\}} - \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(K), h \notin L, L \neq K \setminus \{h\}} e_{L}(\alpha_{K \setminus (L \cup \{h\})}\beta_{L}) \\ &= \mathcal{J}_{h}(e_{K})\beta_{K \setminus \{h\}} + e_{K \setminus \{h\}}\beta_{K \setminus \{h\}} - \partial_{\alpha_{h}}F. \end{aligned}$$

By Property 3.3, F is holomorphic w.r.t. \mathcal{J} , so

$$0 = \partial_{\alpha_h} F + \mathcal{J}_h(\partial_{\beta_h} F) = \mathcal{J}_h(e_K)\beta_{K\setminus\{h\}} + e_{K\setminus\{h\}}\beta_{K\setminus\{h\}}.$$

Consequently, $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = -e_{K \setminus \{h\}}$ as desired. If $h \notin K$, then the preceding equality implies that $\mathcal{J}_h(e_{K \cup \{h\}}) = -e_K$, so $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = \mathcal{J}_h(-\mathcal{J}_h(e_{K \cup \{h\}})) = e_{K \cup \{h\}}$. Equality (45) is proven.

It remains to show that the complex structures $\mathcal{J} = \{\mathcal{J}_1, \dots, \mathcal{J}_n\}$ on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ defined by Property 3.2 and equality (45) satisfies also Property 3.3. Equivalently, we have to prove that,

given any $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$, the monomial stem function *F* inducing x^{ℓ} is holomorphic w.r.t. \mathcal{J} . Given $k \in \mathbb{N}$, let $p_k, q_k \in \mathbb{R}[X, Y]$ be such that $(\alpha + i\beta)^k = p_k(\alpha, \beta) + iq_k(\alpha, \beta)$ for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$, as in Definition 2.8. By the Cauchy-Riemann equations, we have that $\partial_{\alpha} p_k = \partial_{\beta} q_k$ and $\partial_{\beta} p_k = -\partial_{\alpha} q_k$. For each $K = \{k_1, \ldots, k_s\} \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $k_1 < \ldots < k_s$, define the functions $p_K, q_K : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ by $p_K(z) := \prod_{k \in K} p_{\ell_k}(\alpha_k, \beta_k)$ and $q_K(z) := \prod_{k \in K} q_{\ell_k}(\alpha_k, \beta_k)$, where $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in \mathbb{C}^n$. Define also $p_{\emptyset} = q_{\emptyset} : \mathbb{C}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ as the function constantly equal to 1. Note that $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K p_{\{1,\ldots,n\} \setminus K} q_K$. Consequently, if $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, it holds:

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\alpha_h} F &= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \in K} e_K p_{\{1, \dots, n\} \setminus K} (\partial_{\alpha_h} q_{\ell_h}) q_{K \setminus \{h\}} \\ &+ \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} e_K (\partial_{\alpha_h} p_{\ell_h}) p_{\{1, \dots, n\} \setminus (K \cup \{h\})} q_K \\ &= -\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} e_K p_{\{1, \dots, n\} \setminus K} (\partial_{\beta_h} p_{\ell_h}) q_{K \setminus \{h\}} \\ &+ \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} e_K (\partial_{\beta_h} q_{\ell_h}) p_{\{1, \dots, n\} \setminus (K \cup \{h\})} q_K \\ &= -\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} e_{K \cup \{h\}} p_{\{1, \dots, n\} \setminus (K \cup \{h\})} (\partial_{\beta_h} p_{\ell_h}) q_K \\ &+ \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} e_{K \setminus \{h\}} (\partial_{\beta_h} q_{\ell_h}) p_{\{1, \dots, n\} \setminus K} q_K \setminus \{h\} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_h\left(\partial_{\beta_h}F\right) &= \sum_{K\in\mathcal{P}(n),h\in K} \mathcal{J}_h(e_K) p_{\{1,\dots,n\}\setminus K}(\partial_{\beta_h}q_{\ell_h})q_{K\setminus\{h\}} \\ &+ \sum_{K\in\mathcal{P}(n),h\notin K} \mathcal{J}_h(e_K)(\partial_{\beta_h}p_{\ell_h})p_{\{1,\dots,n\}\setminus (K\cup\{h\})}q_K \\ &= -\sum_{K\in\mathcal{P}(n),h\in K} e_{K\setminus\{h\}} p_{\{1,\dots,n\}\setminus K}(\partial_{\beta_h}q_{\ell_h})q_{K\setminus\{h\}} \\ &+ \sum_{K\in\mathcal{P}(n),h\notin K} e_{K\cup\{h\}}(\partial_{\beta_h}p_{\ell_h})p_{\{1,\dots,n\}\setminus (K\cup\{h\})}q_K. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, $\partial_{\alpha_h} F + \mathcal{J}_h \left(\partial_{\beta_h} F \right) = 0$, as desired.

The above complex structures $\mathcal{J}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_n$ commute.

Lemma 3.5 The complex structures $\mathcal{J}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_n$ on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} defined in Proposition 3.4 commute, that is $\mathcal{J}_h \mathcal{J}_k = \mathcal{J}_k \mathcal{J}_h$ for all $h, k \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$.

Proof Let $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and let $h, k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ with $h \neq k$. We have

$$(\mathcal{J}_h \mathcal{J}_k)(e_K) = \begin{cases} -\mathcal{J}_h(e_{K \setminus \{k\}}) & \text{if } k \in K \\ \mathcal{J}_h(e_{K \cup \{k\}}) & \text{if } k \notin K. \end{cases}$$

Therefore

$$(\mathcal{J}_h \mathcal{J}_k)(e_K) = \begin{cases} e_{K \setminus \{h,k\}} & \text{if } h, k \in K \\ -e_{(K \cup \{h\}) \setminus \{k\}} & \text{if } h \notin K, k \in K \\ -e_{(K \cup \{k\}) \setminus \{h\}} & \text{if } h \in K, k \notin K \\ e_{K \cup \{h,k\}} & \text{if } h \notin K, k \notin K \end{cases}$$

is symmetric in h and k.

Remark 3.6 The mentioned complex structures $\mathcal{J}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_n$ on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} can also be characterized as the unique complex structures on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} satisfying the following two conditions:

(i) $\mathcal{J}_h \mathcal{J}_k = \mathcal{J}_k \mathcal{J}_h$ for all $h, k \in \{1, ..., n\}$. (ii) $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = e_{K \cup \{h\}}$ for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ and $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ such that h < k for all $k \in K$.

We have only to verify the uniqueness of $\mathcal{J}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_n$. Let $\mathcal{J}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_n$ be complex structures on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} satisfying conditions (i) and (ii). Applying (ii) with $K = \emptyset$, we have that $\mathcal{J}_h(1) = e_h$ and hence $\mathcal{J}_h(e_h) = -1$ for all $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Let $K = \{k_1, \ldots, k_s\} \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ with $k_1 < \ldots < k_s$, and let $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. We have to prove that $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = -e_{K \setminus \{h\}}$ if $h \in K$ and $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = e_{K \cup \{h\}}$ if $h \notin K$. First, suppose $h \notin K$. If h < k for all $k \in K$, then we are done by (ii). If h > k for some $k \in K$, then there exists a unique $t \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ such that $k_t < h < k_{t+1}$, where $k_{s+1} := n + 1$. Define $K' := \{k_{t+1}, \dots, k_s\}$ if $t + 1 \le s$, and $K' := \emptyset$ otherwise. By (i) and (ii), we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_h(e_K) &= (\mathcal{J}_h \mathcal{J}_{k_1} \cdots \mathcal{J}_{k_t})(e_{K'}) = (\mathcal{J}_{k_1} \cdots \mathcal{J}_{k_t}) \big(\mathcal{J}_h(e_{K'}) \big) \\ &= (\mathcal{J}_{k_1} \cdots \mathcal{J}_{k_t})(e_{K' \cup \{h\}}) = e_{K \cup \{h\}}. \end{aligned}$$

Finally, if $h \in K$, then $\mathcal{J}_h(e_{K \setminus \{h\}}) = e_K$, so $\mathcal{J}_h(e_K) = \mathcal{J}_h(\mathcal{J}_h(e_{K \setminus \{h\}})) = -e_{K \setminus \{h\}}$.

Notation 3.7 In what follows, we denote $\mathcal{J} = \{\mathcal{J}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{J}_n\}$ the family of complex structures on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ defined in Proposition 3.4.

Definition 3.8 Let $F: D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a \mathscr{C}^1 stem function. For each $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we denote ∂_h and $\overline{\partial}_h$ the *Cauchy-Riemann operators* w.r.t. the complex structures *i* on *D* and \mathcal{J}_h on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$, that is

$$\partial_h F = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \alpha_h} - \mathcal{J}_h \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \beta_h} \right) \right) \text{ and } \overline{\partial}_h F = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \alpha_h} + \mathcal{J}_h \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial \beta_h} \right) \right),$$

 $\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \text{ are the coordinates of } D.$

where $(\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n)$ are the coordinates of *D*.

As a consequence of Lemma 3.5, each operator of the type ∂_h or $\overline{\partial}_h$ commutes with each other:

$$\partial_h \partial_k = \partial_k \partial_h, \quad \partial_h \overline{\partial}_k = \overline{\partial}_k \partial_h \text{ and } \overline{\partial}_h \overline{\partial}_k = \overline{\partial}_k \overline{\partial}_h$$
 (46)

for all $h, k \in \{1, ..., n\}$.

Lemma 3.9 Let $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a \mathscr{C}^1 stem function and let $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. For each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, denote $(\partial_h F)_K$ and $(\overline{\partial}_h F)_K$ the K-components of $\partial_h F$ and $\overline{\partial}_h F$, respectively. Then, for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, it holds:

$$(\partial_h F)_K = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \alpha_h} + \frac{\partial F_{K \triangle \{h\}}}{\partial \beta_h} (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} \right)$$
(47)

and

$$(\overline{\partial}_h F)_K = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \alpha_h} - \frac{\partial F_{K \triangle \{h\}}}{\partial \beta_h} (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} \right).$$
(48)

In particular, $\partial_h F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ and $\overline{\partial}_h F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ are stem functions.

Proof Let $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Equation (47) follows immediately from the following computation:

$$2 \partial_h F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \left(e_K \partial_{\alpha_h} F_K - \mathcal{J}_h(e_K) \partial_{\beta_h} F_K \right)$$

= $\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \in K} \left(e_K \partial_{\alpha_h} F_K + e_{K \setminus \{h\}} \partial_{\beta_h} F_K \right)$
+ $\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} \left(e_K \partial_{\alpha_h} F_K - e_{K \cup \{h\}} \partial_{\beta_h} F_K \right)$
= $\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \in K} e_K \left(\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \setminus \{h\}} \right)$

Springer

$$+ \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} e_K (\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K + \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}).$$

Similarly, we have that

$$2\,\overline{\partial}_{h}F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \in K} e_{K} \left(\partial_{\alpha_{h}}F_{K} + \partial_{\beta_{h}}F_{K \setminus \{h\}}\right) \\ + \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} e_{K} \left(\partial_{\alpha_{h}}F_{K} - \partial_{\beta_{h}}F_{K \cup \{h\}}\right)$$

Consequently, (48) holds.

It remains to show that $\partial_h F$ and $\overline{\partial}_h F$ are stem functions. Let $j \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Since F is a stem function, we know that $F_K(\overline{z}^j) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{j\}|} F_K(z)$ for all $z \in D$. Fix $z \in D$. Differentiating both members of the latter equality w.r.t. α_h and β_h , we obtain:

$$\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(\overline{z}^j) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{j\}|} \partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(z)$$
(49)

and

$$\partial_{\beta_h} F_K(\overline{z}^j) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{j\}| + |\{j\} \cap \{h\}|} \partial_{\beta_h} F_K(z).$$

Since the integers $|(K \triangle \{h\}) \cap \{j\}| + |\{j\} \cap \{h\}|$ and $|K \cap \{j\}|$ have the same parity, the latter equality implies the next one:

$$\partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \triangle \{h\}}(\overline{z}^J) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{j\}|} \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \triangle \{h\}}(z).$$
(50)

By combining (47), (49) and (50), we obtain that $(\partial_h F)_K(\overline{z}^j) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{j\}|} (\partial_h F)_K(z)$ and hence $\partial_h F$ is a stem function. Similarly, by using (48) instead of (47), we infer that $\overline{\partial}_h F$ is a stem function as well.

The last part of Lemma 3.9 allows to give the following definition.

Definition 3.10 Let $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a \mathscr{C}^1 stem function, let $f = \mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to A$ be the corresponding slice function and let $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. We define the *slice partial derivatives* $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h}$ and $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h^c}$ of f as the following slice function in $\mathcal{S}^0(\Omega_D, A)$:

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h} := \mathcal{I}(\partial_h F) \text{ and } \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h^c} := \mathcal{I}(\overline{\partial}_h F).$$
(51)

3.2 Holomorphic stem functions, slice regular functions and polynomials

Let us introduce the concepts of holomorphic stem and slice regular functions. The reader will recall Assumptions 3.1 and 3.7, and Definition 3.8.

Definition 3.11 Let $F: D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a \mathscr{C}^1 stem function. Given $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we say that *F* is *h*-holomorphic if $\overline{\partial}_h F = 0$ on *D*. We call *F* holomorphic if it is *h*-holomorphic for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. If *F* is holomorphic, then we say that $\mathcal{I}(F) : \Omega_D \to A$ is a *slice regular function*. We denote $\mathcal{SR}(\Omega_D, A)$ the real vector subspace of $\mathcal{S}(\Omega_D, A)$ of all slice regular functions.

Note that *F* is *h*-holomorphic if and only if, for each $z = (z_1, ..., z_n) \in D$, the restriction function $F^{(z)} : (D_h(z), i) \to (A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}, \mathcal{J}_h)$, sending *w* into $F(z_1, ..., z_{h-1}, w, z_{h+1}, ..., z_n)$, is holomorphic in the usual sense. Here $D_h(z)$ is the non-empty open subset of \mathbb{C} defined in (22).

A useful characterization of the *h*-holomorphicity of a stem function is as follows.

Lemma 3.12 Let $F : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be a \mathscr{C}^1 stem function with $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ and let $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. The following assertions are equivalent:

(i) F is h-holomorphic.

(ii) For each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $h \notin K$, the functions F_K and $F_{K \cup \{h\}}$ satisfy the following Cauchy-Riemann equations

$$\frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \alpha_h} = \frac{\partial F_{K \cup \{h\}}}{\partial \beta_h} \quad and \quad \frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \beta_h} = -\frac{\partial F_{K \cup \{h\}}}{\partial \alpha_h}.$$
(52)

Proof By (48), we know that

$$2\,\overline{\partial}_h F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin K} \left(e_{K \cup \{h\}} (\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}} + \partial_{\beta_h} F_K) + e_K (\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}) \right).$$

As a consequence, $\overline{\partial}_h F = 0$ if and only if (52) is satisfied.

By Definition 2.44, given any $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$, we have that $\Omega_D(J) = \Omega_D \cap (\mathbb{C}_J)^n$ and $f_J : \Omega_D(J) \to A$ is the restriction of f to $\Omega_D(J)$. By Assumptions 2.1 and 3.1, it follows that $\Omega_D(J)$ is a non-empty open subset of $(\mathbb{C}_J)^n$.

The next result contains some characterizations of slice regularity.

Proposition 3.13 Let $f \in S^1(\Omega_D, A)$ and let $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be the \mathscr{C}^1 stem function inducing f. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) f is slice regular.
- (i') $\frac{\partial f}{\partial x_i^c} = 0$ on Ω_D for all $h \in \{1, \dots, n\}$.
- (ii) For each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and for each $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ with $h \notin K$, it holds:

$$\frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \alpha_h} = \frac{\partial F_{K \cup \{h\}}}{\partial \beta_h} \quad and \quad \frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \beta_h} = -\frac{\partial F_{K \cup \{h\}}}{\partial \alpha_h}.$$

(iii) There exists $J \in S_A$ such that $f_J : \Omega_D(J) \to A$ is holomorphic w.r.t. the complex structures on $\Omega_D(J)$ and on A defined by the left multiplication by J; that is,

$$\frac{\partial f_J}{\partial \alpha_h}(z) + J \frac{\partial f_J}{\partial \beta_h}(z) = 0 \text{ for all } z \in \Omega_D(J) \text{ and for all } h \in \{1, \dots, n\},$$
(53)

where $z = (\alpha_1 + J\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J\beta_n)$ are the coordinates of points $z \in (\mathbb{C}_J)^n$. (iii') For each $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$, f_J is holomorphic in the sense of (53).

Proof Equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (i') is an immediate consequence of the fact that, by Proposition 2.12, a slice function is null if and only if its stem function is. Equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (ii) follows immediately from Lemma 3.12. The implication (iii') \Rightarrow (iii) is evident. We will show that (ii) \Rightarrow (iii') and (iii) \Rightarrow (ii) completing the proof.

Let $J \in S_A$, let $x = (\alpha_1 + J\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J\beta_n) \in \Omega_D(J)$, let $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$ and let $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. By Artin's theorem, we have that

$$f_J(x) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|} F_H(z).$$
 (54)

Consequently, $f_J(x) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin H} J^{|H|} (F_H(z) + JF_{H \cup \{h\}}(z))$ and hence

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\partial_{\alpha_h} f_J + J \partial_{\beta_h} f_J\right)(x) &= \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin H} J^{|H|} \left(\partial_{\alpha_h} F_H - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup \{h\}}\right)(z) \\ &+ \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), h \notin H} J^{|H|+1} \left(\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H \cup \{h\}} + \partial_{\beta_h} F_H\right)(z) = 0. \end{aligned}$$

🖉 Springer

This proves implication (ii) \Rightarrow (iii'). Finally, suppose that (iii) holds. Let us prove (ii). Let $z \in D$ and $x \in \Omega_D$ be as above and let $L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Recall that $\overline{z}^L \in D$ and $x^{c,L} \in \Omega_D$. For each $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, define the function $F_{H,L} : D \to A$ by setting $F_{H,L}(z) := F_H(\overline{z}^L)$. Thanks to (4) and (54), we obtain that

$$f_J(x) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|} (-1)^{|H \cap L|} F_{H,L}(z).$$

On the other hand, it is immediate to verify that $\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H,L}(z) = \partial_{\alpha_h} F_H(\overline{z}^L)$ and $\partial_{\beta_h} F_{H,L}(z) = (-1)^{|L \cap \{h\}|} \partial_{\beta_h} F_H(\overline{z}^L)$. Using again Artin's theorem, it follows that

$$0 = (\partial_{\alpha_{h}} f_{J} + J \partial_{\beta_{h}} f_{J}) (x^{c,L})$$

$$= \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|} (-1)^{|H \cap L|} (\partial_{\alpha_{h}} F_{H,L} + J \partial_{\beta_{h}} F_{H,L}) (\overline{z}^{L})$$

$$= \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|} (-1)^{|H \cap L|} \partial_{\alpha_{h}} F_{H}(z)$$

$$+ \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|+1} (-1)^{|H \cap L|+|L \cap \{h\}|} \partial_{\beta_{h}} F_{H}(z).$$

We have just proven that

$$0 = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|} (-1)^{|H \cap L|} \partial_{\alpha_h} F_H(z) + \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|+1} (-1)^{|H \cap L|+|L \cap \{h\}|} \partial_{\beta_h} F_H(z).$$
(55)

Fix $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ with $h \notin K$. Multiply both members of (55) by $(-1)^{|L \cap K|}$ and sum over all $L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Bearing in mind Lemma 2.11, we obtain

$$\begin{split} 0 &= \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H|} \partial_{\alpha_h} F_H(z) \left(\sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|H \cap L| + |L \cap K|} \right) \\ &+ \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H| + 1} \partial_{\beta_h} F_H(z) \left(\sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|H \cap L| + |L \cap \{h\}| + |L \cap K|} \right) \\ &= 2^n J^{|K|} \partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(z) \\ &+ \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} J^{|H| + 1} \partial_{\beta_h} F_H(z) \left(\sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|H \cap L| + |L \cap (K \cup \{h\})|} \right) \\ &= 2^n J^{|K|} \partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(z) \\ &+ 2^n J^{|K| + 2} \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z) = 2^n J^{|K|} \left(\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(z) - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z) \right), \end{split}$$

and hence $\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(z) = \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z)$. Similarly, multiplying both members of (55) by $(-1)^{|L \cap (K \cup \{h\})|}$ and summing over all $L \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, we obtain

$$0 = 2^n J^{|K|+1} \left(\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z) + \partial_{\beta_h} F_K(z) \right),$$

and hence $\partial_{\beta_h} F_K(z) = -\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z)$. This proves (ii).

Slice regular functions include polynomial functions.

Proposition 3.14 All polynomial functions from Ω_D to A are slice regular.

Proof For each $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$, it is immediate to see that the coordinate function $x_k : \Omega_D \to A$ is slice regular; indeed $\frac{\partial x_k}{\partial x_h^c} = 0$ on Ω_D for all $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Combining Lemma 2.43, Eq. (73) and equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (i') of Proposition 3.13, we deduce at once that all polynomials functions from Ω_D to A are slice regular.

3.3 On the zeros of polynomials

This section deals with the zero set of polynomials over *A* in the case *A* is the division algebra \mathbb{H} of quaternions, the one \mathbb{O} of octonions or the Clifford algebra $\mathbb{R}_m = C\ell(0, m)$ for $m \ge 3$. We apply a Fundamental Theorem of Algebra which is available on these alternative algebras (see [20], [18, 22] and [9, Examples 9(1)]) to the polynomial in the first variable x_1 which is obtained fixing the other variables and then we use arguments from real algebraic geometry to deduce the possible real dimensions of the zero set.

Given any function $f: (Q_A)^n \to A$, we denote V(f) its zero set, i.e.

$$V(f) := \{ x \in (Q_A)^n : f(x) = 0 \}.$$

If $A = \mathbb{H}$ and f is a polynomial in the sense of Definition 2.7, then the next result gives some properties of V(f). Identify \mathbb{H}^n with \mathbb{R}^{4n} by choosing one of its real vector basis.

Proposition 3.15 Let $f : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}$ be a nonconstant polynomial. Then V(f) is a nonempty real algebraic subset of \mathbb{R}^{4n} and its dimension $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f))$, as a real algebraic set, satisfies the following estimates:

$$4n - 4 \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f)) \le 4n - 2.$$
(56)

Proof The equation f = 0 in *n* quaternionic variables is equivalent to a system of four real polynomial equations in 4n real variables, so V(f) is a real algebraic subset of \mathbb{R}^{4n} .

Let us prove (56) by induction on $n \ge 1$. If n = 1, this is an immediate consequence of the Fundamental Theorem of Algebra for quaternions [20], FTA for short. Let $n \ge 2$ and let $f : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}$ be a nonconstant polynomial function. We can assume that f has the following form: $f(x) = \sum_{h=0}^{d} x_1^h p_h(x')$, where $d \ge 0$, each $p_h : \mathbb{H}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{H}$ is a polynomial function in the variables $x' := (x_2, \ldots, x_n)$ and p_d does not vanish identically on \mathbb{H}^{n-1} . Note that the zero set W of p_d in \mathbb{H}^{n-1} is either empty if p_d is constant or, by induction, $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(W) \le 4(n-1)-2 = 4n-6$ if p_d is not constant; in particular, $W \neq \mathbb{H}^{n-1}$.

Assume that $d \ge 1$ and let $y' \notin W$. Then the FTA implies that $V(f) \cap (\mathbb{H} \times \{y'\})$ is either a nonempty finite set *F* or a nonempty finite union *S* of 2-spheres of $\mathbb{H} = \mathbb{R}^4$ or a nonempty set of the form $F \cup S$. In particular, $V(f) \neq \emptyset$. Let $\pi : V(f) \to \mathbb{H}^{n-1}$ be the projection $\pi(x_1, x') := x'$. We have just proven that $\pi^{-1}(y')$ is nonempty and $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\pi^{-1}(y')) \le 2$ for all $y' \notin W$. Evidently, if $y' \in W$, then $\pi^{-1}(y') \subset \mathbb{H} \times \{y'\}$ and hence $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\pi^{-1}(y')) \le 4$. By the version of Sard's theorem in real algebraic geometry, we deduce at once that

$$4n - 4 = \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{H}^{n-1}) \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{H}^{n-1} \setminus W)) \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{H}^{n-1}) + 2 = 4n - 2$$

and

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\pi^{-1}(W)) \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(W) + 4 \le (4n-6) + 4 = 4n-2.$$

Since dim_{\mathbb{R}}(*V*(*f*)) = max{dim_{\mathbb{R}}($\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{H}^{n-1} \setminus W)$), dim_{\mathbb{R}}($\pi^{-1}(W)$)}, we are done.

Assume now that d = 0. In this case it must be n > 1, since f is nonconstant, and f coincides with the polynomial $p_0(x')$ in the variables x_2, \ldots, x_n . From the previous argument applied to p_0 , we obtain that V(f) is nonempty and $4(n-1) - 4 \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(p_0) \cap \mathbb{H}^{n-1}) \le 4(n-1) - 2$, from which it follows again that

$$4(n-1) \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f)) \le 4(n-1) + 2.$$

Example 3.16 Estimates (56) are sharp. Suppose that $n \ge 2$. Consider the polynomial functions $f_1, f_2, f_3 : \mathbb{H}^n \to \mathbb{H}$ defined by setting

$$f_1(x) := x_1, \qquad f_2(x) := x_1^2 + x_2^2 + 1, \qquad f_3(x) := x_1^2 + 1,$$

for all $x = (x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) \in \mathbb{H}^n$. Evidently, $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f_1)) = 4n - 4$ and $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f_3)) = 4n - 4$ 4n-2. Let us study $V(f_2)$. Note that $x_2^2 + 1$ is a positive real number if and only if x_2 belongs to the 3-dimensional semi-algebraic subset S of \mathbb{H} defined by

$$S := \mathbb{R} \cup \{x_2 \in \mathbb{H} : \operatorname{Re}(x_2) = 0, n(x_2) < 1\}$$

Let $\pi : V(f_2) \to \mathbb{H}^{n-1}$ be the projection $\pi(x, x') := x'$, where $x' := (x_2, \dots, x_n)$. Note that $\pi^{-1}(y')$ consists of a single point if $y' \in \mathbb{S}_A \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2}$, a 2-sphere if $y' \in S \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2}$ and two distinct points if $y' \in \mathbb{H}^{n-1} \setminus ((\mathbb{S}_A \cup S) \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2})$. As a consequence, we have:

- $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{S}_A \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2})) = \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{S}_A \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2}) + 0 = 2 + 4(n-2) = 4n-6,$
- dim_{\mathbb{R}} $(\pi^{-1}(S \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2})) = dim_{<math>\mathbb{R}$} $(S \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2}) + 2 = 3 + 4(n-2) + 2 = 4n 3,$ dim_{\mathbb{R}} $(\pi^{-1}(\mathbb{H}^{n-1} \setminus ((\mathbb{S}_A \cup S) \times \mathbb{H}^{n-2}))) = dim_{<math>\mathbb{R}$} $(\mathbb{H}^{n-1}) + 0 = 4(n-1) = 4n 4.$

It follows that $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f_2)) = \max\{4n - 6, 4n - 3, 4n - 4\} = 4n - 3$.

Proposition 3.15 remains valid over the octonion algebra \mathbb{O} . The proof is identical, thanks to the fact that the Fundamental Theorem of Algebra still holds in this case (see [18, 22]).

Proposition 3.17 Let $f : \mathbb{O}^n \to \mathbb{O}$ be a nonconstant polynomial. Then V(f) is a nonempty real algebraic subset of \mathbb{R}^{8n} and it holds

$$8n - 8 \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f)) \le 8n - 2.$$

$$(57)$$

Remark 3.18 Suppose that $n \ge 2$. Let $f_1, f_2, f_3 : \mathbb{O}^n \to \mathbb{O}$ be polynomial functions defined as in Example 3.16. Repeating the same considerations we made in the mentioned example, we obtain that $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f_1)) = 8n - 8$, $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f_2)) = 8n - 3$ and $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(V(f_3)) = 8n - 2$. П

A weaker version of Proposition 3.15 is valid also over all Clifford algebra \mathbb{R}_m with m > 3.

Choose $m \geq 3$ and equip \mathbb{R}_m with the Clifford conjugation. Given any $a \in \mathbb{R}_m$, we write $a = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(m)} a_K e_K$ for $a_K \in \mathbb{R}$. Recall that $t(a) = 2 \sum_{K}' a_K e_K$ and n(a) = $\sum_{K} \langle a, ae_{K} \rangle e_{K}$, where $\sum_{K} = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(m), |K| \equiv 0,3 \pmod{4}}$ and $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$ is the standard Euclidean scalar product on $\mathbb{R}_m = \mathbb{R}^{2^m}$, see Sect. 3.2 of [17]. As a consequence, $a = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(m)} a_K e_K$ belongs to $Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}$ if and only if $a_K = 0$ and $\langle a, ae_K \rangle = 0$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(m) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ such that $|K| \equiv 0, 3 \pmod{4}$. Moreover, $a = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(m)} a_K e_K$ belongs to $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}$ if and only if $a \in Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}$, $a_{\emptyset} = 0$ and $\langle a, a \rangle = 1$. It turns out that $Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}$ and $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}$ are real algebraic subsets of $\mathbb{R}_m = \mathbb{R}^{2^m}$. Since $Q_{\mathbb{R}_m} \setminus \mathbb{R}$ is semi-algebraically homeomorphic to $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m} \times \{(\alpha, \beta) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : \beta > 0\}$, we have that

$$\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}) = \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}) - 2.$$
(58)

Note that $Q_{\mathbb{R}_3} \subset Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}$; moreover, dim_{\mathbb{R}}($Q_{\mathbb{R}_3}$) = 6, see Examples 1(3) of [8] and [13, Example 1.15]. It follows that $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}) \ge 6$. Denote \mathbb{R}^{m+1} the real vector subspace of \mathbb{R}_m of paravectors $a = a_0 + \sum_{h=1}^m a_h e_h$, where $a_0 := a_{\emptyset}$ and $a_h := a_{\{h\}}$ (and $e_h = e_{\{h\}}$). It is easy to see that \mathbb{R}^{m+1} is contained in $Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}$.

The Fundamental Theorem of Algebra still holds for one variable polynomials with paravector Clifford coefficients (see [9, Examples 9(1)]). This fact allows to generalize the first statement of Proposition 3.15 to this setting.

Proposition 3.19 Let $f : (Q_{\mathbb{R}_m})^n \to \mathbb{R}_m$ be a nonconstant polynomial with paravector coefficients. Then V(f) is a nonempty real algebraic subset of $(Q_{\mathbb{R}_m})^n \subset \mathbb{R}^{n2^m}$.

Proof We proceed by induction on *n*. If n = 1, the FTA [9, Examples 9(1)] implies the thesis. Assume $n \ge 2$ and write $f(x) = \sum_{h=0}^{d} x_1^h p_h(x')$, where $d \ge 0$, each $p_h : (Q_{\mathbb{R}_m})^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}_m$ is a polynomial function in the variables $x' := (x_2, \ldots, x_n)$ and p_d does not vanish identically on $(Q_{\mathbb{R}_m})^{n-1}$. If d = 0, then $f(x) = p_0(x')$ is nonconstant and therefore $V(f) \neq \emptyset$ by the induction assumption. If $d \ge 1$, then for every fixed point $y' = (t_2, \ldots, t_n) \in \mathbb{R} \times \cdots \times \mathbb{R} \subset (Q_{\mathbb{R}_m})^{n-1}$, the function $f(x_1, y') = \sum_{h=0}^{d} x_1^h p_h(y')$ is a nonconstant polynomial in the variable x_1 with paravector coefficients. Therefore V(f) is nonempty.

When n > 1, the zero set V(f) is infinite for every nonconstant polynomial with paravector coefficients. It is difficult to obtain general estimates for the real dimension of V(f). The next proposition suggests the types of results one can expect.

Proposition 3.20 Let $f : Q_{\mathbb{R}_m} \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}_m$ be a function of the form

$$f(x_1, x') = x_1^d + \sum_{h=0}^{d-1} x_1^h p_h(x')$$
(59)

for all $(x_1, x') \in Q_{\mathbb{R}_m} \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1}$, where $d \ge 1$ and each $p_h : (Q_{\mathbb{R}_m})^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}_m$ is a polynomial function in the variables $x' = (x_2, \ldots, x_n)$ such that

$$p_h((\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1}) \subset \mathbb{R}^{m+1} \text{ for all } h \in \{0, \dots, d-1\};$$
 (60)

in the case n = 1, (60) means that the p_h 's are elements of \mathbb{R}^{m+1} . Then $f^{-1}(0)$ is a nonempty real algebraic subset of $\mathbb{R}^{2^m + (m+1)(n-1)}$ contained in $Q_{\mathbb{R}_m} \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1}$, and it holds

$$(m+1)(n-1) \le \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(f^{-1}(0)) \le (m+1)(n-1) + \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}) - 2.$$
(61)

Proof If n = 1, the statement follows immediately from (58), (60) and Examples 9(1) of [9]. Suppose that $n \ge 2$. Let $y' \in (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1}$. Using (58), (60) and Examples 9(1) of [9] again, we have that $f^{-1}(0) \cap (Q_{\mathbb{R}_m} \times \{y'\})$ is either a nonempty finite set F or a nonempty finite union S of 'spheres' semi-algebraically homeomorphic to $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}$ or a nonempty set of the form $F \cup S$. In particular, $f^{-1}(0) \neq \emptyset$ and, if $\pi : f^{-1}(0) \to (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1}$ is the projection $\pi(x_1, x') := x'$, then the fibers of π are nonempty real algebraic sets of dimension ranging from 0 to dim_{\mathbb{R}}($\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}$). This fact and (58) completes the proof.

Example 3.21 Suppose that $n \ge 2$. Choose $m \ge 3$. Set N := (m + 1)(n - 1) and $M := \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(Q_{\mathbb{R}_m})$. Define the functions $f_1, f_2, f_3 : Q_{\mathbb{R}_m} \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1} \to \mathbb{R}_m$ as in Example 3.16. Note that each of these functions satisfies (59) and (60). Evidently, $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(f_1^{-1}(0)) = N$ and $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(f_3^{-1}(0)) = N + M - 2$. Let us study $f_2^{-1}(0)$ following the strategy used in Example 3.16 to investigate $V(f_2)$. Note that, if $x_2 \in \mathbb{R}^{m+1}$, then $x_2^2 + 1$ is a positive real number if and only if $x_2 \in S$, where S is the m-dimensional semi-algebraic set defined by

$$S := \mathbb{R} \cup \left\{ \sum_{h=0}^{m} a_h e_h \in \mathbb{R}^{m+1} : a_0 = 0, \ \sum_{h=1}^{m} a_h^2 < 1 \right\}.$$

Let ∂S be the (m-1)-sphere $\{\sum_{h=0}^{m} a_h e_h \in \mathbb{R}^{m+1} : a_0 = 0, \sum_{h=1}^{m} a_h^2 = 1\}$ and let $\pi : f_2^{-1}(0) \to (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1}$ be the projection $\pi(x, x') := x'$, where $x' := (x_2, \ldots, x_n)$. Note that $\pi^{-1}(y')$ consists of a single point if $y' \in \partial S \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-2}$, a 'sphere' semialgebraically homeomorphic to $\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}$ if $y' \in S \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-2}$ and two distinct points if $y' \in (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1} \setminus ((S \cup \partial S) \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-2})$. As a consequence, we have:

• dim_{\mathbb{R}} $(\pi^{-1}(\partial S \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-2})) = (m-1) + (m+1)(n-2) < N$,

- dim_{\mathbb{R}} $(\pi^{-1}(S \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-2})) = m + (m+1)(n-2) + dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}) = N 1 + dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_m}),$ dim_{\mathbb{R}} $(\pi^{-1}((\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-1} \setminus ((S \cup \partial S) \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-2}))) = N.$

Thanks to (58) and the fact that $M = \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(Q_{\mathbb{R}_m}) \ge 6$, it follows that

 $N - 1 + \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\mathbb{S}_{\mathbb{R}_{m}}) = N - 1 + M - 2 = N + M - 3 \ge N + 3 > N.$

As a consequence, we have that $\dim_{\mathbb{R}}(f_2^{-1}(0)) = \dim_{\mathbb{R}}(\pi^{-1}(S \times (\mathbb{R}^{m+1})^{n-2})) =$ N + M - 3. п

3.4 One variable interpretation of slice regularity

We now show that the condition of slice regularity in several variables has an interpretation in terms of slice regularity in one variable. More precisely, we show that the slice regularity of a slice function $f: \Omega_D \to A$ is equivalent to the slice regularity of all its $2^n - 1$ truncated spherical derivatives $\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon} f$ w.r.t. the single variable x_h , where h - 1 is the order of \mathcal{D}_{ϵ} . The notion of truncated spherical ϵ -derivatives was introduced in above Definition 2.24.

Let $g: \Omega_D \to A$ be a function and let $h \in \{1, \dots, n\}$. Recall that, by Definition 2.22, g is a slice function w.r.t. x_h if, for each $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) \in \Omega_D$, the restriction function $g_h^{(y)}: \Omega_{D,h}(y) \to A$, sending x_h into $g_h^{(y)}(x_h) := g(y_1, \dots, y_{h-1}, x_h, y_{h+1}, \dots, y_n)$, is a slice function. Let us specialize this definition to the slice regular case.

Definition 3.22 Let $g: \Omega_D \to A$ be a function and let $h \in \{1, \dots, n\}$. We say that g is a slice regular function w.r.t. x_h if, for each $y \in \Omega_D$, the function $g_h^{(y)} : \Omega_{D,h}(y) \to A$ is a slice regular function.

Theorem 3.23 Assume that $n \ge 2$. Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice function. Then f is slice regular if and only if f is a slice regular function w.r.t. x_1 and, for each $h \in \{2, ..., n\}$ and each function $\epsilon : \{1, \ldots, h-1\} \rightarrow \{0, 1\}$, the truncated spherical ϵ -derivative $\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon} f$ of f is a slice regular function w.r.t. x_h .

Proof We use the notation introduced in (22) and (23). If $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \Omega_D$, then $\Omega_{D,h}(x)$ is the subset of Q_A defined by $\Omega_{D,h}(x) = \{a \in A : (x_1, \dots, x_{h-1}, a, x_{h+1}, \dots, x_n)\}$ $\in \Omega_D$. It holds $\Omega_{D,h}(x) = \Omega_{D_h(z)}$, where $D_h(z) = \{w \in \mathbb{C} : (z_1, \ldots, z_{h-1}, w, z_{h+1}, \ldots, z_{h+1}$ $z_n \in D$.

Assume that f is slice regular. Let $F = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_H F_H : D \to A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be the stem function inducing f, let $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) = (\alpha_1 + I_1\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + I_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$, let $I := (I_1, \ldots, I_n)$ and let $w = (w_1, \ldots, w_n) := (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$. Let us prove that f is slice regular w.r.t. x_1 . As seen in formula (27), it holds $f(x_1, y') = F_1(z_1) + J_1 F_2(z_1)$, where $x_1 = \alpha_1 + J_1 \beta_1 \in \Omega_{D,1}(y), y' = (y_2, \dots, y_n), z_1 = \alpha_1 + i\beta_1 \in D_1(w)$, and

$$F_1(z_1) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [J_H, F_H(z_1, w')]$$

and

$$F_2(z_1) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), 1 \notin H} [J_H, F_{H \cup \{1\}}(z_1, w')]$$

with $w' = (w_2, \ldots, w_n)$ and $J = (J_1, J_2, \ldots, J_n)$. From implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii) of Proposition 3.13, it follows that $\partial_{\alpha_1} F_1(z_1) = \partial_{\beta_1} F_2(z_1)$ and $\partial_{\beta_1} F_1(z_1) = -\partial_{\alpha_1} F_2(z_1)$, that is f is slice regular w.r.t. x_1 on $\Omega_{D,1}(y)$.

Now let $h \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$ and let $\epsilon : \{1, \ldots, h-1\} \rightarrow \{0, 1\}$ be any function. Set $K_{h-1} :=$ $\epsilon^{-1}(1)$. Let us prove that $\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon}f$ is slice regular w.r.t. x_h . From formula (28), it follows that

Springer
 Springer

 $\mathcal{D}_{\epsilon} f(y'', x_h, \hat{y}) = F_{h,1}(z_h) + J_h F_{h,2}(z_h), \text{ where }$

$$F_{h,1}(z_h) := (\beta_{K_{h-1}})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} [L_H, F_{H \cup K_{h-1}}(z'', z_h, \hat{z})],$$

$$F_{h,2}(z_h) := (\beta_{K_{h-1}})^{-1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} [L_H, F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}(z'', z_h, \hat{z})],$$

 $x_h \in \Omega_{D,h}(y), y'' = (y_1, \dots, y_{h-1}), \hat{y} = (y_{h+1}, \dots, y_n), z_h = \alpha_h + i\beta_h \in D_h(z),$ $z'' = (z_1, \dots, z_{h-1}), \hat{z} = (z_{h+1}, \dots, z_n) \text{ and } L = (I_1, \dots, I_{h-1}, J_h, I_{h+1}, \dots, I_n). \text{ Again}$ from implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii) of Proposition 3.13, it follows that $\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{h,1}(z_h) = \partial_{\beta_h} F_{h,2}(z_h)$ and $\partial_{\beta_h} F_{h,1}(z_h) = -\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{h,2}(z_h), \text{ i.e. } \mathcal{D}_{\epsilon} f$ is slice regular w.r.t. x_h on $\Omega_{D,h}(y)$.

Conversely, assume that *f* is slice regular w.r.t. x_1 and that the functions $\mathcal{D}_{x_{h-1}}^{\varepsilon(h-1)} \cdots \mathcal{D}_{x_1}^{\varepsilon(1)} f$ are slice regular w.r.t. x_h for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and all $h \in \{2, \ldots, n\}$, where $\varepsilon : \{1, \ldots, n\} \rightarrow \{0, 1\}$ is the characteristic function of *K*.

Let $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and let $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ with $h \notin K$. Consider any $z \in D_{K_{h-1}}$, where $D_{K_{h-1}} = \bigcap_{k \in K_{h-1}} \{(z_1, ..., z_n) \in D : z_k \notin \mathbb{R}\}$. From formulas (27) and (28), we obtain that it holds:

$$\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} [L_H, \partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1}}(z) - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}(z)] = 0$$
(62)

$$\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} [L_H, \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1}}(z) + \partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}(z)] = 0,$$
(63)

where $L = (I_1, ..., I_{h-1}, J_h, I_{h+1}, ..., I_n)$ and $H_0 = K_0 = \emptyset$.

Let $M \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Thanks to (4), for each $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ such that $H_h = \emptyset$, it holds

$$\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H\cup K_{h-1}}(\overline{z}^M) = (-1)^{|(H\cup K_{h-1})\cap M|} \partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H\cup K_{h-1}}(z); \tag{64}$$

moreover, being $|(H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}) \cap M| = |(H \cup K_{h-1}) \cap M| + |M \cap \{h\}|$, it holds

$$\partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}(\overline{z}^M) = (-1)^{|(H \cup K_{h-1}) \cap M|} \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1}}(z).$$
(65)

Thanks to (64), (65) and the validity of (62) at the point \overline{z}^M , we get that

$$\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} (-1)^{|(H \cup K_{h-1}) \cap M|} [L_H, \partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1}}(z) - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}(z)] = 0 \quad (66)$$

for all $M \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Multiply both members of (66) by $(-1)^{|K \cap M|}$ and sum over all $M \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Using the combinatorial Lemma 2.11, we get

$$0 = \sum_{M \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap M|} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} (-1)^{|(H \cup K_{h-1}) \cap M|} \\ \times [L_H, \partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1}} - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}] \\ = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} \sum_{M \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap M| + |(H \cup K_{h-1}) \cap M|} \\ \times [L_H, \partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1}} - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}] \\ = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n), H_h = \emptyset} 2^n \delta_{K, H \cup K_{h-1}} [L_H, \partial_{\alpha_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1}} - \partial_{\beta_h} F_{H \cup K_{h-1} \cup \{h\}}] \\ = 2^n [L_K \setminus K_h, \partial_{\alpha_h} F_K - \partial_{\beta_h} F_K \cup \{h\}}]$$

on the whole $D_{K_{h-1}}$. Therefore $\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(z) = \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z)$ on $D_{K_{h-1}}$. By Assumption 3.1, we know that *D* is open in \mathbb{C}^n . As a consequence, $D_{K_{h-1}}$ is dense in *D*. Since *F* is of class \mathscr{C}^1 on *D*, the partial derivatives $\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K$ and $\partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z)$ are continuous on *D*. It follows that $\partial_{\alpha_h} F_K(z) = \partial_{\beta_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}(z)$ on the whole *D*. In a similar way, we deduce from (63) that $\partial_{\beta_h} F_K = -\partial_{\alpha_h} F_{K \cup \{h\}}$ on *D*. From implication (ii) \Rightarrow (i) of Proposition 3.13, it follows that *f* is slice regular on Ω_D .

3.5 Leibniz's rule

The next lemma gives sufficient conditions for Leibniz's rule to be valid for each ∂_h and $\overline{\partial}_h$.

Lemma 3.24 Let $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ be a \triangle -product of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , let $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ and let $F, G : D \rightarrow A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n}$ be \mathscr{C}^1 stem functions. Write $F = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_K F_K$ and $G = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_H G_H$. Define

$$P_{1,h}' := \left\{ (K, H) \in \mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n) : \frac{\partial F_K}{\partial \beta_h} \cdot_{\sigma} G_H = 0 \text{ on } D \right\},\$$

$$P_{1,h} := (\mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n)) \setminus P_{1,h}',$$

$$P_{2,h}' := \left\{ (K, H) \in \mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n) : F_K \cdot_{\sigma} \frac{\partial G_H}{\partial \beta_h} = 0 \text{ on } D \right\},\$$

$$P_{2,h} := (\mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n)) \setminus P_{2,h}'.$$

Suppose that the following two conditions hold:

$$(-1)^{|(K \triangle H) \cap \{h\}|} \sigma(K, H) = (-1)^{|K \cap \{h\}|} \sigma(K \triangle \{h\}, H) \text{ for all } (K, H) \in P_{1,h}$$
(67)

and

$$(-1)^{|(K \triangle H) \cap \{h\}|} \sigma(K, H) = (-1)^{|H \cap \{h\}|} \sigma(K, H \triangle \{h\}) \text{ for all } (K, H) \in P_{2,h}.$$
 (68)

Then it holds:

$$\partial_h (F \cdot_\sigma G) = (\partial_h F) \cdot_\sigma G + F \cdot_\sigma (\partial_h G), \tag{69}$$

$$\overline{\partial}_h(F \cdot_\sigma G) = (\overline{\partial}_h F) \cdot_\sigma G + F \cdot_\sigma (\overline{\partial}_h G).$$
(70)

Proof We prove only (69), the proof of (70) being similar. For simplicity, we omit \cdot_{σ} in each product w.r.t b. We have:

$$2 \partial_{h}(FG) = \partial_{\alpha_{h}}(FG) - \mathcal{J}_{h}(\partial_{\beta_{h}}(FG)) = (\partial_{\alpha_{h}}F)G + F(\partial_{\alpha_{h}}G) + -\mathcal{J}_{h}((\partial_{\beta_{h}}F)G) - \mathcal{J}_{h}(F(\partial_{\beta_{h}}G)).$$
(71)

Bearing in mind (44), we have also:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{J}_h\big((\partial_{\beta_h}F)G\big) &= \mathcal{J}_h\big(\sum_{K,H\in\mathcal{P}(n)}e_{K\triangle H}\sigma(K,H)(\partial_{\beta_h}F_K)G_H\big) \\ &= \sum_{(K,H)\in P_{1,h}}\mathcal{J}_h(e_{K\triangle H})\sigma(K,H)(\partial_{\beta_h}F_K)G_H \\ &= \sum_{(K,H)\in P_{1,h}}e_{K\triangle H\triangle\{h\}}(-1)^{|(K\triangle H)\cap\{h\}|}\sigma(K,H)(\partial_{\beta_h}F_K)G_H. \end{aligned}$$

Similarly, we deduce:

$$\begin{split} \left(\mathcal{J}_{h}(\partial_{\beta_{h}}F)\right)G &= \sum_{K,H\in\mathcal{P}(n)}\mathcal{J}_{h}(e_{K})e_{H}(\partial_{\beta_{h}}F_{K})G_{H} \\ &= \sum_{(K,H)\in P_{1,h}}e_{K\triangle\{h\}}e_{H}(-1)^{|K\cap\{h\}|}(\partial_{\beta_{h}}F_{K})G_{H} \\ &= \sum_{(K,H)\in P_{1,h}}e_{K\triangle H\triangle\{h\}}(-1)^{|K\cap\{h\}|}\sigma(K\triangle\{h\},H)(\partial_{\beta_{h}}F_{K})G_{H}. \end{split}$$

Consequently, (67) implies that $\mathcal{J}_h((\partial_{\beta_h} F)G) = (\mathcal{J}_h(\partial_{\beta_h} F))G$. Similar computations and (68) ensure also that $\mathcal{J}_h(F(\partial_{\beta_h} G)) = F(\mathcal{J}_h(\partial_{\beta_h} G))$. Combining the latter two equalities with (71), we obtain:

$$\partial_h(FG) = \frac{1}{2} \big((\partial_{\alpha_h} F)G + F(\partial_{\alpha_h} G) - \big(\mathcal{J}_h(\partial_{\beta_h} F) \big) G - F \big(\mathcal{J}_h(\partial_{\beta_h} G) \big) \big) \\ = (\partial_h F)G + F(\partial_h G),$$

as desired.

The above lemma suffices to prove that Leibniz's rule works for the slice tensor product.

Proposition 3.25 For each $f, g \in S^1(\Omega_D, A)$ and for each $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, it holds:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_h}(f \odot g) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h} \odot g + f \odot \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_h},\tag{72}$$

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x_h^c} (f \odot g) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial x_h^c} \odot g + f \odot \frac{\partial g}{\partial x_h^c}.$$
(73)

Proof Given any pair $(K, H) \in \mathcal{P}(n) \times \mathcal{P}(n)$ and any $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, it is immediate to check that $|(K \triangle H) \cap \{h\}| + |K \cap H| = |K \cap \{h\}| + |(K \triangle \{h\}) \cap H|$; indeed, the preceding equality becomes $|K \cap H| = |K \cap H|$ if $h \notin K \triangle H$, and $|K \cap H| + 1 = |K \cap H| + 1$ if $h \in K \triangle H$. The mentioned equality is equivalent to (67) and (68) if $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma_{\otimes}^n)$, because $\sigma_{\otimes}^n(K, H) = (-1)^{|K \cap H|}$ by Lemma 2.32. Lemma 3.24 concludes the proof.

3.6 Multiplication of slice regular functions

Proposition 3.26 The set $SR(\Omega_D, A)$ is a real subalgebra of $(S(\Omega_D, A), \odot)$. Moreover, the set $SR_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A) := S_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_D, A) \cap SR(\Omega_D, A)$ of all slice preserving slice regular functions from Ω_D to A is contained in the center of $(S(\Omega_D, A), \odot)$.

Proof The first part is a direct consequence of Eq. (73) and equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (i') of Proposition 3.13; the second follows immediately from Lemma 2.49.

In the next result we see that the slice tensor product is the unique associative and hypercomplex \triangle -product on \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , which preserves slice regularity.

Proposition 3.27 The tensor product b^n_{\otimes} is the unique associative and hypercomplex \triangle -product $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} such that $S\mathcal{R}(\Omega_D, A)$ is a real subalgebra of $(S(\Omega_D, A), \cdot_{\sigma})$.

Proof Let $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ be a \triangle -product of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} , let $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$ and $g = \mathcal{I}(G)$ be functions in $\mathcal{SR}(\Omega_D, A)$, and let $(FG)_K$ be the *K*-component of $FG = F \cdot_{\sigma} G$ for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$.

Choose $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ and $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$ with $h \notin K$. For short, during the remaining part of this proof, we will use the symbol \sum^* in place of $\sum_{(K_1, K_2, K_3) \in \mathcal{D}(K)}$. Bearing in mind equality (40) and implication (i) \Rightarrow (ii) in Proposition 3.13, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} &= \sum^{*} \left((\partial_{\alpha_{h}} F_{K_{1} \cup K_{3}}) G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}} + F_{K_{1} \cup K_{3}} (\partial_{\alpha_{h}} G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}}) \right) \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &= \sum^{*}_{h \in K_{3}} (-\partial_{\beta_{h}} F_{(K_{1} \cup K_{3}) \setminus \{h\}}) G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}} \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &+ \sum^{*}_{h \in K_{3}} F_{K_{1} \cup K_{3}} (-\partial_{\beta_{h}} G_{(K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \setminus \{h\}}) \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &+ \sum^{*}_{h \notin K_{3}} (\partial_{\beta_{h}} F_{K_{1} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}}) G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}} \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &+ \sum^{*}_{h \notin K_{3}} F_{L_{1} \cup K_{3}} (\partial_{\beta_{h}} G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}}) \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &= \sum^{*}_{h \notin K_{3}} (-\partial_{\beta_{h}} F_{K_{1} \cup K_{3}}) G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}} \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}, K_{2} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}) \\ &+ \sum^{*}_{h \notin K_{3}} F_{L_{1} \cup K_{3}} (\partial_{\beta_{h}} G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}}) \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}, K_{2} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}) \\ &+ \sum^{*}_{h \notin K_{3}} (\partial_{\beta_{h}} F_{K_{1} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}}) G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}} \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &+ \sum^{*}_{h \notin K_{3}} F_{L_{1} \cup K_{3}} (\partial_{\beta_{h}} G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}}) \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &+ \sum^{*}_{h \notin K_{3}} F_{L_{1} \cup K_{3}} (\partial_{\beta_{h}} G_{K_{2} \cup K_{3}}) \sigma(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \end{aligned}$$

Deringer

and

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\beta_h}(FG)_{K\cup\{h\}} \\ &= \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* (\partial_{\beta_h} F_{(K_1\cup\{h\})\cup K_3}) G_{K_2\cup K_3} \sigma((K_1\cup\{h\})\cup K_3, K_2\cup K_3) \\ &+ \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* F_{(K_1\cup\{h\})\cup K_3} (\partial_{\beta_h} G_{K_2\cup K_3}) \sigma((K_1\cup\{h\})\cup K_3, K_2\cup K_3) \\ &+ \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* (\partial_{\beta_h} F_{K_1\cup K_3}) G_{(K_2\cup\{h\})\cup K_3} \sigma(K_1\cup K_3, (K_2\cup\{h\})\cup K_3) \\ &+ \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* F_{K_1\cup K_3} (\partial_{\beta_h} G_{(K_2\cup\{h\})\cup K_3}) \sigma(K_1\cup K_3, (K_2\cup\{h\})\cup K_3) \\ &= \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* (\partial_{\beta_h} F_{K_1\cup K_3\cup\{h\}}) G_{K_2\cup K_3} \sigma(K_1\cup K_3\cup\{h\}, K_2\cup K_3) + \\ &+ \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* F_{K_1\cup K_3\cup\{h\}} (\partial_{\beta_h} G_{K_2\cup K_3}) \sigma(K_1\cup K_3\cup\{h\}, K_2\cup K_3) \\ &+ \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* (\partial_{\beta_h} F_{K_1\cup K_3}) G_{K_2\cup K_3\cup\{h\}} \sigma(K_1\cup K_3, K_2\cup K_3\cup\{h\}) \\ &+ \sum_{h\notin K_3}^* F_{K_1\cup K_3} (\partial_{\beta_h} G_{K_2\cup K_3\cup\{h\}}) \sigma(K_1\cup K_3, K_2\cup K_3\cup\{h\}). \end{aligned}$$

It follows that, if the following chain of equalities

$$\sigma(K_1 \cup K_3 \cup \{h\}, K_2 \cup K_3 \cup \{h\}) = -\sigma(K_1 \cup K_3, K_2 \cup K_3 \cup \{h\})$$

= $-\sigma(K_1 \cup K_3 \cup \{h\}, K_2 \cup K_3)$
= $-\sigma(K_1 \cup K_3, K_2 \cup K_3)$ (76)

holds for all $(K_1, K_2, K_3) \in \mathscr{D}(K)$ with $h \notin K_1 \cup K_2 \cup K_3$, then $\partial_{\alpha_h}(FG)_K = \partial_{\beta_h}(FG)_{K \cup \{h\}}$. Similar computations ensures that, if equalities (76) hold, then $\partial_{\beta_h}(FG)_K = -\partial_{\alpha_h}(FG)_{K \cup \{h\}}$ as well; consequently, by implication (ii) \Rightarrow (i) in Proposition 3.13, $f \cdot_{\sigma} g$ is slice regular. Note that if $\sigma = \sigma_{\alpha_h}^n$, then equalities (76) are trivially verified; indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} \sigma_{\otimes}^{n}(K_{1} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}, K_{2} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}) &= (-1)^{|K_{3} \cup \{h\}|} = -(-1)^{|K_{3}|}, \\ \sigma_{\otimes}^{n}(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}) &= \sigma_{\otimes}^{n}(K_{1} \cup K_{3} \cup \{h\}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) \\ &= \sigma_{\otimes}^{n}(K_{1} \cup K_{3}, K_{2} \cup K_{3}) = (-1)^{|K_{3}|}. \end{aligned}$$

This gives another proof of the fact that $f \odot g$ is slice regular.

Suppose $b = \mathcal{B}(\sigma)$ is a hypercomplex \triangle -product of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} such that $f \cdot_{\sigma} g \in \mathcal{SR}(\Omega_D, A)$ for all $f, g \in \mathcal{SR}(\Omega_D, A)$. Let $K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. We have to prove that $\sigma(K, H) = (-1)^{|K \cap H|}$.

First, we show that $\sigma(K, H) = \sigma(K \cap H, K \cap H)$. Suppose that $K \setminus H \neq \emptyset$, and choose $h \in K \setminus H$. Denote x_K and x_H the monomial functions from Ω_D to A defined as $x_K := [(x_k)_{k \in K}]$ and $x_H := [(x_h)_{h \in H}]$. Note that, if $\mathcal{K} = \sum_{L \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_L \mathcal{K}_L$ and $\mathcal{H} = \sum_{M \in \mathcal{P}(n)} e_M \mathcal{H}_M$ denote the stem functions such that $x_K = \mathcal{I}(\mathcal{K})$ and $x_H = \mathcal{I}(\mathcal{H})$, then $\mathcal{K}_L(z) = \alpha_{K \setminus L} \beta_L$ if $L \subset K$, $\mathcal{K}_L(z) = 0$ if $L \not\subset K$, $\mathcal{H}_M(z) = \alpha_{H \setminus M} \beta_M$ if $M \subset H$ and $\mathcal{H}_M(z) = 0$ if $M \not\subset H$, where $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n) \in D$, $\alpha_P := \prod_{p \in P} \alpha_p$ and $\beta_P := \prod_{p \in P} \beta_p$ for all $P \in \mathcal{P}(n) \setminus \{\emptyset\}$, and $\alpha_{\emptyset} = \beta_{\emptyset} := 1$. Moreover, by (74) and (75), if we set

$$\sum^{\bullet} := \sum_{(K_1, K_2, K_3) \in \mathscr{D}((K \setminus \{h\}) \triangle H), h \notin K_3},$$

$$\sum' := \sum_{K_3 \in \mathcal{P}(n), K_3 \subset K \cap H},$$

$$\sigma^{(1)}(K_3) := \sigma\big(((K \setminus H) \setminus \{h\}) \cup K_3, (H \setminus K) \cup K_3\big),$$

$$\sigma^{(2)}(K_3) := \sigma\big((K \setminus H) \cup K_3, (H \setminus K) \cup K_3\big),$$

then it holds

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\alpha_h} (\mathcal{KH})_{(K \setminus \{h\}) \triangle H}(z) \\ &= \sum^{\bullet} (\partial_{\beta_h} \mathcal{K}_{K_1 \cup K_3 \cup \{h\}}) \mathcal{H}_{K_2 \cup K_3} \sigma(K_1 \cup K_3, K_2 \cup K_3) \\ &= \sum' (\alpha_{(K \cap H) \setminus K_3} \beta_{((K \setminus H) \setminus \{h\}) \cup K_3}) \alpha_{(K \cap H) \setminus K_3} \beta_{(H \setminus K) \cup K_3} \sigma^{(1)}(K_3) \\ &= \beta_{(K \triangle H) \setminus \{h\}} \sum' (\alpha_{(K \cap H) \setminus K_3})^2 (\beta_{K_3})^2 \sigma^{(1)}(K_3) \end{aligned}$$

and, similarly,

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_{\beta_h}(\mathcal{KH})_{K \bigtriangleup H}(z) &= \sum^{\bullet} (\partial_{\beta_h} \mathcal{K}_{K_1 \cup K_3 \cup \{h\}}) \mathcal{H}_{K_2 \cup K_3} \sigma(K_1 \cup K_3 \cup \{h\}, K_2 \cup K_3) \\ &= \beta_{(K \bigtriangleup H) \setminus \{h\}} \sum' (\alpha_{(K \cap H) \setminus K_3})^2 (\beta_{K_3})^2 \sigma^{(2)}(K_3). \end{aligned}$$

By hypothesis, the polynomial functions $\partial_{\alpha_h}(\mathcal{KH})_{(K \setminus \{h\}) \triangle H}$ and $\partial_{\beta_h}(\mathcal{KH})_{K \triangle H}$ in the variable $z = (\alpha_1 + i\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + i\beta_n)$ are equal on the non-empty open subset D of \mathbb{C}^n . Consequently, the coefficients $\sigma^{(1)}(K_3)$ and $\sigma^{(2)}(K_3)$ are equal for all $K_3 \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ with $K_3 \subset K \cap H$. In particular, the case $K_3 = K \cap H$ implies that $\sigma(K \setminus \{h\}, H) = \sigma(K, H)$ for all $h \in K \setminus H$. Since by hypothesis $\partial_{\beta_h}(\mathcal{KH})_{(K \setminus \{h\}) \triangle H}$ is equal to $-\partial_{\alpha_h}(\mathcal{KH})_{K \triangle H}$ as well, similar computations show that $\sigma(K, H \setminus \{h\}) = \sigma(K, H)$ for all $h \in H \setminus K$. This proves that

$$\sigma(K, H) = \sigma(K \cap H, K \cap H) \text{ for all } K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n), \tag{77}$$

as desired. In particular, b turns out to be commutative. Since it is also associative and hypercomplex by hypothesis, Lemma 2.42 implies that $b = b_{\otimes}^{n}$.

We conclude this section with a result regarding slice regularity of pointwise products. For each $\ell \in \{1, ..., n\}$, we denote $\pi_{\ell} : A^n \to A$ the natural projection $\pi_{\ell}(x_1, ..., x_n) := x_{\ell}$.

Lemma 3.28 Let $\ell \in \{1, ..., n\}$, let E_{ℓ} be an open subset of \mathbb{C} invariant under the complex conjugation of \mathbb{C} and such that $\pi_{\ell}(\Omega_D) \subset E_{\ell}$, and let $f : \Omega_{E_{\ell}} \to A$ be a slice preserving slice regular function (in one variable), that is $f \in SR_{\mathbb{R}}(\Omega_{E_{\ell}}, A)$. Let $H \in \mathcal{P}(n)$ be such that $\ell \leq h$ for all $h \in H$, and let $g : \Omega_D \to A$ be a H-reduced slice regular function (in n variables). Define the function $p : \Omega_D \to A$ by

$$p(x) := f(x_\ell)g(x)$$

for all $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \Omega_D$, where $f(x_\ell)g(x)$ is the product of $f(x_\ell)$ and g(x) in A. Then p belongs to $SR(\Omega_D, A)$.

Proof Let $f_* : \Omega_D \to A$ be the function $f_*(x_1, \ldots, x_n) := f(x_h)$. Note that f_* is a ℓ -reduced slice regular function. By Proposition 2.52, we have that $p = f_* \odot g$. By (73), p is slice regular.

3.7 Splitting decomposition of slice regular functions

By Assumption 2.1, the set S_A is non-empty. Thanks to Artin's theorem, the left multiplication by an element of S_A induces a complex structure on A, so the real dimension of A is even and positive, say dim_{\mathbb{R}}(A) = 2u + 2 for some $u \in \mathbb{N}$. More precisely, if $J \in S_A$, then the algebraic sum of A together with the complex scalar multiplication $\mathbb{C}_J \times A \to A$, sending (c, a) into the product *ca* in A, defines a structure of \mathbb{C}_J -vector space. If $\{J_1, \ldots, J_u\}$ is a \mathbb{C}_J -vector basis of A, then $\{1, J, J_1, JJ_1, \ldots, J_u, JJ_u\}$ is a real vector basis of A, see [12, Lemma 2.3]. A real vector basis of A of this form is called *splitting basis* of A associated with J.

In the next result we use Definition 2.44.

Proposition 3.29 Let $f \in S^1(\Omega_D, A)$, let $J \in S_A$ and let $\{1, J, J_1, JJ_1, \ldots, J_u, JJ_u\}$ be a splitting basis of A associated with J. Denote $\{f_{k,\ell} : \Omega_D(J) \to \mathbb{R}\}_{k \in \{1,2\}, \ell \in \{1,\ldots,u\}}$ the unique real-valued functions on $\Omega_D(J)$ such that $f_J = \sum_{\ell=0}^u (f_{1,\ell}J_\ell + f_{2,\ell}JJ_\ell)$, where $J_0 := 1$. Define the \mathbb{C}_J -valued functions $\{f_\ell : \Omega_D(J) \to \mathbb{C}_J\}_{\ell=0}^u$ by setting $f_\ell := f_{1,\ell} + f_{2,\ell}J$, in such a way that $f_J = \sum_{\ell=0}^u f_\ell J_\ell$. The following assertions are equivalent:

- (i) f is slice regular.
- (ii) *For each* $\ell \in \{0, 1, ..., u\}$ *, we have*

$$\frac{\partial f_{1,\ell}}{\partial \alpha_{\ell}} = \frac{\partial f_{2,\ell}}{\partial \beta_{\ell}} \quad and \quad \frac{\partial f_{1,\ell}}{\partial \beta_{\ell}} = -\frac{\partial f_{2,\ell}}{\partial \alpha_{\ell}} \quad on \ \Omega_D(J),$$

where $(\alpha_1 + J\beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + J\beta_n)$ are the coordinates of $(\mathbb{C}_J)^n$. (iii) For each $\ell \in \{0, 1, ..., u\}$, the function $f_\ell : \Omega_D(J) \to \mathbb{C}_J$ is holomorphic, where $\Omega_D(J)$ and \mathbb{C}_J are equipped with the natural complex structures associated with (left) multiplication by J.

Proof Equivalence (ii) \Leftrightarrow (iii) is evident. Let $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. Bearing in mind Artin's theorem, we have

$$\partial_{\alpha_h} f_J + J \partial_{\beta_h} f_J = \sum_{\ell=0}^u (\partial_{\alpha_h} f_\ell + J \partial_{\beta_h} f_\ell) J_\ell.$$

Thanks to equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii) in Proposition 3.13, we deduce that f is slice regular if and only if $\partial_{\alpha_h} f_{\ell} + J \partial_{\beta_h} f_{\ell} = 0$ on Ω_D for all $\ell \in \{0, 1, ..., u\}$ and $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$. The latter assertion is in turn equivalent to say that each f_{ℓ} is holomorphic. This proves equivalence (i) \Leftrightarrow (iii) and completes the proof.

As a consequence, we deduce:

Corollary 3.30 Every slice regular function is real analytic, i.e. $SR(\Omega_D, A) \subset \mathscr{C}^{\omega}(\Omega_D, A)$.

Proof By Proposition 3.29, if $f = \mathcal{I}(F) \in S\mathcal{R}(\Omega_D, A)$ and $J \in S_A$, then $f_J \in \mathcal{C}^{\omega}(\Omega_D(J), A)$. By formula (8), it follows that $F \in \text{Stem}^{\omega}(D, A \otimes \mathbb{R}^{2^n})$ or, equivalently, $f \in S^{\omega}(\Omega_D, A)$. Now Theorem 2.26(ii) ensures that $f \in \mathcal{C}^{\omega}(\Omega_D, A)$.

3.8 Convergent power series, slice tensor and star products

In the theory of slice functions in one variable, the slice product $f \cdot g$ between slice functions $f = \mathcal{I}(F)$ and $g = \mathcal{I}(G)$ is induced by the usual product between complex numbers on $\mathbb{R}^2 = \mathbb{C}$. Indeed, the latter product determines a real algebra structure on $A \otimes \mathbb{R}^2$, which coincides with the tensor product $A \otimes \mathbb{C}$. Then such a tensor product is used to compute the pointwise product FG and, finally, one defines $f \cdot g := \mathcal{I}(FG)$. One of the main features of the slice product $f \cdot g$ is revealed by its algebraic nature: if f and g are polynomials or, more generally, convergent power series in one variable, then $f \cdot g$ coincides with the standard abstract product f * g, sometimes called star product of f and g in the noncommutative setting, see [9, §5].

The real algebra $A \otimes \mathbb{C}^{\otimes n}$ defines the slice tensor product ' \odot ' on slice functions in *n* variables, see Definition 2.36. In this way, it is natural to ask whether such a product coincides with the star product on polynomials and on convergent power series in *n*-variables as well.

The aim of this section is to answer affirmatively to this question.

Let us review the concept of convergent power series with coefficients in A. A formal power series s in n indeterminates $X = (X_1, ..., X_n)$ with coefficients in A is a sequence

 $\{a_\ell\}_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}^n}$ of elements of *A*. We formally write: $s(X) = \sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}^n} X^\ell a_\ell$ and $X^\ell = X_1^{\ell_1} \cdots X_n^{\ell_n}$ if $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n)$. If the set $\{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n : a_\ell \neq 0\}$ is finite, then *s* is called a (formal) polynomial. Denote $A[[X]] = A[[X_1, \ldots, X_n]]$ the set of all such formal power series. We can add and multiply formal power series in a standard way: if $t(X) = \sum_{\ell\in\mathbb{N}^n} X^\ell b_\ell \in A[[X]]$, then s + t and s * t are the elements of A[[X]] defined by

$$(s+t)(X) := \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^{\ell} (a_{\ell} + b_{\ell}),$$

$$(s+t)(X) := \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^{\ell} \Big(\sum_{p,q \in \mathbb{N}^n, \ p+q=\ell} a_p b_q \Big).$$

Given $r \in \mathbb{R}$, we can also define the real scalar multiplication sr by $(sr)(X) := \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^{\ell}(a_{\ell}r)$. These operations make A[[X]] a real algebra.

Assumption 3.31 In what follows, we assume that $\|\cdot\| : A \to \mathbb{R}$ is a norm of A such that

$$||x|| = \sqrt{n(x)} \text{ for all } x \in Q_A, \tag{78}$$

equivalently, $\|\alpha + J\beta\| = \sqrt{\alpha^2 + \beta^2}$ for all $\alpha, \beta \in \mathbb{R}$ and $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$.

Examples of real alternative *-algebra A with a norm having property (78) are as follows: \mathbb{H} and \mathbb{O} with the usual conjugation $x^c := \overline{x}$ and the usual Euclidean norm; the real Clifford algebra \mathbb{R}_n with signature (0, *n*), with the Clifford conjugation [17, Definition 3.7], and the usual Euclidean norm of \mathbb{R}^{2^n} or the Clifford operator norm, as defined in [16, (7.20)].

Assumption 3.31 implies that

$$\mathbb{S}_A$$
 is compact in A . (79)

Indeed, $\mathbb{S}_A = \{I \in A : t(I) = 0, n(I) = 1\}$ is closed in A and it is contained in the compact subset $S := \{a \in A : ||a|| = 1\}$ of A.

We say that $s(X) = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^{\ell} a_{\ell} \in A[[X]]$ is a *convergent power series* if there exists a real number M > 0 such that

$$||a_{\ell}|| \le M^{|\ell|} \text{ for all } \ell = (\ell_1, \dots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n \text{ with } |\ell| = \sum_{h=1}^n \ell_h.$$

$$(80)$$

Note that such a concept does not depend on the chosen norm of *A*. Indeed, *A* has finite real dimension so all the norms of *A* are equivalent. Define the real number $B := \max_{x,y \in S} ||xy||$. Note that B > 0; indeed, $B \ge ||(1||1||^{-1}) \cdot (1||1||^{-1})|| = ||1||^{-1} > 0$. By the very definition of *B*, it follows at once that

$$||xy|| \le B||x|| ||y||$$
 for all $x, y \in A$. (81)

Thanks to the latter inequality, it follows immediately that the set of all convergent power series is a real subalgebra of A[[X]].

Suppose now that $s(X) = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^{\ell} a_{\ell}$ satisfies (80). Let $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ with $0 < B\rho M =: \gamma < 1$ and let $\mathbb{B}_{\rho} := \bigcap_{h=1}^{n} \{(x_1, \dots, x_n) \in A^n : ||x_h|| < \rho\}$. Note that, if $x \in \mathbb{B}_{\rho}$ and $x^{\ell} a_{\ell} \in A$ is defined as in Definition 2.7, then $||x^{\ell}a_{\ell}|| \le B^{|\ell|}\rho^{|\ell|}||a_{\ell}|| \le \gamma^{|\ell|}$; consequently, the series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} ||x^{\ell}a_{\ell}|| = \sum_{h \in \mathbb{N}} (\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n, |\ell| = h} ||x^{\ell}a_{\ell}||)$ is dominated by the positive real term series $\sum_{h \in \mathbb{N}^n} (h + 1)^n \gamma^h$, which converges in \mathbb{R} . This proves that, for each $x \in \mathbb{B}_{\rho}$, the series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^{\ell}a_{\ell}$ converges in A to a point s(x). We abuse notation denoting $s : \mathbb{B}_{\rho} \to A$ the function from \mathbb{B}_{ρ} to A, sending x into s(x). We say that such a function s is a *sum* of the convergent power series s(X). Note that the series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^{\ell}a_{\ell}$ converges to $s : \mathbb{B}_{\rho} \to A$ uniformly on \mathbb{B}_{ρ} . **Proposition 3.32** Let $s : \mathbb{B}_{\rho} \to A$ be a sum of a convergent power series s(X). Then s is a slice regular function and there exists a unique sequence $\{a_{\ell}\}_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n}$ in A such that $s(x) = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^{\ell} a_{\ell}$. In particular, this is true if s is a polynomial function.

Proof Corollary 2.17 ensures that *s* is a slice function. By Proposition 3.14, the monomial function $M_{\ell} : \mathbb{B}_{\rho} \to A$, sending *x* into $x^{\ell}a_{\ell}$, is slice regular for each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n$. Choose $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$. By Proposition 3.13, we know that $\partial_{\alpha_h} M_{\ell,J} + J \partial_{\beta_h} M_{\ell,J} = 0$ on $\mathbb{B} := \mathbb{B}_{\rho} \cap (\mathbb{C}_J)^n$, where $M_{\ell,J}$ is the restriction of M_{ℓ} to \mathbb{B} . Since the series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} M_{\ell,J}$ converges to s_J uniformly on \mathbb{B} and both the series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} \partial_{\alpha_h} M_{\ell,J}$ and $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} \partial_{\beta_h} M_{\ell,J}$ converge uniformly on \mathbb{B} as well, for all $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, we can differentiate s_J term by term obtaining:

$$\partial_{\alpha_h} s_J + J \partial_{\beta_h} s_J = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} (\partial_{\alpha_h} M_{\ell,J} + J \partial_{\beta_h} M_{\ell,J}) = 0$$

on B. Using Proposition 3.13 again, we deduce that *s* is slice regular. Finally, note that $a_{\ell} = (\ell!)^{-1} D_{\ell} s(0)$, where D_{ℓ} denotes the partial derivative $\partial^{|\ell|} / \partial \alpha_1^{\ell_1} \cdots \partial \alpha_n^{\ell_n}$.

Remark 3.33 In the polynomial case, the uniqueness assertion in the statement of the preceding result can be improved. Let $s: \Omega_D \to A$ be a polynomial function. If D is open in \mathbb{C}^n , then there exists a unique sequence $\{a_\ell\}_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n}$ in A such that the set $L := \{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n : a_\ell \neq 0\}$ is finite and $s(x) = \sum_{\ell \in L} x^{\ell} a_{\ell}$ on Ω_D . As s is a polynomial, $s(x) = \sum_{\ell \in L} x^{\ell} a_{\ell}$ for some finite non-empty subset L of \mathbb{N}^n and for some a_ℓ in A. Assume s = 0 on Ω_D . We have to show that each a_{ℓ} is equal to zero. By Assumption 2.1, we know that D and \mathbb{S}_A are non-empty. Let $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$. Let $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_n) \in \Omega_D(J)$, let $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $m = (m_1, \ldots, m_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$. Bearing in mind Artin's theorem and the fact that the components z_h of z commute each other, we have that $z^{\ell}a_{\ell} = [(z_h^{\ell_h})_{h=1}^n, a_{\ell}] = (z^{\ell})a_{\ell}$ and the complex derivative $D_m s_J : \Omega_D(J) \to A \text{ of } s_J \text{ is well-defined and it is equal to } \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} \frac{\ell!}{(\ell-m)!} (z^{\ell-m}) a_\ell$ where $D_m s_J := \partial^{|m|} s_J / \partial z_1^{m_1} \cdots \partial z_n^{m_n}$. Since $s_J = 0$ on $\Omega_D(J)$, the same is true for each complex derivative $D_m s_J$, i.e. $D_m s_J = 0$ on $\Omega_D(J)$. We prove by induction on the cardinality of L that $a_{\ell} = 0$ for all $\ell \in L$. If L is the singleton $\{\ell\}$, then $a_{\ell} = D_{\ell}s_J = 0$. Suppose L contains at least two elements. Choose $m \in L$ such that $|m| \ge |\ell|$ for all $\ell \in L$. Since $\frac{D_m s_J}{m!} = a_m$, we have that $a_m = 0$ and $s_J(z) = \sum_{\ell \in L \setminus \{m\}} (z^\ell) a_\ell$. The cardinality of $L \setminus \{m\}$ is l-1 so by induction all $a_{\ell} = 0$.

Definition 3.34 Let $s : \mathbb{B}_{\rho_1} \to A$ and $t : \mathbb{B}_{\rho_2} \to A$ be sums of convergent power series s(X) and t(X), respectively. Let $\{a_p\}_{p \in \mathbb{N}^n}$ and $\{b_q\}_{q \in \mathbb{N}^n}$ be the unique sequences in A such that $s(X) = \sum_{p \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^p a_p$ and $t(X) = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^q b_q$, see Proposition 3.32. Given a sum $s * t : \mathbb{B}_{\rho_3} \to A$ of the convergent power series (s * t)(X), we say that s * t is a *star product* of s and t.

Suppose that *D* is open in \mathbb{C}^n , and $s, t : \Omega_D \to A$ are polynomial functions. Let $\{a_p\}_{p \in \mathbb{N}^n}$ and $\{b_q\}_{q \in \mathbb{N}^n}$ be the unique sequences in *A* such that $s(X) = \sum_{p \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^p a_p$ and $t(X) = \sum_{q \in \mathbb{N}^n} X^q b_q$, see Remark 3.33. The *star product* $s * t : \Omega_D \to A$ of *s* and *t* is defined as for s(X) and t(X), that is $(s * t)(x) := \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^\ell (\sum_{p,q \in \mathbb{N}^n, p+q=\ell} a_p b_q)$.

Proposition 3.35 The following hold.

(i) Let $s, t : \mathbb{B}_{\rho} \to A$ be sums of convergent power series and let $s * t : \mathbb{B}_{\rho'} \to A$ be a star product of s and t with $0 < \rho' \le \rho$. Then $s \odot t = s * t$ on $\mathbb{B}_{\rho'}$.

(ii) Let $s, t : \Omega_D \to A$ be polynomial functions. Suppose D is open in \mathbb{C}^n . Then $s \odot t = s * t$ on Ω_D . In particular, given any $\ell, m \in \mathbb{N}^n$ and $a, b \in A$, we have:

$$(x^{\ell}a) \odot (x^{m}b) = (x^{\ell}a) * (x^{m}b) = x^{\ell+m}(ab) \text{ on } \Omega_{D}.$$
 (82)

Proof Let us start proving (ii). Equip $S(\Omega_D, A)$ with the slice tensor product ' \odot '. Write ' \cdot ' in place ' \odot ' for short. Let $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n)$ and $m = (m_1, \ldots, m_n)$. Since the slice tensor product is hypercomplex, we can apply Lemma 2.43. As a consequence, in order to complete the proof, it suffices to show that $(x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot a) \cdot (x^{\bullet m} \cdot b) = x^{\bullet \ell + m} \cdot (ab)$. Let $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Note that the stem function $F = F_{\emptyset} + e_h F_h$ inducing $x_h^{\bullet \ell_h}$ has real-valued components F_{\emptyset} and F_h . The same is true for $x_h^{\bullet m_h}$. By Lemma 2.49, it follows at once that $x_h^{\bullet \ell_h}$ and $x_h^{\bullet m_h}$ belong to the center of $S(\Omega_D, A)$. Consequently, it holds $x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot x^{\bullet m} = x^{\bullet \ell + m}$ and

$$(x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot a) \cdot (x^{\bullet m} \cdot b) = (x^{\bullet \ell} \cdot x^{\bullet m}) \cdot (ab) = x^{\bullet \ell + m} \cdot (ab).$$

This proves (82) and hence point (ii). Passing (ii) to the limit, we obtain (i).

3.9 Slice regular functions and ordered analyticity

Let $\|\cdot\|: A \to \mathbb{R}$ be a norm of A satisfying Assumption 3.31, let $\rho \in \mathbb{R}$ with $\rho > 0$ and let $\mathbb{B}_{\rho} := \bigcap_{h=1}^{n} \{(x_1, \dots, x_n) \in A^n : ||x_h|| < \rho\}$, as in Sect. 3.8.

Theorem 3.36 A function $f : \mathbb{B}_{\rho} \to A$ is slice regular if and only if f is a sum of a convergent power series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^{p}} X^{\ell} a_{\ell}$ with coefficients in A. Moreover, if f is slice regular, then

$$a_{\ell} = (\ell!)^{-1} \partial_{\ell} f(0)$$

for all $\ell = (\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_n) \in \mathbb{N}^n$, where ∂_{ℓ} is the derivative $\partial^{|\ell|} / \partial x_1^{\ell_1} \cdots \partial x_n^{\ell_n}$ obtained by composing in any order ℓ_1 -times $\partial/\partial x_1$, ℓ_2 -times $\partial/\partial x_2$, ..., ℓ_n -times $\partial/\partial x_n$.

Proof By Proposition 3.32, if $f(x) = \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^{\ell} a_{\ell}$ on \mathbb{B}_{ρ} , then f is slice regular. Suppose that f is slice regular. Let $J \in S_A$, let $\{1, J, J_1, JJ_1, \ldots, J_u, JJ_u\}$ be a splitting basis of A associated with J and let $\{f_h : \mathbb{B}_{\rho}(J) \to \mathbb{C}_J\}_{h=1}^u$ be the family of \mathbb{C}_J -complex functions such that $f_J = \sum_{h=0}^{u} f_h J_h$, where $J_0 := 1$. By Proposition 3.29, we know that each f_h is holomorphic. As a consequence, each f_h is the sum of a (unique) series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^{\ell} a_{\ell,h}$ with coefficients in \mathbb{C}_J , converging totally on compact subsets of $\mathbb{B}_{\rho}(J)$ in the sense that $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} \max_{x \in C} \|x^\ell a_{\ell,h}\| < +\infty$ for all compact subsets C of $\mathbb{B}_{\rho}(J)$. Set $a_\ell :=$ $\sum_{h=0}^{u} a_{\ell,h} \overline{f_h}$. Bearing in mind Artin's theorem, we deduce that f_J is the sum of the series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^\ell a_\ell$, converging totally on compact subsets of $\mathbb{B}_\rho(J)$. In particular, if $M_\ell : \mathbb{B}_\rho \to A$ denotes the monomial function $x^{\ell}a_{\ell}$ for each $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n$, then $Q_C := \sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} \max_{x \in C} \|M_{\ell}(x)\|$ is finite for all compact subsets C of $\mathbb{B}_{\rho}(J)$. Choose arbitrarily a non-empty circular compact subset C^* of \mathbb{B}_{ρ} and let $C := C^* \cap (\mathbb{C}_J)^n \subset \mathbb{B}_{\rho}(J)$. Let $x = (\alpha_1 + J\beta_1, \dots, \alpha_n + J\beta_n) \in C$ and let $y = (\alpha_1 + I_1 \beta_1, ..., \alpha_n + I_n \beta_n) \in C^*$ for some $I = (I_1, ..., I_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$. By (79), we know that \mathbb{S}_A is compact in A so $L := \max\{\|1\|, \max_{a \in \mathbb{S}_A} \|a\|\}$ is a positive real number. Let B be a positive real number with property (81). Let $\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n$. By representation formula (7), we have that $M_{\ell}(y) = 2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [I_K, [J^{-|K|}, M_{\ell}(x^{c, H})]]$. Consequently,

$$\|M_{\ell}(y)\| \leq 2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (BL)^{|K|+1} \|M_{\ell}(x^{c,H})\|$$

$$\leq 2^{-n} (BL)^{n+1} \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \left(\sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \|M_{\ell}(x^{c,H})\| \right)$$

$$\leq (BL)^{n+1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \|M_{\ell}(x^{c,H})\|$$

and hence

Deringer

$$\begin{aligned} \max_{y \in C^*} \|M_{\ell}(y)\| &\leq (BL)^{n+1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \max_{x \in C} \|M_{\ell}(x^{c,H})\| \\ &= (BL)^{n+1} \sum_{H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} \max_{x \in C} \|M_{\ell}(x)\| \\ &= 2^n (BL)^{n+1} \max_{x \in C} \|M_{\ell}(x)\|. \end{aligned}$$

As a consequence, we deduce:

$$\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} \max_{y \in C^*} \|M_{\ell}(y)\| \le 2^n (BL)^{n+1} Q_C < +\infty.$$

This proves that the series $\sum_{\ell \in \mathbb{N}^n} x^\ell a_\ell$ converges to a function $s : \mathbb{B}_\rho \to A$, totally on compact subsets of \mathbb{B}_ρ . Since f and s are slice functions which coincide on $\mathbb{B}_\rho(J)$, f and s coincide on the whole \mathbb{B}_ρ by Corollary 2.13. Finally, differentiating s term by term, we obtain that $\partial_\ell f(0) = \partial_\ell s(0) = \ell! a_\ell$. We are done.

3.10 Cauchy integral formula for slice regular functions

Throughout this section, we suppose Assumption 3.1 is true, i.e. D is open in \mathbb{C}^n . Moreover, we fix $J \in \mathbb{S}_A$.

3.10.1 Some preparations

Recall that $\phi_J : \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}_J$ is the real algebra isomorphism $\phi_J(\alpha + i\beta) := \alpha + J\beta$. Choose bounded open subsets E'_1, \ldots, E'_n of \mathbb{C} invariant under complex conjugation and with \mathscr{C}^1 boundaries $\partial E'_1, \ldots, \partial E'_n$. Let $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$. Define $E_h := \phi_J(E'_h)$ and $\partial E_h := \phi_J(\partial E'_h)$. Note that ∂E_h is the boundary of E_h in \mathbb{C}_J . Moreover, ∂E_h is the disjoint union of a certain finite number, say c_h , of connected components, each homeomorphic to the circumference \mathbb{S}^1 . Choose a \mathscr{C}^1 parametrization $\xi_h : T_h \to \partial E_h$ of ∂E_h . Here T_h is the disjoint union of c_h intervals of the form $\{[a_{h,l}, b_{h,l}]\}_{l=1}^{c_h}$, $\{\xi_h([a_{h,l}, b_{h,l}])\}_{l=1}^{c_h}$ is the family of all connected components of ∂E_h , $\xi_h(a_{h,l}) = \xi_h(b_{h,l})$ for all $l \in \{1, \ldots, c_h\}$, and each restriction of ξ_h to $[a_{h,l}, b_{h,l}]$ is injective.

Consider the open subset E of $(\mathbb{C}_J)^n$ and its distinguished boundary $\partial^* E$ given by

$$E := E_1 \times \cdots \times E_n$$
 and $\partial^* E := (\partial E_1) \times \cdots \times (\partial E_n)$.

Define

$$\Omega(E) := \Omega_{E_1' \times \dots \times E_n'}.$$

Note that $E = \Omega(E) \cap (\mathbb{C}_J)^n$, i.e. $\Omega(E)$ is the smallest circular set containing *E*. Denote $cl(\Omega(E))$ the closure of $\Omega(E)$ in $(Q_A)^n$.

Given $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n) \in (\mathbb{C}_J)^n$ and $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, we define the element v_K^c of A by setting

$$v_K^c := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } K = \emptyset, \\ \prod_{h \in K} (v_h)^c & \text{if } K \neq \emptyset. \end{cases}$$

Let $T := T_1 \times \cdots \times T_n$. We define the maps $\xi : T \to \partial^* E$ and $\dot{\xi} : T \to \mathbb{C}_J$ by

$$\xi(t) := (\xi_1(t_1), \dots, \xi_n(t_n))$$
 and $\dot{\xi}(t) := \dot{\xi}_1(t_1) \cdots \dot{\xi}_n(t_n)$

for all $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in T$, where $\dot{\xi}_h(t_h) \in \mathbb{C}_J$ denotes the derivative of ξ_h at t_h in \mathbb{C}_J , and $\dot{\xi}_1(t_1) \cdots \dot{\xi}_n(t_n)$ the product of the $\dot{\xi}_h(t_h)$'s in \mathbb{C}_J or, equivalently, in A. Given any $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$,

🖉 Springer

we define also the function $\xi_K^c: T \to \mathbb{C}_J$ by $\xi_K^c(t) := (\xi(t))_K^c$, i.e.,

$$\xi_K^c(t) := \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } K = \emptyset, \\ \prod_{h \in K} (\xi_h(t_h))^c & \text{if } K \neq \emptyset, \end{cases}$$

for all $t = (t_1, ..., t_n) \in T$.

We need also two variants of Definition 2.4. Let $C : \{1, ..., n\} \rightarrow A$ be any function and let $a \in A$. We define the elements [C, a] and [C] of A by setting

$$[C,a] := C(1) \big(C(2) \big(C(3) \cdots \big(C(n-1) \big(C(n)a \big) \big) \dots \big) \big)$$

and

$$[C] := [C, 1] = C(1) \big(C(2) \big(C(3) \cdots \big(C(n-1)C(n) \big) \dots \big) \big).$$

In addition, given any map $\mathcal{C} : \{1, ..., n\} \to \mathcal{S}(\Omega(E), A)$, we define the slice functions $[\mathcal{C}, a]$ and \mathcal{C} in $\mathcal{S}(\Omega(E), A)$ by setting

$$[\mathcal{C}, a]_{\odot} := \mathcal{C}(1) \odot \left(\mathcal{C}(2) \odot \left(\mathcal{C}(3) \cdots \odot \left(\mathcal{C}(n-1) \odot \left(\mathcal{C}(n) \odot a \right) \right) \ldots \right) \right)$$

and

$$[\mathcal{C}]_{\odot} := [\mathcal{C}, 1]_{\odot} = \mathcal{C}(1) \odot \left(\mathcal{C}(2) \odot \left(\mathcal{C}(3) \cdots \odot \left(\mathcal{C}(n-1) \odot \mathcal{C}(n) \right) \dots \right) \right);$$

here a (in particular 1) is identified with the function $\Omega(E) \to A$ constantly equal to a.

Recall that, given any $q \in Q_A$, the function $\Delta_q : Q_A \to A$ is the characteristic polynomial of q, i.e. $\Delta_q(p) := p^2 - 2\text{Re}(q)p + n(q)$. Denote Γ_n the non-empty open subset of $(Q_A)^n \times (Q_A)^n$ defined by

$$\Gamma_n := \bigcap_{h=1}^n \{ ((x_1, \dots, x_n), (y_1, \dots, y_n)) \in (Q_A)^n \times (Q_A)^n : \Delta_{y_h}(x_h) \neq 0 \}, \quad (83)$$

and $\Gamma_n(J)$ the non-empty open subset of $(Q_A)^n \times (\mathbb{C}_J)^n$ given by

$$\Gamma_n(J) := \Gamma_n \cap ((Q_A)^n \times (\mathbb{C}_J)^n).$$
(84)

3.10.2 The general case

Let $y = (y_1, ..., y_n) \in \partial^* E$. For each $h \in \{1, ..., n\}$, let $\mathcal{C}_{y,h} : \Omega(E) \to A$ be the Cauchy kernel in the variable x_h w.r.t. y_h , i.e. the slice function defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{C}_{y,h}(x) := \Delta_{y_h}(x_h)^{-1}(y_h^c - x_h) \text{ for all } x = (x_1, \dots, x_n) \in \Omega(E),$$
(85)

where $y_h^c := (y_h)^c$ and $\Delta_{y_h}(x_h)^{-1}$ is the inverse of $\Delta_{y_h}(x_h)$ in \mathbb{C}_J or, equivalently, in *A*. We define $\mathbb{C}_y : \{1, \ldots, n\} \to S(\Omega(E), A)$ by

$$\mathcal{C}_{y}(h) := \mathcal{C}_{y,h} \text{ for each } h \in \{1, \dots, n\}.$$
(86)

Definition 3.37 Let *S* be any subset of A^n containing $\partial^* E$ and let $g : S \to A$ be any function. We define the function $C_g : \Omega(E) \times T \to A$ by setting

$$C_g(x,t) := [\mathcal{C}_{\xi(t)}, \dot{\xi}(t) J^{-n} g(\xi(t))]_{\odot}(x).$$
(87)

Deringer

Remark 3.38 For each $t \in T$, the function $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x \mapsto C_g(x, t)$ is slice regular. This follows immediately from Proposition 3.26 and the fact that each function $\mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),h} : \Omega(E) \to A$ and the constant function $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x \mapsto \dot{\xi}(t)J^{-n}g(\xi(t))$ are slice regular. \Box

Our general Cauchy integral formula reads as follows.

Theorem 3.39 Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice regular function. Suppose that $cl(\Omega(E)) \subset \Omega_D$. *Then*

$$f(x) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_T C_f(x, t) dt \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega(E),$$
(88)

where $dt = dt_1 \cdots dt_n$.

Proof Let $\{1, J, J_1, JJ_1, \ldots, J_u, JJ_u\}$ be a splitting basis of A, see above Sect. 3.7. Write $f_J : E \to A$ as follows: $f_J = \sum_{\ell=0}^{u} f_\ell J_\ell$ for some (unique) functions $f_\ell : E \to \mathbb{C}_J$. By Proposition 3.29, we know that each f_ℓ is holomorphic. In this way, given any $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in E$, we can apply the classical Cauchy formula to f_ℓ obtaining

$$f_{\ell}(x) = (2\pi J)^{-n} \int_{\partial^{*}E} \frac{f_{\ell}(y)}{(y_{1} - x_{1}) \cdots (y_{n} - x_{n})} dy_{1} \cdots dy_{n}$$

= $(2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\partial^{*}E} \mathcal{C}_{y,1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{y,n}(x) J^{-n} f_{\ell}(y) dy_{1} \cdots dy_{n}$
= $(2\pi)^{-n} \int_{T} \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),n}(x) J^{-n} f_{\ell}(\xi(t))\dot{\xi}(t) dt$
= $(2\pi)^{-n} \int_{T} \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),n}(x)\dot{\xi}(t) J^{-n} f_{\ell}(\xi(t)) dt.$

Thanks to Artin's theorem, we deduce

$$f_J(x) = \sum_{\ell=0}^{u} \left((2\pi)^{-n} \int_T \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),n}(x) \dot{\xi}(t) J^{-n} f_\ell(\xi(t)) dt \right) J_\ell$$

= $(2\pi)^{-n} \int_T \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),n}(x) \dot{\xi}(t) J^{-n} f(\xi(t)) dt.$

Choose $t \in T$ and define $\psi_t \in S(\Omega(E), A)$ by $\psi_t(x) := C_f(x, t)$. Bearing in mind Lemma 2.47, Proposition 2.48 and Definition 3.37, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} (\psi_t)_J &= \left([\mathbb{C}_{\xi(t)}, \dot{\xi}(t) J^{-n} f(\xi(t))]_{\odot} \right)_J \\ &= \left((\mathbb{C}_{\xi(t),1} \odot \cdots \odot \mathbb{C}_{\xi(t),n}) \odot (\dot{\xi}(t) J^{-n} f(\xi(t))) \right)_J \\ &= (\mathbb{C}_{\xi(t),1})_J \cdots (\mathbb{C}_{\xi(t),n})_J \dot{\xi}(t) J^{-n} f(\xi(t)). \end{aligned}$$

This proves that $C_f(x, t) = \psi_t(x) = \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),n}(x)\dot{\xi}(t)J^{-n}f(\xi(t))$ for all $(x, t) \in E \times T$. As a consequence, we have:

$$f_J(x) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_T C_f(x, t) dt \text{ for all } x \in E.$$

Thanks to Corollary 2.13, in order to complete the proof, it suffices to show that the function $\Omega_E \to A, x \mapsto \int_T \psi_t(x) dt = \int_T C_f(x, t) dt$ is a slice function. Define $J := (J, \ldots, J) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$. Choose $w = (\alpha_1 + J\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + J\beta_n) \in E$ and $x = (\alpha_1 + L_1\beta_1, \ldots, \alpha_n + L_n\beta_n) \in \Omega_D$ for some $L = (L_1, \ldots, L_n) \in (\mathbb{S}_A)^n$. By representation formula (7), we know that

$$\psi_t(x) = 2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [\mathbf{J}_K, [L_K^{-1}, \psi_t(w^{c, H})]]$$

🖄 Springer

for all $t \in T$. Hence, it holds:

$$\begin{split} \int_{T} \psi_{t}(x) \, dt &= \int_{T} \left(2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [\mathbf{J}_{K}, [L_{K}^{-1}, \psi_{t}(w^{c, H})]] \right) dt \\ &= 2^{-n} \sum_{K, H \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{|K \cap H|} [\mathbf{J}_{K}, [L_{K}^{-1}, \int_{T} \psi_{t}(w^{c, H}) \, dt]]. \end{split}$$

Corollary 2.16 implies that the function $\Omega_E \to A$, $x \mapsto \int_T \psi_t(x) dt = \int_T C_f(x, t) dt$ is slice, as desired.

Remark 3.40 As a byproduct of the preceding proof, we have that

$$C_f(x,t) = \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),n}(x)\dot{\xi}(t)J^{-n}f(\xi(t))$$

for all $(x, t) \in E \times T$.

Our next aim is to write C_f in term of pointwise products of A-valued functions.

For each $(x, y) = ((x_1, \ldots, x_n), (y_1, \ldots, y_n)) \in \Gamma_n(J)$ and for each $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$, we denote $\mathcal{C}(x, y, K) : \{1, \ldots, n\} \to A$ the function given by

$$\mathcal{C}(x, y, K)(h) := \begin{cases} (\Delta_{y_h}(x_h))^{-1} & \text{if } h \in K, \\ (\Delta_{y_h}(x_h))^{-1} x_h & \text{if } h \notin K. \end{cases}$$
(89)

Theorem 3.41 Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice regular function. Suppose that $cl(\Omega(E)) \subset \Omega_D$. *Then*

$$C_f(x,t) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{n-|K|} \left[\mathcal{C}(x,\xi(t),K), \xi_K^c(t)\dot{\xi}(t)J^{-n}f(\xi(t)) \right]$$
(90)

for each $(x, t) \in \Omega(E) \times T$.

Proof Let $t = (t_1, \ldots, t_n) \in T$, let $\psi_t : \Omega(E) \to A$ be the function $\psi_t(x) := C_f(x, t)$, let $y = (y_1, \ldots, y_n) := (\xi_1(t_1), \ldots, \xi_n(t_n)) \in \partial^* E$ and let $a := \dot{\xi}(t)J^{-n}f(\xi(t))$. Thanks to Remark 3.40 and Artin's theorem, given any $x \in E$, we have that

$$\psi_{t}(x) = \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),1}(x) \cdots \mathcal{C}_{\xi(t),n}(x)\dot{\xi}(t)J^{-n}f(\xi(t)) = \frac{(y_{1}^{c} - x_{1})\cdots(y_{n}^{c} - x_{n})}{\Delta_{y_{1}}(x_{1})\cdots\Delta_{y_{n}}(x_{n})} a$$

$$= \frac{\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} y_{K}^{c} \prod_{h \in \{1,...,n\} \setminus K} (-x_{h})}{\Delta_{y_{1}}(x_{1})\cdots\Delta_{y_{n}}(x_{n})} a$$

$$= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{n-|K|} (\prod_{h \in K} \Delta_{y_{h}}(x_{h})^{-1})$$

$$\times (\prod_{h \in \{1,...,n\} \setminus K} \Delta_{y_{h}}(x_{h})^{-1}x_{h}) y_{K}^{c} a$$

$$= \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{n-|K|} [\mathcal{C}(x,\xi(t),K), y_{K}^{c}a]. \qquad (92)$$

Since ψ_t is a slice function, in order to complete the proof, it is sufficient to show that the function $\phi_K : \Omega(E) \to A$, sending *x* into $[\mathcal{C}(x, \xi(t), K), y_K^c a]$, is slice for all $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Indeed, if this is true, then the function $\sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{n-|K|} \phi_K$ is slice as well, and by Corollary 2.13 we are done. Let $K \in \mathcal{P}(n)$. Note that, for each $h \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$, the functions $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \mapsto \Delta_{y_h}(x_h^c)$ and $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \mapsto \Delta_{y_h}(x_h^c)$ and $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \mapsto \Delta_{y_h}(x_h^c)$ and $\Omega(E) \to A$, and the iterated slice tensor product of n + 1 slice functions, which is a slice function as well.

The proof is complete.

Remark 3.42 Repeating the chain of equalities (91) with a = 1, we deduce that

$$\mathcal{C}_{y,1}(x)\cdots\mathcal{C}_{y,n}(x) = \sum_{K\in\mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{n-|K|} [\mathcal{C}(x, y, K), y_K^c]$$
for all $(x, y) \in E \times \partial^* E.$

3.10.3 The associative case

Recall the definition of \mathcal{C}_y for each $y \in \partial^* E$, given in (86).

Definition 3.43 We define the *slice Cauchy kernel for E* as the function $C : \Omega(E) \times \partial^* E \to A$ given by

$$C(x, y) := [\mathcal{C}_y]_{\odot}(x). \tag{93}$$

Remark 3.44 For each $y \in \partial^* E$, the function $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x \mapsto C(x, y)$ is slice regular, see Remark 3.38.

Given two continuous functions $p, q : \partial^* E \to A$, if A is associative, then we define

$$\int_{\partial^* E} p(y) dy q(y) := \int_T p(\xi(t)) \dot{\xi}(t) q(\xi(t)) dt$$

In the associative setting our Cauchy integral formula assumes a quite familiar form.

Theorem 3.45 Let $f : \Omega_D \to A$ be a slice regular function. Suppose that $cl(\Omega(E)) \subset \Omega_D$. If A is associative then

$$f(x) = (2\pi)^{-n} \int_{\partial^* E} C(x, y) J^{-n} dy f(y) \quad \text{for all } x \in \Omega(E),$$
(94)

and the slice Cauchy kernel C can be expressed in terms of pointwise products as follows:

$$C(x, y) = \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{n-|K|} [\mathcal{C}(x, y, K), y_K^c]$$
(95)

for all $(x, y) \in \Omega(E) \times \partial^* E$.

Proof Thanks to Remark 3.42, for all $y \in \partial^* E$, the slice functions $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x \mapsto C(x, y)$ and $\Omega(E) \to A$, $x \mapsto \sum_{K \in \mathcal{P}(n)} (-1)^{n-|K|} [\mathcal{C}(x, y, K), y_K^c]$ are equal on E. By Corollary 2.13, they coincide on the whole $\Omega(E)$. This proves (95). Since A is associative, (90) and (95) imply that $C_f(x, t) = C(x, \xi(t))\dot{\xi}(t)J^{-n}f(\xi(t))$ for all $(x, t) \in \Omega(E) \times T$. Consequently, the right hand sides of formulas (88) and (94) coincide.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by GNSAGA of INdAM, and by the grants "Progetto di Ricerca INdAM, Teoria delle funzioni ipercomplesse e applicazioni", and PRIN "Real and Complex Manifolds: Topology, Geometry and holomorphic dynamics" of the Italian Ministry of Research.

Funding Open access funding provided by Università degli Studi di Trento within the CRUI-CARE Agreement.

Declarations

Financial or non-financial The authors have no financial or non-financial interests that are directly or indirectly related to the work submitted for publication.

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

References

- 1. Colombo, F., Sabadini, I., Struppa, D.: Algebraic properties of the module of slice regular functions in several quaternionic variables. Indiana Univ. Math. J. **61**, 1581–1602 (2012)
- Colombo, F., Sabadini, I., Struppa, D.C.: Slice monogenic functions. Israel J. Math. 171, 385–403 (2009)
 Ebbinghaus, H.-D., Hermes, H., Hirzebruch, F., Koecher, M., Mainzer, K., Neukirch, J., Prestel, A.,
- Remmert, R.: Numbers. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, vol. 123. Springer-Verlag, New York (1990) 4. Gentili, G., Stoppato, C., Struppa, D.C.: Regular functions of a quaternionic variable. Springer Mono-
- Gentin, G., Stoppato, C., Struppa, D.C.: Regular functions of a quaternionic variable. Springer Monographs in Mathematics, Springer, Heidelberg (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33871-7
- Gentili, G., Struppa, D.C.: A new approach to Cullen-regular functions of a quaternionic variable. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 342(10), 741–744 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crma.2006.03.015
- Gentili, G., Struppa, D.C.: A new theory of regular functions of a quaternionic variable. Adv. Math. 216(1), 279–301 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2007.05.010
- Gentili, G., Struppa, D.C.: Regular functions on the space of Cayley numbers. Rocky Mountain J. Math. 40(1), 225–241 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1216/RMJ-2010-40-1-225
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A.: A new approach to slice regularity on real algebras. In *Hypercomplex analysis and applications*, Trends Math., pp. 109–123. Birkhäuser/Springer Basel AG, Basel, (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0346-0246-4_8
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A.: Slice regular functions on real alternative algebras. Adv. Math. 226(2), 1662–1691 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2010.08.015
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A.: Slice regular functions of several Clifford variables. In: AIP Conf. Proc., volume 1493, pp. 734–738. AIP, 2012. 9th International Conference on Mathematical Problems in Engineering, Aerospace and Sciences: ICNPAA 2012, Vienna, Austria, 10–14 July 2012. https://doi.org/10.1063/1. 4765569
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A.: Slice regularity in several variables. In: Progress in analysis. Proceedings of the 8th congress of the International Society for Analysis, its Applications, and Computation (ISAAC), Moscow, Russia, August 22–27, 2011. Volume 1, pp. 179–186. Moscow: Peoples' Friendship University of Russia, (2012)
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A.: Power and spherical series over real alternative *-algebras. Indiana Univ. Math. J. 63(2), 495–532 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1512/iumj.2014.63.5227
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A., Stoppato, C.: The algebra of slice functions. Trans. Amer. Math. Soc. 369(7), 4725–4762 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1090/tran/6816
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A., Stoppato, C.: Singularities of slice regular functions over real alternative *algebras. Adv. Math. 305, 1085–1130 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aim.2016.10.009
- Ghiloni, R., Perotti, A., Stoppato, C.: Division algebras of slice functions. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh: Section A Mathematics 150(4), 2055–2082 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1017/prm. 2019.13
- Gilbert, J.E., Murray, M.A.M.: Clifford algebras and Dirac operators in harmonic analysis, volume 26 of Cambridge Studies in Advanced Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, (1991). https:// doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511611582
- 17. Gürlebeck, K., Habetha, K., Sprößig, W.: Holomorphic functions in the plane and *n*-dimensional space. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel (2008)
- Jou, Y.-L.: The fundamental theorem of algebra for Cayley numbers. Acad. Sinica Science Record 3, 29–33 (1950)
- Lounesto, P.: Clifford algebras and spinors, volume 286 of London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, second edition, (2001). https://doi.org/10.1017/ CBO9780511526022
- 20. Niven, I.: Equations in quaternions. Amer. Math. Monthly 48, 654-661 (1941)

- Ren, G., Yang, T.: Slice regular functions of several octonionic variables. Mathematical Methods in the Applied Sciences (2020). https://doi.org/10.1002/mma.6344
- 22. Serôdio, R.: On octonionic polynomials. Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr. 17(2), 245–258 (2007)
- Struppa, D.C.: Slice Hyperholomorphic Functions with Values in Some Real Algebras, pages 1631–1650. Springer Basel, Basel, (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-0348-0667-1_19
- 24. Whitney, H.: Differentiable even functions. Duke Math. J. 10, 159–160 (1943)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.